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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a high investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
Annual Report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this Annual Report.

This Annual Report, for which the directors (the “Directors”,
and each a “Director”) of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this Annual Report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this Annual Report
misleading.

This Annual Report will remain on the “Latest Company
Announcements” page of the GEM website at
http://www.hkgem.com for a minimum period of seven days
from the date of its publication and on the Company’s website
at http.//www.hangtaiyue.com.

BB aX AR AR (5
RZFr]) GEMBI &

GEMZEMN TAHPNEQAFRERME—EBLH
Z2HE WEATELBEMEEIRLETHD
A EESRERR EEREEETHERE
REEQATAZEBERR YEKLBEERAFEZ
EEBTEHEBRERE-

HAEGEM LT ATREEAD/NEAT:
EGEMEB v XHTHEBRAEIREEZF
FARSBRAZHSRBER FAHELREL
GEM BB RS> EanBEZmE -

BERX G RGBT H R 7] R AT K F
HRABHTRE HEERELZTEMLITT
REKAN ] BB W HER T BT AN F 2
BEEC (T B 2 A B T EE L B A REAZ F A
71 51202 AT B AR IE(E & (F

KERZ BRI (GEM 5% LT A))
([GEM L A T HIR - EEIetE B
FREBERERAG ([KAF)2EH
FRAZEE([BE REL—F [EE])
B A BRI AR ABSR S 2 SO AF -
REFEL — TR EBEHEER REEA
AR R ERGFRENESEESEL
RN AR 5 A A
BEMET B SHEFHLR SRR
iR o

K F K G R TR E R D EXE R GEM
Ak htto./www.hkgem.com [ RFT A A A & | —
B R K2 A #u4 htto//wvww. hangtaiyue.com °

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR 01



CONTENT
Ef>x

Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Directors Profile

Directors’ Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary

DAEH
EEHRESE
EEBNWMR DN
EEEN
EZEREE

BRE HERERBRSE
EEERRE
BYZBMKRESE

REEBERAEMEZEKER

mEMBRR R
REEREBR
RERERER
REMBRRME
MBRE

02 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019

page
BIX

37
40
82
113
130

147

148
150
151
154

296



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Hui Chun Sum (Chairman)
Ms. Lam Ching Yee
(appointed as an executive Director and

Chief Executive Officer with effect from 5 June 2019)

Ms. Pauline Lam

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Lee King Fui
Mr. Ho Kin Wai
(appointed with effect from 10 January 2019)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
(resigned with effect from 10 January 2019)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Ms. Pauline Lam

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Ms. Lam Ching Yee
Ms. Pauline Lam

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lam Ching Yee, CPA

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Lee King Fui
Mr. Ho Kin Wai

(appointed with effect from 10 January 2019)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk

(resigned with effect from 10 January 2019)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Lee King Fui
Mr. Ho Kin Wai

(appointed with effect from 10 January 2019)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk

(resigned with effect from 10 January 2019)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Lee King Fui
Mr. Ho Kin Wai

(appointed with effect from 10 January 2019)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk

(resigned with effect from 10 January 2019)

CORPORATE INFORMATION
N R]ER

HITESE

R (FE)

MWEHERZ LT
(RZE—NhF/AHEAH
EREEANITESFRITEAE)

WEE L

BYIFATES
ke

BB

R %
(R=F—NF—A+ABET)
REE S
(BER=Z—NE—A+BERE)

EESR I (E
HES L+

BRiERK
Mg L
ML L

NEIMWE
MEFEZ L CPA

E%ERB g

Bk E (FAPLE)
FHBLE

1 %t
(R=F—NF—A+ABEE)
REE Kok
(BER=F—h&E—A+BEET)

A=

BBk (ZARLRE)

= B 5

R %
(R=F—N&F— A+ AEEE)
REE St
(BER=Z-NE—A+BEE)

%%*ig

BBk (ZARLRE)
BB

18 5
(R=FB—NF—A+AEEE)
REE f
(BER=Z-NE—A+BEEI)

EXMEEZRARLIA[ | —FT—1LFFH

03



CORPORATE INFORMATION
ANCIC e

AUDITOR

PKF Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants (resigned with effect from
27 November 2019)

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limtied

Certified Public Accountants (appointed witth effect from
27 November 2019)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

Unit B, 19/F, Centre Mark Il

305-313 Queen’s Road Central

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Hong Kong Registrars Limited

Room 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of Communications
China CITIC Bank International
China Construction Bank (Asia)
National Australia Bank

WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.hangtaiyue.com

=% 2R
AERBE (BB B EHAERAA

HEBHT (A" F-NE+—A-+tH
AERHE)
KB R DEIHARA T

HEBH A (B-F-NE+—A=++A
BE)

TR ER
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

EmEREkTBEEXME

EA LR
2/ AKEHR305-3135%
KEARLIIEBE

FERMDBFEELE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

BERMNBPERLR DK

BEAELEERLRARAA
BB

EERBHEI183M
EMEPL7E1712-1716F

T RAERRTT
R BRIT

FERAT (ER)
Bl RR IR (TEM)
RN ERRTT

At

www.hangtaiyue.com

04 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby
present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “"Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2019. During the year under review, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$641,261,000 (2018: HK$471,479,000),
representing an increase of 36.0% as compared with that
in last year. The net loss attributable to the shareholders
(the “Shareholders”) of the Company was approximately
HK$127,582,000 (2018: HK$144,945,000).

OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Group continued to adopt
a diversified business development strategy. Under the rapid
development of mobile internet technologies in recent years,
revenue generated by the mobile internet cultural business and
provision of information technology (“IT") services segment of
the Group continued to grow during the year under review.

The revenue generated by the Group from its provision of
hospitality and related services in Australia through its three
venues located in Victoria, namely the Balgownie Estate Vineyard
Resort & Spa Yarra Valley, Bellinzona Resort Cellar Door &
Dining and Cleveland Winery Resort & Events (collectively, the
"Resorts”), declined compared to last year due to the drop in
average occupancy rate of the Resorts. The decline in average
occupancy rate of the Resorts was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the number of domestic visitations to regional
Australia due to the bushfires since October 2019 and the
demand for domestic travel has been adversely affected by the
declining economic growth in Australia.

The Group's assets investment business turned from a profit
into a loss this year and the change was primarily attributable
to the combined effect of (i) the absence of gain on disposal of
subsidiaries which amounted to approximately HK$17,795,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018; (ii) the provision for the
litigations which amounted to approximately HK$32,796,000
(2018: HK$7,176,000) for the year under review; and (iii) the
decrease in the fair value loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") from HK$7,404,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately HK$579,000
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBES

PROSPECTS

The Hong Kong economy weakened substantially in 2019 as
rising trade tensions between the United States of America
("USA") and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and
heightened uncertainty took a toll on exports and investment
while private expenditure and visitor arrivals have declined due to
the social unrest in the second half of 2019. With current global
events such as the trade dispute, the continued normalisation of
monetary policy in advanced economies and the recent volatilities
in the global financial markets, the global economy is facing
challenges as effects of these events are beginning to surface.

In addition, following the recent outbreak of the Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19"), the negative impact on the global
economy is enormous. The operation and financial performance
of the Group’s businesses of mobile internet cultural business
and provision of IT services and provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia during the first quarter of 2020 have
been adversely affected by the COVID-19.

As a result of the COVID-19, there is a significant pressure on
the cashflow of the Group’s business of mobile internet cultural
business and provision of IT services owing to (1) the operation
of some of the customers of this business segment have been
suspended, which led to a decrease in demand for the Group’s
IT services; and (2) the operation efficiency of this business
segment has been adversely affected given that some of the
staff under this business segment had been under quarantine in
their hometown and could not return to office to work or need
to work at home which adversely affects the ability of the Group
to deliver its services to meet with customers’ orders. The Group
is considering different means to raise fund for maintaining the
operations of this business segment.
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In light of the declining economic growth in Australia and the
global outbreak of the COVID-19, the demand for the services
of the Resorts has decreased and is expected to continue to
decrease until the third quarter of 2020. In particular, it is
expected that the performance of Bellinzona Resort Cellar Door
& Dining and Cleveland Winery Resort & Events, which offer
conference facilities and mainly target corporate clients, will be
more adversely affected as a result of the restrictions of meetings
or conferences implemented by the Australian government due
to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. In March 2020,
the Australian government has taken strict measures to combat
the outbreak of the COVID-19 including new social distancing
rules which discourage people from gathering at certain places
and situations such as restaurants, cafes, pubs and clubs and
weddings and close pubs, casinos, restaurants and other venue
from 23 March 2020. In view of the policies of the Australian
government to combat the COVID-19, the operation of the
Resorts has been temporarily suspended with effect from
30 March 2020 until further notice, subject to the development
of the COVID-19 in Australia and the policies of the Australian
government.

Going forward, the Group will closely take note of its
development and its impact on the Group’s businesses. The
Group will proactively take preventive measures to mitigate the
impact of the COVID-19 on its businesses.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all
valuable Shareholders, investors and clients for their support, and
also my thanks to all the staff for their efforts and contributions
to the Group.

Hui Chun Sum
Chairman

23 April 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE 5 am MDA

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the principal activities of
the Group were (i) mobile internet cultural business and provision
of IT services; (ii) provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia; (i) money lending business; and (iv) assets investments
business.

For the year under review, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$641,261,000 (2018: HK$471,479,000),
representing an increase of approximately 36.0%. The net
loss attributable to the Shareholders was approximately
HK$127,582,000 for the year under review (2018:
HK$144,945,000). The decrease in net loss attributable to
the Shareholders as compared to that of last year was mainly
attributable to combined effect of (i) the provision for the
litigations which amounted to approximately HK$32,796,000
(2018: HK$7,176,000) was recognised for the year under review;
(i) the absence of compensation claim which amounted to
approximately HK$52,777,000 for the year ended 31 December
2018 in relation the compensation payable by the Group to
one of its customers; (iii) the absence of gain on disposal of
subsidiaries which amounted to approximately HK$17,795,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018; (iv) the absence of
impairment loss on goodwill which amounted to approximately
HK$19,877,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 in
relation to the Group’s provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia segment; (v) the impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$23,616,000
(2018: Nil) in relation to the Group’s provision of hospitality
and related services in Australia segment for the year ended
31 December 2019; and (vi) the deemed disposal of 49%
interest in the holding company of 85 E &G A &l (for
identification purpose only, Shanghai EPRO Software Company
Limited) (“"EPRO") on 27 May 2019 as set out in the following
paragraph, which resulted in only 51% of the loss of EPRO being
consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019 from 27 May 2019 to
31 December 2019, as contrasted with 100% of the loss of EPRO
being consolidated throughout the year in 2018. The Group
also recorded a loss arising from total comprehensive income
of approximately HK$72,085,000 (2018: HK$232,906,000)
for the year under review, and the decrease in the loss arising
from the total comprehensive income in 2019 was mainly due
to the fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") of approximately
HK$77,329,000 for the year under review, as compared with the
fair value losses on financial assets at FVTOCI of approximately
HK$76,880,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT
services

During the year under review, the Group’'s mobile internet
cultural business and provision of IT services recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$544,544,000 (2018: HK$360,813,000),
representing a growth of approximately 51%, and segment
loss (other than the losses arising from investment in associates)
of approximately HK$45,941,000 (2018: segment loss of
HK$95,834,000). Such increase in revenue was mainly due to
the increase in the demand for the Group’s IT services, while the
decrease in such segment loss (other than the losses arising from
investment in associates) for the year under review was mainly
caused by the absence of the net provision of approximately
HK$52,777,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 in
relation to the compensation payable by the Group to one of its
customers.

The core IT businesses of the Group include enterprise software
applications, mobile internet applications, mainframe downsizing,
application localisation and systems integration. The Group has
experienced significant growth in its provision of IT services
business during 2018 and it was able to record growth during
the year ended 31 December 2019 as a result of the increase in
the demand for the Group’'s IT services. However, the growth
of the Group’s revenue from its provision of IT services business
segment during the year under review was smaller than the
increase in the costs of this business segment incurred for coping
with the increasing demand, which is attributable to, among
others, the breach (the “Breach”) by EPRO, a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of the Honesty and Integrity
Undertaking dated 22 December 2014 executed by EPRO in
favour of Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd. (¥ A M B R A 7))
("HW"), a major customer of EPRO.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE 5 am MDA

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated
21 February 2019, 28 February 2019 and 12 March 2019, on
12 March 2019, EPRO completed the execution process of an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with HW, pursuant to which
EPRO shall pay approximately RMB48,088,000 (inclusive of tax)
(the “"HW Compensation”) to HW, due to the Breach. The HW
Compensation shall be set off against the accounts receivable
due from HW to EPRO (the “Accounts Receivable”) by 36 equal
monthly instalments (the “Monthly Instalments”) commencing
on 1 April 2019. It is also provided in the Agreement that (i) to
ensure the settlement of the HW Compensation by EPRO, EPRO
shall agree that the amount of the Accounts Receivable shall
exceed the amount of the HW Compensation, and HW shall have
the right to set off the HW Compensation against the Accounts
Receivable; and (ii) EPRO shall provide its preceding year’s
annual audited financial report to HW every year. Subject to the
mutual agreement between HW and EPRO and the profitability
of EPRO as disclosed in its annual audited financial report, the
amount of the Monthly Instalments to be set off against the
Accounts Receivable for the year may be increased. HW had
ceased engaging EPRO in new business activities from December
2018 until the execution of the Agreement on 12 March 2019,
while the then existing business activities between the parties
continued, which led to the growth of the Group’s revenue
generated from its provision of IT services business during the
year under review. Notwithstanding the HW Compensation (and
the Agreement) which had a negative impact on the Group’s
cashflow, the aggregate amount of revenue generated by the
Group from HW for the year ended 31 December 2019 is more
than that for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In addition, as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
21 May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 28 June
2019, on 21 May 2019, Concord-Linked Limited (“Target”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Target Group”), a then
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company holding the entire
share capital of EPRO, entered into a subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) with Mr. Wong Jing Shong
(the “Subscriber”), pursuant to which the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Target has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, the subscription shares
(the “Subscription Shares”) (representing 49% of the issued
share capital of the Target as enlarged by the issue of the
Subscription Shares) at the subscription price of HK$22,000,000,
upon and subject to the terms and conditions of the Subscription
Agreement (the “Subscription”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

After the completion of the Subscription on 27 May 2019,
the Target is owned as to 51% by the Company and 49% by
the Subscriber, and the Target continues to be a subsidiary of
the Company. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities and financial
results of the Target Group continue to be consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. It was
anticipated that the net proceeds from the Subscription would
provide the Target Group with relief to the cash shortage caused
by its settlement of the HW Compensation and allow the Target
Group to raise funds to meet its own operating expenses in
the short run, which would reduce its financial reliance on the
Group. The Subscription constituted a connected transaction for
the Company for the purpose of the GEM Listing Rules because,
as at the date of the Subscription Agreement, the Subscriber
was a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Target Group,
which were also subsidiaries of the Company, and accordingly
the Subscriber was a connected person of the Company at
subsidiary level. Further details of this transaction are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 21 May 2019 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 June 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the net proceeds from the Subscription
had been fully utilised. During the year under review, there was
great pressure on the cashflow of the Target Group, mainly
attributable to (1) the additional costs incurred for hiring
additional staff for coping with increasing demand for the IT
services and such increase being more than the increase in the
revenue generated from such increasing demands; and (2) the
increase in the Accounts Receivable due to the increase in sales
and the arrangement in relation to the HW Compensation as
mentioned above. In the first two months of 2020 with the
outbreak of the COVID-19 in the PRC, there was even greater
pressure on the Target Group's cashflow because (1) the
operation of some of the customers of the Target Group have
been suspended, which led to a decrease in demand for the
Group's IT services; and (2) the operation efficiency of the Target
Group has been adversely affected given that some of the staff of
the Target Group had been under quarantine in their hometown
and could not return to office to work or need to work at home
which adversely affects the ability of the Target Group to deliver
its services to meet with customers’ orders. The Target Group
is considering different means to raise fund for maintaining its
operations and optimise its operational efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE 5 am MDA

In addition to the provision of IT services above, the Group has
also invested in the mobile-online game business. As at the date
of this Annual Report, the Group held 28.8% issued share capital
of Something Big Technology Holdings Limited (“Something
Big”, together with its subsidiaries and controlled companies,
“Something Big Group”), which is principally engaged in the
design, development, marketing, distribution and operation of
mobile-online games. During the year under review, the Group’s
share of the loss from Something Big Group amounted to
approximately HK$6,745,000 (2018: HK$3,161,000). During the
year under review, Something Big Group has been making a loss
with a decrease in revenue generated from its development and
operation of mobile games business due to the fierce competition
in the mobile-online game market in the PRC and lack of new
innovative games for launch by Something Big Group. The Group
will continue to closely monitor the operations and performance
of Something Big Group, in particular, control on its expenditure
in order to minimise its losses and cash outflow.

Provision of Hospitality and Related Services in Australia

The Group is engaged in the provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia through the Resorts.

The Balgownie Estate Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley, which
is located in the Yarra Valley, is a popular winery and tourism
destination in Victoria, Australia. It is a 4.5-star rated resort and
the winner of Tourism Accommodation Australia (TAA) for Best
Resort Style Accommodation four years in a row from 2016 to
2019. It consists of a piece of freehold land of approximately
29 hectares with a 7-hectare vineyard growing Pinot and
Chardonnay wine grapes, and offers 70 luxury accommodation
rooms, day spa, health club facilities, cellar door, restaurant and
conference facilities. The resort is one of the few in the Yarra
Valley region offering such comprehensive services and facilities,
which give it a strong competitive advantage.

Bellinzona Resort Cellar Door & Dining is located in Hepburn
Springs, Daylesford, the heart of the Victoria's spa region. The
resort includes a piece of freehold land of approximately one
hectare and comprises 43 elegant hotel rooms, including deluxe
spa suites, an indoor swimming pool, a wine bar, a heritage
restaurant and purposely built conference facilities catered for
small to large conferences.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cleveland Winery Resort & Events is located in Lancefield,
Macedon Ranges. The resort includes a piece of freehold land
of approximately 40 hectares comprising a 3-hectare vineyard
growing cool climate Pinot, Chardonnay and a sparkling wine
grape, 50 ensuite rooms, a restaurant and extensive conference
facilities, including several lounges and breakout areas.

During the year under review, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$95,043,000 (2018: HK$107,195,000) and
loss of approximately HK$33,437,000 (2018: HK$3,549,000) for
the segment of provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia.

The decline in revenue generated from this segment was due
to the drop in average occupancy rate of the resorts from
approximately 60% for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately 49% for the year ended 31 December 2019,
which is mainly attributable to the decrease in the number of
domestic visitations to regional Australia due to the bushfires in
Australia. The demand for domestic travel has been adversely
affected by the declining economic growth in Australia, given
the GDP growth issued by the Australian Bureau of Statistics was
only 0.5% for the December quarter 2019 (December quarter
2018: 2.0%). Furthermore, the bushfires in Australia since
October 2019 also led to a decrease in the number of visitations
to Australia. According to the Australian Tourism Industry
Council, it is estimated that the impact of the Australian bushfires
on the nation’s tourism sector will be at least AUD4.5 billion by
the end of 2020. In addition, impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$23,616,000 (2018: Nil)
was recognised during the year under review as the recoverable
amount of the buildings was lower than the carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of the buildings as at 31 December
2019 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected to
the Group, by making reference to the prices of recent market
transactions for similar properties near the respective locations
of the Resorts, which is a generally accepted approach in the
industry. Assumptions used in the valuation include: (i) recent
market prices of the Resorts, (ii) locations of the Resorts; and
(iii) types of the Resorts. There was neither significant change
in the value of the inputs and assumptions from those used in
the valuation in the prior year nor subsequent change to the
valuation method adopted.

EREH MR I

REXBEBEEEBRNAONEHE LKA
FRE - EEERNBEE—IREELY BI0RE
KA L HEEBERKRRIRAL
EZBEANREASEBEEMN3RAEEEERE 50
RMER ZBEKEMEDHRE BIEAENK
BERKERE-

REEBEFE AEERERMNEEBE X
B R o B0 815 WA 4995,043,000/%8 T
(ZZ— /\%:107,195,000/8 7)) K E B 4
33,437,000/ 5t (=& — J\ & : 3,549,000/
JL) °

o MEENRE THREAREZE S —N
F+_A=+—BLEFEEBNNFEHAE
RH¥60% BEHE _TE—NF+_A=1+—
BIEFEMA49% B £ Z 2 i B IMNEZRM
ANEBHERMBEHRAEZEE T
AR 0% 5 Sk DB 48 B 18 & N FR 1 X B
FE WENBMNGTREMNBERNEESE
BER_E—NFEORFTEEARISK (=ZF
—NFEENFE:2.0%) - B_F—Hh
F+ AR BMBEMRKANINEEE R A KR
Do RBIRMIKIEIE B e FHADRIMARRAR N
RZE_EFREFTERMNREEBELED
ASTEVB TN REIBFEEER WX K
B N 3% R B &5 18 423,616,000 0 (=&
—NF &) DHEREFHNTKREBER
FEHE - R_FT—NF+_A=+—H #&F
WA RE B IREERNEBREREZ BT
BERBEMBEMAECZHE X2EE RN
EEMBUENONEUMEZEBEMSER
SEEB M ITEARNRRN A A GERAT
ARBEReRE: VERNEHTE: () ER
NEALE & (i) B R A o E R TR
AREASBEEERRKE F—FEMNA
FIWEBRNE M BEERANGERENE

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR 13



MANAGLEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group will continue to closely monitor the operation
and performance of the Resorts and tighten control on its
expenditure, especially reducing marketing expenditure, focusing
more on digital marketing which will extend the Group’s
marketing more cost-effectively and controlling the employee
benefits expenses in order to minimise its losses and cash
outflow. Going forward, the Group will implement the following
strategies to improve the performance of the Resorts: (i) to
restructure its manpower allocation by downsizing its marketing
team and consider outsourcing its digital marketing which will
significantly reduce the overall marketing costs; (ii) to continue to
focus on staff training to improve efficiency which in turn reduce
overall manpower cost; and (iii) to be more proactive in tailoring
products and promotions to increase visitations to improve its
overall occupancy rate of the Resorts and further capitalising
from the increased visitation by focusing on growth on ancillary
revenues stream.

Money Lending Business

The Group is engaged in the money lending business in Hong
Kong through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mark Profit Finance
Limited, which is a holder of a money lender’s licence under
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). During the year under review, the Group recorded
interest income of approximately HK$1,642,000 from its money
lending business (2018: HK$1,598,000). The Group has been
paying close attention to the market conditions and will monitor
its resources to strive for the development of its money lending
business with prudent credit procedures in accepting customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Assets Investments Business

During the year under review, the Group recorded a segment
loss from its assets investment business of approximately
HK$28,388,000 (2018: segment profit of approximately
HK$3,258,000), the change was primarily attributable to
the combined effect of (i) the absence of gain on disposal of
subsidiaries which amounted to approximately HK$17,795,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018; (ii) the provision for the
litigations which amounted to approximately HK$32,796,000
(2018: HK$7,176,000) for the year under review; and (iii) the
decrease in the fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL from
HK$7,404,000 during the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately HK$579,000 during the year ended 31 December
2019, which were mainly attributable to the Group's investments
in Town Health International Medical Group Limited (“Town
Health”) (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3886) and approximately 1.25%
of the total issued shares of which were held by the Group as
at 31 December 2019) of approximately HK$38,534,000 (2018:
HK$39,288,000). Given the trading of the shares of Town Health
on the Stock Exchange was suspended as at 31 December 2019,
the fair value of the Group’s investment in Town Health as at
31 December 2019 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected to the Group, using the index return method, which
is a generally accepted approach in the industry, where the last
trading price of the shares of Town Health was adjusted by the
return of a synthetic index. Assumptions used in the valuation
include: (a) no material change in the existing conditions
which might adversely affect the business of Town Health; (b)
prospective earnings would provide a reasonable estimate on the
fair market value of the assets held by Town Health; (c) reliance
by the valuer on the assistance and information provided by the
Company; and (d) information related to the valuation would be
made available to and reviewed by the valuer. Inputs including
(a) the return of other comparable publicly listed companies
ranging from -23.91% to -61.90% from the last trading date to
their year-end dates; (b) business nature and financial reports of
Town Health; (c) publication and research reports of the related
industry; and (d) reliable sources of market data were applied in
the valuation. There was neither significant change in the value
of the inputs and assumptions from those used in the valuation
in the prior year nor subsequent change to the valuation method
adopted.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE 5 am MDA

In addition to financial assets at FVTPL, the Group recorded
fair value gain on financial assets at FVTOCI of approximately
HK$77,329,000 during the year under review (2018: fair
value loss on financial assets at FVTOCI of approximately
HK$76,880,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded financial assets at
FVTPL of approximately HK$41,289,000 (2018: HK$41,932,000)
and financial assets at FVTOCI of approximately HK$169,309,000
(2018: HK$97,712,000). The Directors consider securities
investments with a carrying amount that accounts for more
than 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2019
as significant securities investments of the Group. Details of the
significant securities investments of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prospects of the Group'’s significant securities investments

LEO is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 002131). LEO is principally engaged in
the manufacturing and sale of industrial and domestic pumps
and internet services including digital marketing business,
marketing strategy and innovation, media delivery and execution,
monitoring and optimisation of marketing results and precise
marketing, etc. Since the listing of the shares of LEO on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, the business scope of LEO has
gradually expanded from a purely domestic pumps business in
the PRC to an industrial pump business in the PRC, covering
almost all the pump products in the entire pump industry in
the country. Given that the growth of the traditional pump
manufacturing business has stabilised, LEO has been actively
seeking for a new breakthrough in its strategic development and
striving to explore growth opportunities beyond the traditional
pump industry, so as to improve its profitability and develop new
profit growth. In 2014, LEO successfully expanded its principal
business into the internet service business through a series of
acquisitions. The internet services LEO provides include digital
marketing services and digital media agency services. Based on
the preliminary unaudited 2019 annual result announcement
of LEQ, it has recorded a net profit attributable to its owners of
approximately RMB312 million for the year ended 31 December
2019, representing an increase of approximately 117% compared
to the previous year. The increase was mainly attributable to (i)
the change in its corporate strategies which focuses on improving
its internal management and qualities of its product through
product development which improves its profitability; and (ii)
significant decrease in goodwill impairment provision and bad
debt impairment provision for the year ended 31 December 2019
compared to the previous year.

With regards to the prospects of LEO based on the published
information, the Directors noted that LEO has been actively
expanding its digital marketing services through both vertical and
horizontal integrations in recent years to capture the business
opportunities arising from the new internet-based interactive
entertainment pattern, which resulted in a growth in its revenue.
The Directors noted that LEO has received recognitions in the
market in recent years, being a sign of the success of LEO in its
business development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE 5 am MDA

In addition, as at 31 December 2019, the Group held 10,650
ordinary shares of Luck Key Investment Limited (“Luck Key"),
representing 48.33% of the equity interest of Luck Key, the
investment cost of which was approximately HK$56,511,000. As
at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of this investment
was approximately HK$78,444,000, representing approximately
8.19% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2019.
During the year under review, the share of total comprehensive
income of the investment attributable to the Group amounted
to approximately HK$6,772,000, no realised gain was recorded
and no dividend income was received from this investment. Luck
Key together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
provision of medical diagnostic and health check services and
operated 8 health check centres and 1 testing laboratory as at the
date of this Annual Report. During the year under review, revenue
of Luck Key amounted to approximately HK$210,155,000 (2018:
HK$219,072,000), representing a decrease of approximately
4.1%. The profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of
Luck Key for the year under review amounted to approximately
HK$14,012,000 (2018: HK$15,798,000). The management of
Luck Key will strive to improve the operational efficiency of its
health check business so as to enhance its competitiveness in the
market and its profitability.

The Group will continue to hold the investments in its portfolio,
unless there are changes in its investment strategy or potential
opportunities in realising its existing investments in securities
arise, taking into account the prospects of the issuers of the
securities investments and the Group’s objectives to optimise the
returns from its investment portfolios and create value for the
Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

The Hong Kong economy weakened substantially in 2019
as rising trade tensions between the USA and the PRC and
heightened uncertainty took a toll on exports and investment
while private expenditure and visitor arrivals have declined due to
the social unrest in the second half of 2019. With current global
events such as the trade dispute, the continued normalisation of
monetary policy in advanced economies and the recent volatilities
in the global financial markets, the global economy is facing
challenges as effects of these events are beginning to surface.

In addition, following the recent outbreak of the COVID-19,
the negative impact on the global economy is enormous. The
operation and financial performance of the Group's businesses of
mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT services and
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia during
the first quarter of 2020 have been adversely affected by the
COVID-19.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a result of the COVID-19, there is a significant pressure on
the cashflow of the Group’s business of mobile internet cultural
business and provision of IT services owing to (1) the operation
of some of the customers of this business segment have been
suspended, which led to a decrease in demand for the Group’s
IT services; and (2) the operation efficiency of this business
segment has been adversely affected given that some of the
staff under this business segment had been under quarantine in
their hometown and could not return to office to work or need
to work at home which adversely affects the ability of the Group
to deliver its services to meet with customers’ orders. The Group
is considering different means to raise fund for maintaining the
operations of this business segment.

In light of the declining economic growth in Australia and the
global outbreak of the COVID-19, the demand for the services
of the Resorts has decreased and is expected to continue to
decrease until the third quarter of 2020. In particular, it is
expected that the performance of Bellinzona Resort Cellar Door
& Dining and Cleveland Winery Resort & Events, which offer
conference facilities and mainly target corporate clients, will be
more adversely affected as a result of the restrictions of meetings
or conferences implemented by the Australian government due
to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. In March 2020,
the Australian government has taken strict measures to combat
the outbreak of the COVID-19 including new social distancing
rules which discourage people from gathering at certain places
and situations such as restaurants, cafes, pubs and clubs and
weddings and close pubs, casinos, restaurants and other venue
from 23 March 2020. In view of the policies of the Australian
government to combat the COVID-19, the operation of the
Resorts has been temporarily suspended with effect from
30 March 2020 until further notice, subject to the development
of the COVID-19 in Australia and the policies of the Australian
government.

Going forward, the Group will closely take note of its
development and its impact on the Group's businesses. The
Group will proactively take preventive measures to mitigate the
impact of the COVID-19 on its businesses.
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MANAGLEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Strategic Update

Entering into 2020, both regional and global markets
will unquestionably remain sensitive to geopolitical and
macroeconomic uncertainties, as well as the pandemic situation
of the COVID-19. The Group's focus will be on (i) maintaining
operational resilience in times of unpredictability and challenges;
(ii) remaining competitive and forward-thinking, skillfully
executing on its strategy; and (iii) exploring new opportunities,
experimenting, and moving steadily and boldly towards greater
success.

The Group’s focus will remain on the successful execution of
the strategic plan and working together with the regulators and
other stakeholders to support the prosperity and sustainability of
the markets and communities where the Group operates. Also,
the Group’s commitment to strengthen its competitiveness will
remain a core focus in the years ahead. The Group is confident
that the efforts it is making will position it strongly for the next
phase of its journey and generate value over a longer term.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2019, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$957,322,000 (2018: HK$844,350,000)
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$180,516,000 (2018: HK$176,993,000), among which
approximately 78% (2018: 90%) were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, 8% (2018: Nil) were denominated in United States
dollars, 12% (2018: 5%) were denominated in Renminbi and
2% (2018: 5%) were denominated in Australian dollars. As at
31 December 2019, the Group had borrowings repayable within
one year (or on demand) of approximately HK$219,669,000
(2018: HK$164,812,000). These borrowings bore interest at rates
ranging from 3.7% to 6.0% per annum (2018: 3.8% to 6.0%
per annum), among which approximately 67% (2018: 49%)
were subject to fixed interest rates. Out of the total borrowings,
approximately 33% (2018: 42%) were denominated in Australian
dollars and the balance of approximately 67% (2018: 58%)
were denominated in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group had borrowing facilities to the extent of approximately
HK$333,032,000 (2018: HK$240,701,000). As at 31 December
2019, approximately HK$221,830,000 (2018: HK$164,812,000)
of the facilities had been utilised by the Group. There is no
seasonality in relation to the borrowing requirements of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated
on the basis of total liabilities to total assets) was 0.62 times
(2018: 0.50 times) and its net debt-to-equity capital ratio
(calculated as the total trade and other payables, accruals and
provision, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities less pledge time deposit and cash and cash equivalents,
over equity attributable to the Shareholders) was 0.89 times
(2018: 0.40 times).

Despite the fact that the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$73,164,000 as at 31 December 2019, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
basis that the Group will continue to operate as a going concern.
The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is able to
continue as a going concern and to meet in full their financial
obligations as (i) the Group had net assets of approximately
HK$368 million including financial assets at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$164 million as at 31 December 2019 classified
as non-current assets which could be realised to satisfy the
current liabilities obligations of the Group; (ii) the Group has been
actively negotiating with its creditors and/or banker(s) to extend
the repayment terms of its indebtedness, and as detailed in note
25(d) to the consolidated financial statements in April 2020,
the Group has entered into a supplemental agreement with the
lender for not demanding for the repayment of the Bailihong
Loan (as defined in note 25(d)) of approximately HK$55,233,000
within the next 12 months from the date of the supplemental
agreement; and (iii) continuing financial support has been
provided by a substantial shareholder of the Company, who has
confirmed her willingness to continue financing the operation of
the Group to meet its future obligations, and has also entered
into a loan facility agreement with the Company in April 2020,
pursuant to which, the substantial shareholder has agreed to
provide a loan facility of up to HK$70,000,000 (the “Loan
Facility”) to the Group for the purpose of its general working
capital. As at the date of these consolidated financial statements,
HK$40,000,000 of the Loan Facility (the “Shareholder’s Loan")
has been drawn down by the Group which bears interest at a
fixed rate of 10% per annum and is repayable 12 months after
the drawdown provided that the substantial shareholder will not
demand for repayment of the Shareholder’s Loan upon maturity
until the Group is in a position to do so. In light of all the
measures adopted and arrangements implemented, the Directors
are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient cash
resources to satisfy its future working capital and other financial
requirements and it is reasonable to expect the Group to remain
as a commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the Directors
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$372,336,000 (2018: HK$418,182,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had borrowings of
approximately HK$221,830,000 (2018: HK$164,812,000).
Certain loans are subject to the fulfilment of covenants commonly
found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the
Group were to breach the covenants, the draw down facilities
would become repayable on demand. In addition, the Group’s
certain loan agreements contain clauses which give the lenders
the right at their sole discretion to demand immediate repayment
at any time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with
the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The exposure of the Group's borrowings is as follows:
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2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (f&FEZ)
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMEBE 149,327 80,913
Variable-rate borrowings FEANEEE 72,503 83,899
221,830 164,812
Secured g 162,089 161,359
Unsecured 4K 1 59,741 3,453
221,830 164,812
The carrying amounts of the above FiEE ZEREEBNRA T BHEE
borrowings are repayable:
Within one year —F R 219,669 164,812
Within a period of more than one year —F LA 1B BB RN HAE
but not exceeding two years 843 -
Within a period of more than two years W F LA 1B SR 38 1 6 HA A
but not exceeding five years 1,318 -
221,830 164,812
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Note:

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's
borrowings are as follows:
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2019 2018
—E—hF —E-N\F

Effective interest rate: = e
Fixed-rate borrowings EMNEEE 5.44-6.00% 5.70-6.00%
Variable-rate borrowings FENEEE 3.74-3.94% 3.76-3.94%

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

During the year under review, the Group mainly generated
revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi,
Australian dollars and Euro. The Group did not invest in any
derivative product for hedging during the year under review.
Nevertheless, the Group will keep monitoring its foreign currency
risk and when there are uncertainties or material fluctuations
in the foreign exchange rates, the Group will consider using
appropriate hedging instruments, including futures and forward
contracts in managing the Group’s exposure in relation to
fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, certain borrowing facilities of
the Group were secured by freehold land and buildings of
approximately HK$143,624,000, financial assets at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$151,926,000, fixed deposit of approximately
HK$13,000,000 and financial assets at FVTPL of approximately
HK$33,284,000.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material
capital expenditure commitments (2018: Nil).

DEEMED PARTIAL DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Subscriber
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Target conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, the Subscription Shares at the
subscription price of HK$22,000,000. After the completion of
the Subscription on 27 May 2019, the Target is owned as to
51% by the Company and 49% by the Subscriber, and the Target
continues to be a subsidiary of the Company. Further details of
the Subscription are set out in pages 10 to 11 of this Annual
Report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE 5 am MDA

DISPOSAL OF ZHIQU

On 7 December 2015, the Group, Mr. Xu lJialiang, Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng (collectively with the Group, the “Vendors”), £/8%
B E £ AR AR (in English, for identification purpose, Shanghai
Zhiqu Advertisement Co., Ltd.) (“Zhiqu”) and LEO entered into
a sale and purchase agreement (as amended and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 11 January 2016) (the
“Zhiqu SP Agreement”), pursuant to which LEO agreed to
acquire, and the Vendors agreed to sell, the entire equity interest
of Zhiqu (the “Zhiqu Disposal”). The Vendors and LEO also
entered into the performance compensation agreement (the
“Performance Compensation Agreement”) in relation to the
adjustments to the total consideration for the Zhiqu Disposal.
The total consideration shall be subject to adjustments (the
“Adjustments”, each an “Adjustment”) in accordance with
the Performance Compensation Agreement in the manner as
stipulated below:

For the purpose of the Adjustments, the “Audited NOP" is
Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after tax, after adjustments
for, where applicable, any non-recurring and exceptional gains
or losses, whichever is lower, that are not related to the ordinary
business of Zhiqu, attributable to shareholders of the parent
company of Zhiqu as deduced from the audited consolidated
financial statements of Zhiqu for the relevant financial year
ended 31 December 2016 (“FY2016"), financial year ended
31 December 2017 (“FY2017") and financial year ended
31 December 2018 (“FY2018") (each a “Guaranteed FY").
The Vendors severally (but among Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng, jointly and severally) undertook to LEO that:

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 shall be not less than
RMB58,000,000 (the “2016 Target NOP");

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 shall be not less than
RMB75,400,000 (the “2017 Target NOP"); and

(iii) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 shall be not less than
RMB98,020,000 (the “2018 Target NOP").
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The Vendors and LEO agreed that the amount of Adjustment
(the “Adjustment Amount”) for each Guaranteed FY shall be
settled by the Vendors in the following order:

(iii)

firstly, by the consideration shares allotted and issued to
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, in proportion to the
consideration shares allotted and issued to them (“Xu's
Shares”);

if the Xu’s Shares shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, secondly, in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng in proportion to the cash consideration
received by them (”“Xu’s Cash”);

if Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng have not fully
compensated LEO, thirdly, by the consideration shares
allotted and issued to the Group (“Jixiang’s Shares”);

if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash and the Jixiang's Shares
shall be insufficient to settle the relevant Adjustment
Amount, fourthly, in cash by the Group, which is subject to a
cap of RMB25,510,009 ("Jixiang's Cash”); and

if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash, the Jixiang’'s Shares and
the Jixiang's Cash shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, finally, in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the balance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE 5 am MDA

Upon the end of each Guaranteed FY and the issue of the special
audit report of Zhiqu for FY2018, LEO shall engage qualified
auditors to conduct asset impairment test and issue a report in
respect of any asset impairment. Where the asset impairment
of Zhiqu as reflected in such report shall be more than the total
Adjustment Amount compensated by the Vendors to LEO, the
Vendors shall compensate LEO a sum equal to the difference
between such asset impairment and the Adjustment Amount
then compensated by the Vendors to LEO, which shall be settled
first by the consideration shares (the value of which shall be
calculated by multiplying such number of consideration shares
with the issue price), with payment of cash to settle the balance
(if any). All liabilities of the Group under the Performance
Compensation Agreement shall at all times be capped at the
total consideration received by it.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2016 published by
LEO on 30 August 2017, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016
amounted to RMB32,239,594.87, which is less than the 2016
Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2016
shall be RMB83,931,144.53 and shall be settled by 18,166,915
Xu's Shares (the “FY2016 Compensation”). The Group is
not required to pay any compensation to LEO in respect of the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016.

As disclosed in LEQO's announcement dated 31 August 2017,
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng shall pay additional
compensation which comprises (i) an aggregate of 21,993,909
LEQ’s shares to LEO; and (ii) cash in the aggregate amount of
RMB80,000,000 to Zhiqu, on or before 31 December 2017
(the “Additional Compensation”). According to LEO’s
announcement dated 19 December 2017, such shares were
returned to LEO for distribution to its shareholders in December
2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2017 published
by LEO on 14 December 2018, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for
FY2017 amounted to RMB36,689,479.02, which is less than
the 2017 Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount
for FY2017 shall be RMB126,124,504.45 and shall be settled
by 3,821,856 Xu's Shares and Xu's Cash in the amount of
RMB108,467,529.73 (the “FY2017 Compensation”) taking
into consideration the Additional Compensation. However, as
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 15 March
2019, according to LEO’s announcement dated 15 March 2019,
given that the 3,821,856 Xu's Shares were not sufficient to
settle the FY2017 Compensation and Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng were unable to provide the Xu's Cash in the amount
of approximately RMB108,468,000, in accordance with the
settlement mechanism above, the FY2017 Compensation shall
be settled by 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares and the Group shall
also return the cash dividend in the amount of approximately
RMB506,000 received from LEO to an account designated by
LEO.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
29 April 2019, on 29 April 2019, the Group received a letter
from the Shanghai International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (Shanghai International Arbitration Center)
(“SHIAC") that LEO had commenced arbitration proceedings
against the Group to pursue the settlement of the portion of
the FY2017 Compensation that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng were unable to satisfy (the “Unsettled FY2017
Compensation”). As at 31 December 2018, the Company has
been preliminarily advised by its legal advisers as to the laws of
the PRC that the Group should have a good chance to argue
in such arbitration proceeding that the demand from LEO for
settlement of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation should not be
upheld. The hearing of the arbitration proceeding was held on
24 September 2019 before a panel of three arbitrators.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 8 November
2019, based on the special audit report in respect of the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018, the Audit NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018
amounted to RMB7,701,500, which is less than the 2018 Target
NOP.
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According to the announcement of LEO dated 3 December
2019, in view of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 being
RMB7,701,500, the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 shall be
RMB402,738,466.59 accordingly. The Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 shall be settled by the Xu's Shares, and where such
shares are insufficient, by the Xu's Cash received by Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng. Given that Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng no longer hold any consideration shares, they
will be required to compensate LEO in cash. LEO will issue a
demand notice for compensation to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng after the compensation proposal in respect of the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018 has been approved by the
shareholders of LEO. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do
not settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in full within
30 days after the issue of the demand notice, the Group will
be required to settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by
45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if such shares are
insufficient, by Jixiang’s Cash. In addition, the Group will also
be required to return the cash bonus in relation to the Jixiang's
Shares that it has received from LEO, the amount of which as
determined in accordance with the amount of compensation
that the Group is required to pay. If there is still a shortfall in
the settlement of the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in cash. LEO
will seek approval from its shareholders in respect of the above
compensation proposal.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
6 December 2019, on 6 December 2019, the Group received
a letter from SHIAC indicating that it has approved LEO’s
application (“Application”) to make the following amendments
("Amendments”) to certain demands made by LEO against
the Group in relation to the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017
Compensation:

(i) the transfer of 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) held by the Group to LEO;

(i) if the Group is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares (instead of 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) to
LEO, the shortfall shall be compensated to LEO by way of
cash; and

(i) the return of the cash bonus in the amount of approximately
RMB989,000 (instead of approximately RMB506,000) in
relation to the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) by the Group to LEO.
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In the Application, further to the above amendments, LEO also
demands the Group to pay LEO (i) cash compensation in the
amount of approximately RMB25,510,000; and (ii) an amount
which is calculated from the date of the Application, based on
the amount of unsettled compensation due from the Group to
LEO times the one-year loan prime rate published on 21 October
2019 as authorised by the People’s Bank of China (i.e. 4.20%
per annum), as compensation for the loss suffered by LEO.

It is stated in the Application that the Amendments are proposed
taking into consideration that (i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for
FY2018 as reported in the special audit report in respect of the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounting to approximately
RMB7,702,000, is less than the 2018 Target NOP (i.e.
RMB98,020,000); and (i) any party in breach of the Performance
Compensation Agreement shall be liable for damages caused
to the parties not in default. It is stated in the letter that the
Group shall provide rebuttal opinion on evidence in respect
of the supplemental information attached to the Application
(“Rebuttal”) within five working days after the receipt of the
letter.

On 10 December 2019, the Group has instructed its PRC
legal adviser to provide the Rebuttal and an objection to the
Application (“Objection”) to the SHIAC. In the Objection, the
Group requested the SHIAC to reject the Application, taking into
account that (i) the Application was made too late, which would
severely affect the normal process of the arbitration; and (ii)
the inclusion of the compensation for the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 into the amended demands under the Application
would complicate the case and cause delay to the arbitration
proceedings, and more importantly, the LEO’s claims against
the Group in relation to the Adjustment Amount for FY2018
are subject to (a) the LEO’s claims against Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng after the shareholders of LEO have given their
approval of the related compensation proposal; and (b) the
failure of Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the 2018
Adjustment Amount in full within 30 days after the issue of the
demand notice by LEO.
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According to the announcement of LEO dated 27 December
2019, LEO issued a letter to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
on 19 December 2019 demanding the settlement of the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018. In response to the demand
letter issued by LEO on 19 December 2019 as mentioned above,
Mr. Xu Jialing and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng informed LEO in writing on
20 December 2019 that they were unable to pay the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 due to their financial difficulties. If Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of
the demand letter, the Group will be required to settle the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by way of the 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if such shares are insufficient,
by way of cash, which is subject to a cap of approximately
RMB25,510,000 (being the amount of cash consideration
received by the Group in relation to the Zhiqu Disposal). In
addition, the Group will also be required to return the cash
dividend in relation to the Jixiang’s Shares that it has received
from LEO, the amount of which as determined in accordance
with the amount of compensation the Group is required to pay.
If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng,
who are jointly liable for such settlement, will be required to
compensate LEO in cash. As set out in LEO’s announcement
dated 14 January 2020, LEO has sought approval from its
shareholders in respect of the proposal to repurchase and cancel
the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares held by the Group as partial
settlement of the Adjustment Amount for FY2018.

The Group has received a letter from the SHIAC indicating that,
among others: (a) the SHIAC had received the Objection; and (b)
the SHIAC would handle the Amendments in addition to LEQO’s
existing demands in relation to the settlement of the FY2017
Compensation.

As at the date of this Annual Report, no arbitral award has been
issued.

The Company will keep the Shareholders informed of any further
material developments in connection with the above matter by
way of further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Details of the Zhiqu Disposal and the calculation of the
Adjustment Amount for each Guaranteed FY are set out in (i)
the announcements of the Company dated 8 December 2015,
11 January 2016, 29 February 2016, 20 May 2016, 5 July
2016, 5 September 2016, 7 September 2016, 31 August 2017,
14 December 2018, 15 March 2019, 9 April 2019, 29 April
2019, 8 November 2019, 3 December 2019, 6 December 2019,
10 December 2019 and 27 December 2019; and (ii) the circular
of the Company dated 11 February 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

The Group was involved in the following legal proceedings and
claims:

(@ On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited (“Ever
Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received a writ of summons with a statement of
claim (the “Writ") issued in the Court of First Instance of the
High Court of Hong Kong (the “Court”) by Convoy Global
Holdings Limited ("Convoy”), Convoy Collateral Limited (the
“Second Plaintiff”) and CSL Securities Limited (the “Third
Plaintiff”, together with Convoy and the Second Plaintiff,
collectively as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Ever Robust (together with the other defendants,
collectively as the “Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs against
Ever Robust are as follows: (i) Convoy sought an order as
against, among others, Ever Robust, that the allotment of the
shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust
on 29 October 2015, be set aside; (ii) the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff sought an order that the financing
facilities granted by them, including the loan (the “Convoy
Loan”) in the amount of HK$129,000,000 granted to Ever
Robust by the Second Plaintiff on 9 November 2015, and the
margin loan (the “Margin Loan") granted to Ever Robust by
the Third Plaintiff which amounted to HK$67,574,473 as at
29 March 2016, be rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs sought
against, among others, Ever Robust for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other
reliefs (the “Convoy Proceedings”). As at 19 December
2017, Ever Robust had fully repaid the Convoy Loan and the
Margin Loan and did not hold any shares in Convoy.
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On 6 March 2018, a Case Management Conference Hearing
was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris on the
Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018, Ever Robust has
received an amended writ of summons and an amended
statement of claim (the “Amended Statement of Claim”).
Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim, the reliefs
sought by the Plaintiffs against Ever Robust are amended as
follows: (i) a declaration and order as against among others,
Ever Robust, that the allotment of the shares in Convoy
by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust, on 29 October
2015, is null and void, or has been rescinded and set aside
(as sought by Convoy); (i) an account of profits and an
order for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed
for breach of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory
duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy
and/or lawful means conspiracy, as against, among others,
Ever Robust (as sought by Convoy); (iii) an order against,
among others, Ever Robust, for an account of profits and an
order for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed
for breach of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties,
dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or
lawful means conspiracy (as sought by the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff); and (iv) against, among others, Ever
Robust, for (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs (as sought by all the
Plaintiffs).

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(the “Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among other
Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties are ordered to
join the proceedings as additional defendants. Pursuant to
the Order, it is further ordered, among other matters, as to
between the Plaintiffs and Ever Robust (among certain other
Defendants), that the Plaintiffs do have leave to file and serve
the Amended Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy sealed
order dated 1 November 2018 against, among other
defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party is ordered to join
the proceedings as an additional defendant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its Defence (the
"Defence”) to the Plaintiff’s claim in the Convoy Proceedings
with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence, Ever Robust avers
that the Plaintiffs are not entitled to any relief against Ever
Robust in the Convoy Proceedings.

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its Amended Defence
pursuant to the Order of Hon Harris J dated 12 July 2019.

Further details of the Convoy Proceedings are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 19 December 2017,
1 June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered that
there was no assessed monetary claim by Plaintiffs and it
is premature to give opinion on the probable outcome and
estimate the ultimate liability.

On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition (the
“Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan (the
"Petitioner”) against, among other respondents, Ever
Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has held and
continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy since around
mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the following orders
against, among others, Ever Robust: (i) a declaration that the
placement of 3,989,987,999 shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among other placees, Ever Robust, and/or such placed shares
are void ab initio and of no legal effect or, alternatively,
be set aside; (ii) damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s
shareholding; (iii) interest; (iv) such further or other relief
and all necessary and consequential directions as the Court
may think fit; and (v) costs (the “Zhu Proceedings”). As
at 2 January 2018, Ever Robust did not hold any shares in
Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a Case Management Conference was held
on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris made an order that the Zhu Proceedings be stayed
with liberty to restore, pending the outcome of the Convoy
Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 2 January 2018.

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the above
legal proceedings from its solicitors (or legal adviser) in Hong
Kong, who, based on the information available as of the date
of this Annual Report, is of the opinion that:

— there is no assessed monetary claim except the Plaintiffs’
claim and the Petitioner’s claims against Ever Robust for
damages to be assessed;
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— itis premature to give opinion on the probable outcome;
and

— itis premature to estimate the ultimate liability.

The litigation among, among others, the Group and LEO in
relation to the Zhiqu Disposal. Further details are set out in
pages 24 to 30 of this Annual Report.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, a
subsidiary of the Company (the “Borrower”) had breached
the covenant of a loan (the “Loan”) in the original principal
amount of RMB79,868,600, which is secured by certain
of the listed securities extended by Essence Securities
Co., Limited (the “Lender”). Subsequent to the end of
the reporting period on 17 January 2020, the Borrower
received the summons (the “Summons”) issued by the
Lender, as plaintiff, in Shenzhen Intermediate People’s
Court (the “SZ Court”) against the Borrower as defendant.
Pursuant to the Summons, the Lender demands the SZ
Court to order the Borrower to: (i) repay to the Lender the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan in the sum of
approximately RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$79,216,000); (ii) pay to the Lender interest at the rate of
6% per annum accrued on the outstanding principal amount
of the Loan in the sum of approximately RMB70,893,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$79,216,000) from 20 June
2019 to the date of repayment; (iii) pay to the Lender
liguidated damages at the daily rate of 0.03%, including
liquidated damages on the outstanding interest in the sum of
approximately RMB1,042,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,164,000) from 16 September 2019 to the date of
repayment and liquidated damages on the principal from
19 June 2018 to the date of repayment; (iv) pay to the
Lender its legal costs in making the claims in the sum of
RMB76,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$85,000); (v)
use the proceeds from the realisation of certain of the listed
securities pledged by the Borrower through discounting,
sale or auction firstly to repay to the Lender the outstanding
amount of the Loan, the interest, the liquidated damages
and the legal costs; and (vi) bear all the litigation costs
such as case acceptance fees and security fee of this case.
As per the Summons, the aggregate amount of the claims
under (i) to (iv) up to 18 November 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB85,186,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$95,187,000). As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate
amount of the claims under (i) to (iv) was estimated to be
approximately RMB86,660,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$96,833,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a result, a provision for litigation of approximately
RMB13,473,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$15,054,000) (2018: RMB6,326,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,176,000)), together with a provision
for interest accrual of RMB2,294,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,563,000) (2018: Nil) was made by the
Borrower as at 31 December 2019.

Further details of the Summons are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 18 January 2020.

After seeking legal advice on the legal proceedings, the Group
has made provisions for the above legal proceedings except for
items (a) and (b) above as the Group is not able to reliably assess
the amount of potential liabilities under the cases in items (a) and
(b) above. The Company will, in accordance with the applicable
laws, make every effort to protect the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders, proactively respond to the case and defend
its position vigorously. The Company will closely monitor the
development of these matters and make further announcements
if and when there are any significant developments in relation to
each of these legal proceedings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “LITIGATION AND
CLAIMS" in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this
Annual Report, as at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have
any material contingent liabilities (2018: Nil).

EMPLOYEES" REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately 3,700
employees (2018 approximately 2,900). Staff costs (including
the Directors’ salaries, allowances and bonuses totaled
approximately HK$599,373,000 for the year under review (2018:
HK$376,531,000), of which approximately HK$485,976,000
(2018: HK$268,870,000) was included in the cost of services.
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities
of its workforce by providing them with adequate and regular
training.

Remuneration of employee is determined by reference to industry
practices and performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The emolument policy of the Directors are decided by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications
and competence of the Directors.

On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to employees and the Directors by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual
performance of such employees and/or Directors, and other
benefits including contributions to statutory mandatory provident
fund scheme and medical scheme are also provided to the
employees.

The Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
pursuant to an ordinary resolution of all the then Shareholders
passed on 10 November 2010, and the Board is authorised, at
its absolute discretion, to grant options to eligible participants
including any employee, contracted celebrity, advisor, consultant,
service provider, agent, customer, partner or joint-venture partner
of the Group (including any director, whether executive or non-
executive and whether independent or not, of the Group) who
is in full-time or part-time employment with the Group at the
time when an option is granted to such employee, or any person
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or may
contribute to the Group. There was no share option outstanding
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). Details of the share options
outstanding during the year under review are set out in the
paragraph headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in the Directors’
Report in this Annual Report.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hui Chun Sum, aged 39, was appointed as an executive
Director on 13 August 2018, and the chairman of the Board
(the "Chairman”) on 1 December 2018. He has over 10 years
of experience in corporate management and operation. He
has been the director of Nation Land Investment Limited since
August 2007, and the managing director of Chun Sum Property
Development Limited since July 2007. Mr. Hui obtained a
professional diploma in corporate governance and directorship
from the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in June 2013, and an
advanced diploma in finance from the University of Hong Kong
School of Professional and Continuing Education in July 2004.

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, aged 38, was appointed as an executive
Director and the chief executive officer (“Chief Executive
Officer”) of the Company with effect from 5 June 2019.
She has been appointed as the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company since 2013. Ms. Lam
was the financial controller of the Company from September
2013 to June 2019. Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business
Administration (Honours) in Finance from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2006 and she is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Lam has more than
ten years of experience in the areas of corporate restructuring,
financial management, merger and acquisition and auditing.
With effect from 23 June 2016, Ms. Lam has been appointed
as an executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock Code:
8018).

Ms. Pauline Lam, aged 37, was appointed as an executive
Director on 13 August 2018. She has also been an executive
director of China Overseas Nuoxin International Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Kenford Group Holdings Limited) (Stock
Code: 464), the share of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, since August 2017. Ms. Lam worked at TAG
Aviation Asia Limited from April 2013 to April 2017 and her last
position was senior client responsible manager, and worked at
China Point Enterprises Limited from Jan 2006 to July 2011 with
her last position being sales and merchandising manager. She
has extensive experiences in business strategy development and
stakeholders networking. Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree
in Business Administration from Pepperdine University, USA in
December 2004.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Keung, Joe, aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 December 2011.
Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of Arts in International
Accounting from the City University of Hong Kong and a Master
of Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong has
extensive experience in the taxation, accounting, financing, audit
fields and public listed companies for many years. Mr. Wong
is also an independent non-executive director of China Water
Industry Group Limited (Stock Code: 1129), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and Worldgate Global Logistics Limited (Stock Code: 8292), a
company whose shares are listed on GEM. He is the chairman
of each of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr. Lee King Fui, aged 41, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 13 August 2018. He has been a
director of Visionwide Consultancy Limited since October
2017. Mr. Lee is also an independent non-executive director
of China Creative Digital Entertainment Limited (Stock Code:
8078), the shares of which are listed on GEM, since July 2019,
and Easy Repay Finance & Investment Limited (Stock Code:
8079), the share of which are listed on GEM, since July 2019.
Mr. Lee has more than 18 years of experience in accounting,
corporate finance and advisory services in Malaysia and Hong
Kong. Mr. Lee served as a director of TTM Group where he was
responsible for its financial management from June 2017 to
December 2017. He worked at Enesoon Science and Technology
Limited from January 2016 to December 2016, and his last
position was vice president of strategic investment. Mr. Lee had
been the chief financial officer of different companies in Hong
Kong and the PRC namely, Legend Qilfield Services Limited, Aujet
Industry Limited, and Wellable Marine Biotech Holding Limited
for the period from August 2011 to April 2015. Prior to the
above-mentioned positions, Mr. Lee worked in KPMG Hong Kong
from October 2006 to March 2011 and the last position that he
held was senior manager. Mr. Lee obtained a master’'s degree
in accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2012. He was admitted as an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January
2012. Mr. Lee was admitted as a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in September 2003 and became
a fellow member since September 2008. Mr. Lee was also
admitted as a chartered accountant of the Malaysian Institute
of Accountants since March 2004. He is a member of each of
the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Board.
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Mr. Ho Kin Wai, aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 January 2019. He obtained a
bachelor of science in management in August 1999 from the
Royal Holloway and Bedford New College, University of London
(currently known as Royal Holloway, University of London) in
the United Kingdom and a master of science in interactive
multimedia in June 2001 from the Middlesex University in the
United Kingdom. Mr. Ho has over 12 years of experience in the
footwear industry. From July 2003 to January 2009, he served
as sales merchandiser of Betastar Trading Limited, the principal
business of which was the trading of children’s footwear,
responsible for sourcing footwear manufacturers, developing
footwear, and handling and monitoring order process. He has
acted as a director of Ever Smart International Enterprise Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jimu Group Limited (Stock Code:
8187) ("Jimu"), the shares of which are listed on GEM, since
January 2009. Mr. Ho is one of the founders of Jimu and he was
appointed as a director of Jimu in February 2015. He was then
redesignated as an executive director of Jimu and appointed as
its chairman and chief executive officer in September 2015. He
ceased to be the chairman of Jimu with effect from December
2017. He is responsible for the overall business development,
sales, strategic planning and major decision-making of Jimu.
With effect from June 2017, he has been an independent
non-executive director of Lapco Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8472), the shares of which are listed on GEM. Mr. Ho has
also been a director and vice chairman of Fit Boxx Holdings
Limited since 2 May 2018. He is a member of each of the audit
committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee
of the Board.
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The Directors present herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019. The Management Discussion and Analysis in
this Annual Report forms part of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's revenue for the year under review was derived from
its business activities carried on in Hong Kong, Australia and the
PRC. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2019 by operating segments is set out in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 is set out in the paragraph headed “BUSINESS
AND FINANCIAL REVIEW" in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 8 to 18 in this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
Risks which are relevant to the Group and its business

(i) Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT
services

The Group's mobile internet cultural business and provision
of IT services is sensitive to the general economic conditions.
A severe or prolonged downturn in the global economy
or the Chinese economy could materially and adversely
affect the Group’s business, financial conditions, results
of operations and prospects. Economic conditions in the
PRC are sensitive to the global economic conditions. Since
84.9% of the Group's revenue for the year under review
(2018: 76.5%) was derived from the mobile internet cultural
business and provision of IT services in the PRC, the Group's
business and prospects are substantially affected by the
economic conditions in the PRC, especially following the
recent outbreak of the COVID-19, the negative impact on
the economy is enormous and the operation and financial
performance of the Group’s mobile internet cultural business
and provision of IT services business during the first quarter
of 2020 have been adversely affected by the COVID-19.
As a result of the COVID-19, there is a significant pressure
on the cashflow of the Group’s business of mobile internet
cultural business and provision of IT services owing to (1) the
operation of some of the customers of this business segment
have been suspended, which led to a decrease in demand
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for the Group's IT services; and (2) the operation efficiency
of this business segment has been adversely affected given
that some of the staff under this business segment had been
under quarantine in their hometown and could not return
to office to work or need to work at home which adversely
affects the ability of the Group to deliver its services to meet
with customers’ orders. The Group is considering different
means to raise fund for maintaining the operations of this
business segment. The Group will closely take note of its
development and its impact on the Group's businesses. The
Group will proactively take preventive measures to mitigate
the impact of the COVID-19 on its businesses.

The IT industry is characterised by rapid technological
changes, changes in consumer preferences, quick
development and enhancement of services and products and
emerging industry standards. The introduction of services or
products embodying new technologies and the emergence
of new industry standards and practices can render existing
services or products obsolete and unmarketable. The
Group's future success will depend, in part, on its ability
to: (i) develop new products and services that address the
increasingly sophisticated and varied needs of prospective
customers; and (ii) respond to technological advances and
emerging industry standards and practices on a timely and
cost-effective basis. If the Group is unable to develop and
introduce new products in a timely manner in response to
changing market conditions and/or customer requirements,
or if its new products and services do not achieve market
acceptance, the Group’s business will be harmed. The
Group's development of new products and services entail
significant technological risks. The Group cannot assure that
it will succeed in using new technologies effectively, adapting
its services and products to emerging industry standards,
developing, introducing and marketing enhancements of its
services and products, or introducing its new products and
services.

As the market for the IT business is highly competitive,
when the Group develops new applications and software
in the future, it may face further operating and marketing
challenges. If the Group fails to successfully develop and
launch new products in the competitive markets or if the
products developed by the Group lack popularity, the
Group may not be able to capture the growth opportunities
associated with these new products or recover the costs
associated with developing and marketing such products,
which may materially and adversely affect the Group’s
business, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth strategies. The Group manages its IT business
through the adoption of cost controls, the establishment of
an internal control system and the maintenance of a positive
corporate culture that attracts and retains talents.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

mEEPATENRNERTIMTE KM
HUEBDBNELERRERTNZE -
AEELZEXRATRATAEEES A
RaZEBHMNEZ -AEBKZVER
HEREEVASERBOZE NEKE
1 A& 1R ERER TR R 15 e DA 4R R 37 AL B R i B
HEXBGHRE-

BEAMBITENRMTER LR BEER
HEPHRR RERERETER LR
BT AT 5 Al HE BR 3 o 9 2 R
il &0 AR 7% 2K EE dm DA B 3 BT RAZE B )
MR A RE e < B R F A ARG B E m K
IR K E T 85 o A5 B R 2R A A A
DEURIATNEET) ¢ (i) B H 2 o B AR -
AmREEEPHRBEMRRZB#ONT X
B (i) DA BB B AR 3R ek 19 05 3 % By B S 9%
MEHMITEENEBHIOHE - BFAE
[0 808 Ko By B B K HE R am - DA S B
BEENTHHERRNEHEPFR LM
H¥EmLRFEEZRTIZER BIA
SENEBHSXINTFNEE KEEHH
BIEmRRIEEREERNORMRER
AREELARELEBRERAMZM <R
BREMSAOENITRED FRE-
HE 3 T AR L B A MEE m Ek HE L R E &%
AR 77 T S 2 A B

HREAMREBHSEHF AN RNEE
RBERFAENER N A EmERE
ZHRERMISHERIE - EAKEEX
& (R T AR B0 T 55 AR 3D e 3 % A R
Em XAEERENERTXZ TR A
7N SR [ A] e A HE 4 B2 b it A E an AR A FY
R M o B 5% < E o B R N S AR
AR SR e HANEE R M
BN EE KA MIERREEEREAD
MEE NEBEBRBRAES 2T
P BBZ B R AT A R s 55 A R 5| R B EA S
MRIFERXIEREEEEMBRES-

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR 41



(ii)

42

In addition, as set out in the paragraph headed “INFORMATION
ON THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS OF SOMETHING
BIG GROUP" in this Directors’ Report, the Group owns
28.8% equity interest of Something Big and does not have
control over the Something Big Group. The Group will rely on
PrimeVision (as defined in such paragraph) to exercise control
over the Shanghai Group (as defined in such paragraph)
through the Contractual Arrangements (as defined in such
paragraph). If PrimeVision fails to exercise its right under
the Contractual Arrangements or otherwise fails to exercise
control and obtain the economic benefits from the Shanghai
Group through the Contractual Arrangements, the financial
results of Something Big could be materially and adversely
affected. As a result, the Group's investment in Something Big
could also be materially and adversely affected. In addition to
ensuring that the operations of the Contractual Arrangements
are sound and effective, the Group will from time to time seek
advice from external professionals and relevant regulatory
authorities in the PRC on any regulatory updates in relation to
the Contractual Arrangements, so that the Group will be in
compliance with the relevant regulations with respect to the
Contractual Arrangements.

In addition, details of the concentration risk and credit risk
associated with the major customer of the Group in relation
to its provision of IT services business are discussed in the
paragraph headed “RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS”
in this Directors’ Report.

Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

The local business risks in Australia in relation to the Group's
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia could
have material impact on the businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects of the Group’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia.
The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to
different and changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory
and environmental requirements at the local, national or
international level in Australia. Also, new policies or measures
introduced by the governments in Australia, whether fiscal,
tax, regulatory or environmental, or other changes taking
place which affect market competition, may lead to an
increase in the Group's operating expenses and capital
expenditures, an increase in market competition, a decrease
in the overall investment return of the Group’s businesses
and may delay or disrupt the commercial operation of a
business resulting in a loss of revenue and profit, which may
adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects. Following the
recent outbreak of the COVID-19, the Group's provision of
hospitality and related services in Australia business during
the first quarter of 2020 has been adversely affected by
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the COVID-19. In light of the declining economic growth
in Australia and the global outbreak of the COVID-19, the
demand for the services of the Resorts has decreased and
is expected to continue to decrease until the third quarter
of 2020. In particular, it is expected that the performance
of Bellinzona Resort Cellar Door & Dining and Cleveland
Winery Resort & Events, which offer conference facilities
and mainly target corporate clients, will be more adversely
affected as a result of the restrictions of meetings or
conferences implemented by the Australian government due
to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. In March 2020,
the Australian government has taken strict measures to
combat the outbreak of the COVID-19 including new social
distancing rules which discourage people from gathering at
certain places and situations such as restaurants, cafes, pubs
and clubs and weddings and close pubs, casinos, restaurants
and other venue from 23 March 2020. In view of the policies
of the Australian government to combat the COVID-19, the
operation of the Resorts has been temporarily suspended with
effect from 30 March 2020 until further notice, subject to the
development of the COVID-19 in Australia and the policies of
the Australian government. The Group will closely take note of
its development and its impact on the Group’s businesses. The
Group will proactively take preventive measures to mitigate the
impact of the COVID-19 on its businesses.

The results of the Group are reported in Hong Kong dollars
but its subsidiaries may receive revenue and incur expenses
in other currencies. Any currency fluctuations arising from
the translation of the accounts of these subsidiaries, and the
repatriation of earnings, equity investments and loans may
adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects. A depreciation or
fluctuation in the currencies in which the Group conducts its
operations relative to the Hong Kong dollar could adversely
affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions, results of
operations and growth prospects.

The Group is in the process of implementing its strategy of
achieving a diversified business portfolio to reduce its reliance
on revenue and income generated from one single segment
or geographical location, so as to minimise the risks related
to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates. The Group
may also consider to use appropriate hedging instruments,
including futures and forward contracts in the management
of exposure caused by fluctuations in the foreign exchange
rates.
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(iii) Money lending business

The money lending business of the Group is exposed to
possible default from the customers, which involves the risk
of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of customers
to meet their contractual obligations. If the customers of
the money lending business of the Group fail to meet their
contractual obligations, the Company may need to incur
additional costs to realise the collaterals for the relevant
secured loans. The risks of losses will be higher for unsecured
loans in the event of default. However, the Group has
adopted prudent credit procedures in customers’ acceptance
so as to minimise the credit risk of the Group.

(iv) Assets investments business

For the Group’s business of trading of securities in Hong
Kong, the Group aims at maximising the profits of the
Company for the Shareholders and will revamp its investment
strategy and explore securities investment opportunities with
due care and diligence. Due to the volatility and uncertainties
of the securities market in Hong Kong, the Group may suffer
losses on securities trading in the future if the investment
strategy the Group has adopted does not fit the then market
conditions. The Group will regularly review its investment
portfolio and determine a suitable investment strategy to
cater for the changes in the market conditions.

Risks which are relevant to the industry and market in
which the Group operates

The Group’s success will depend, in part, on its ability to respond
to technological advances. The Group may not be successful
in responding quickly, cost-effectively and sufficiently to these
developments. If the Group is unable, for technical, financial
or other reasons, to adapt in a timely manner in response to
technological advances, it will not be able to compete effectively
and the business of the Group will be adversely affected.
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The Group may face risks and uncertainties posed by local
political, regulatory and religious environments and failure
to comply with country-specific regulatory restrictions may
expose the Group to fines, penalties and liabilities. There is no
assurance that the current government policies, economic and
social conditions in the regions where the Group's business
operates will not undergo significant changes in the future.
Any new rules and regulations introduced and implemented in
the future which regulate the provision of IT services (including
the mobile internet cultural business), hospitality business
and related services in Australia, money lending business and
assets investments business, may adversely affect the business,
international expansion and growth prospects of the Group. The
Group will from time to time obtain updates on relevant rules
and regulations from external professionals to review and ensure
the Group is in compliance with the applicable regulations and
requirements.

Financial Instrument Risks

The Group is subject to market risks, such as those in relation
to currency fluctuations and volatility of interest rates, price
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk in the normal course of the
Group's business. Particulars of the nature and extent of financial
instrument risks of the Company are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Since the outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") in January 2020, the prevention and control of the
COVID-19 has been implemented across the PRC and Australia.
The COVID-19 has certain impacts on the business operation for
various industries and overall global economy. It is expected that
the COVID-19 has negative impact of the financial performance
of the Group in the first quarter of 2020. The Group will keep
continuous attention on the situation of the COVID-19, assess
and react actively to its impacts on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.

As detailed in note 25(d) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has entered into the supplemental agreement with
Bailihong subsequent to the end of the reporting period in April
2020, pursuant to which, Bailihong agreed not to demand for
repayment of the Bailihong Loans within the next 12 months
after the date of the supplemental agreement.

As detailed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the substantial shareholder of the Company has entered into
a loan facility agreement with the Company in April 2020,
pursuant to which, the substantial shareholder has agreed to
provide the Loan Facility of up to HK$70,000,000 to the Group
for the purpose of its general working capital.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the consolidated financial results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years are set out on page 296 in this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year under review are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 147. The Board does not
recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 82.9% of the total sales for the year under review,
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 80.1%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 21.9% of the total
purchases for the year under review, and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
6.6%.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (whom to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest at any time during the year under review
in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year under
review and up to the date of this Annual Report amounted to
approximately HK$779,000 (2018: HK$152,000).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s acquisitions and disposals during the
year under review and the particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in notes 12(c), 30 and 1 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year under review are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

M mE

AEBBEREYRFEZEETHEEMN
LA BEERABHMEBENARFRE296H -

;

ES PS8 ¥

AEEREBFREZEZEHNEI4TELEAR
ahEmEEEER - %%AIT@.@/)EH@
ECE-NF+A=T-BHLEFEBRE (=
T—)\F E)-

\

TERPRMHER

AARERREPEL 2 HENTBEFEH
ERENKNB2.9% EF I RAZKATFEH
ZHHEHIB0.1% cARNKERAREREELZ
REBAEBEFERBAENKN21.9% E95
KA &R AHER L 2 REX6.6% °

BEEMA MEEE HERBBALNE
MRE (BEEMABFEEARREBITRA
#BB5% ) 7 [B] B 4F E (E {a] B R A AN & B {]
ARBFPHEEEHEE T #EE -

B

DEFEARBEAFHRAPAEENMEZ
EBRREEEANRTT9,0008 T (ZFE—N\F:
152,000/ 7T) ©

Bt B A =]
NOEERE  AEBRERHERATMBA

T&Eéﬂ#li’\?aﬂ%ﬁ“ BB mRMEE
12(c)~ 3011 °

W% BB M RE

KEIW%J*%& DS TALRELES T B E L
FE R M IFHRRMIFEI2 -

46 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019



SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 150 in this Annual
Report and note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had distributable reserve
of approximately HK$239,092,000 (2018: HK$364,817,000)
including accumulated losses of approximately HK$964,449,000
(2018: approximately HK$838,724,000). Under the Company’s
memorandum of association and the Bye-laws and the
Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus and share premium of the Company of approximately
HK$693,308,000 and approximately HK$510,233,000, as at
31 December 2018 and 2019, respectively, are distributable to
the Shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or pay
a dividend, or make distribution out of the distribution reserve if:

(@) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the year under review and
up to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Hui Chun Sum
(Chairman)

Ms. Lam Ching Yee (appointed as an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 5 June 2019)

Ms. Pauline Lam

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe

Mr. Lee King Fui

Mr. Ho Kin Wai (appointed with effect from
10 January 2019)

(resigned with effect from

10 January 2019)

Mr. Leung Ting Yuk

In accordance with Bye-Law 84 of the Bye-Laws of the Company
(the “Bye-Laws”), Mr. Hui Chun Sum and Ms. Pauline Lam will
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

In accordance with Bye-Law 83(2) of the Bye-Laws, Ms. Lam
Ching Yee will retire and being eligible, will offer herself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

None of the Directors who are being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Each of Mr. Hui Chun Sum, Ms. Pauline Lam, Ms. Lam Ching
Yee, Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Ho Kin Wai and Mr. Lee King
Fui has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to the requirement of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has received an annual written confirmation of his
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Hui Chun Sum, an executive Director, is the ultimate sole
shareholder of Chinese Financial Limited, which is a company
principally engaged in the money lending business in Hong Kong.

Ms. Pauline Lam, an executive Director, is the director and sole
shareholder of Jin Li Da Limited, which is a company principally
engaged in the money lending business in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee King Fui, an independent non-executive Director, is an
independent non-executive director of Easy Repay Finance &
Investment Limited (Stock Code: 8079), the shares of which are
listed on GEM and is principally engaged in the money lending
business in Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
shareholder of the Company or their respective close associates
had an interest in any business, apart from the businesses of
the Group, which competes or may compete either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year under
review.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for those disclosed in the paragraph headed “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME" in this Directors’ Report, at no time during or
at the end of the year under review was there any arrangement
where rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or their respective spouse or minor children to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had, or was deemed to have, any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “"SFO")) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by the
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

BEAH
REBFE AREMETLRFEGRRAN
RAZ A ERMERE D X 2 EERITH
TEZEH-

SEEREERNAEF ZEF]

RAEEEREE [BRENS] —BARE
EI - ROBEFEEEREREKFER SER
TRESFIWESAZIRBHIBHEA T 2T
TR Al BB B AN B i) A 75 PATEER
MR BN ML BENBTEIMNERH
M AR B Ko B AT ARIPH B A R IR EERT AL AE
MZHFANCEEAREFSEA ZEBAARKF
FRAIMEREMEABRESHEBERN-

5= MTHABER AR B ARG
MR GD MMEF 2 Em AR

RZE-—NF+_A=+—H BELRQFTE
ERITHEBES B R AR G 2H E R 5
(BBEEPIFSNEFHRHEERD ([3F
HFRBE®RHB)EXVIE ZRE) 2D A
B RESHEF  BEIRIEEB CERNIRE
BHELEBERAIEIRBEFE TRl 2 #
#HEOKB SR GEM AR B 585.48%5.67
RFTEMESETRR G 2HATENMERR
RIRH R Tz Em RORE -

50 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2019, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Substantial Shareholder — long position in the shares of the
Company
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Number of
ordinary
shares  Approximate
(the “Shares”) percentage
Name of Shareholder Capacity involved (Note)
B R
BERR G BHABED T
IRt & ) ([l BE (H3E)
Cheng Hei Yu Beneficial owner 3,765,987,973 70.57%
= EREAA
Note: P5E

The approximate percentage is calculated based on the total issued
Shares as at 31 December 2019, i.e. 5,336,235,108 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, there were
no Shareholders or other persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company recorded in the
register as required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the emolument policy of the Company are set out in
the paragraph headed "EMPLOYEES" REMUNERATION POLICIES”
in the Management Discussion and Analysis on page 35 in this
Annual Report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board is authorised, at
its absolute discretion, to grant options to eligible participants
including any employee, contracted celebrity, advisor, consultant,
service provider, agent, customer, partner or joint venture partner
of the Group (including any director, whether executive or non-
executive and whether independent or not, of the Group) who
is in full time or part time employment with the Group at the
time when an option is granted to such employee, or any person
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or may
contribute to the Group.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives and help the
Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest
in attaining the long-term business objectives of the Company.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme
would not exceed 1% of the aggregate number of shares for the
time being issued and issuable in any 12-month period under the
Scheme.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

The exercise price will be determined by the Directors, but may
not be less than the highest of the closing price of the shares on
the GEM on the date of the grant of the option or the average
of the closing price of the shares on the GEM for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant of the
option or the nominal value of the shares.

The Scheme shall remain in force for the period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date of the Scheme which was
12 November 2010.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 533,623,510 shares of HK$0.01 each
(representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this Annual Report). During the
year ended 31 December 2019, no options have been granted
under the existing Scheme limit.
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An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant but subject
to the early termination of the Scheme.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held or
no performance target which must be achieved before any of the
options can be exercised.

As at 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019, there were no
share options outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Scheme.

Details of the Scheme are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save that the related party transactions as disclosed in note 35(a)
to the consolidated financial statements constituted continuing
connected transaction or connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules of the Company, the related
party transactions disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements do not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director and the Director’s connected party or a controlling
shareholder had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the year under review and up to the
date of this Annual Report.
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INFORMATION ON THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS OF SOMETHING BIG GROUP

The Group owns 28.8% equity interest of Something Big.
A wholly-owned subsidiary of Something Big, Something
Big Technology Company Limited (“HK SBT"), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and another wholly-owned subsidiary
of HK SBT, % & ( 18 ) 48 B 5 B BR 2 7] (unofficial English
translation being “PrimeVision Tech Company Limited”)
("PrimeVision”), a company incorporated in the PRC,
have been operating their business through contract-based
arrangements and/or structures (“Contractual Arrangements”)
for the purpose of enabling the Something Big Group and the
shareholders of Something Big, including the Company, as
foreign investors to control and benefit from the PRC operating
companies (“OPCO") of the Something Big Group, i.e. Shanghai
Wanijia (as defined below) and Shanghai SBT (as defined below),
in the foreign restricted businesses in the PRC.

A summary of the information of the Contractual Arrangements
and the OPCO is as follows:

1. LBmEMA &R AR 2 8 (unofficial English translation
being “Shanghai Wanjia Network Technology Co.,
Ltd.) (“Shanghai Wanjia”) and its subsidiary, - 5
R BB R AR 2D 7 (unofficial English translation
being “ShanghaiSomething Big Technology Co., Ltd.)
(“Shanghai SBT”) (Shanghai Wanjia and Shanghai SBT
collectively as “Shanghai Group”)

1.1 Particulars of the OPCO and their registered owners

Shanghai Wanjia is a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 17 July 2012. As at the date of this Annual
Report, Shanghai Wanjia held the entire equity interest
in Shanghai SBT, which is a limited liability company
established in the PRC.

The registered shareholders of Shanghai Wanjia are Mr.
Lu Le (“Mr. Lu”) (50%) and Mr. Mao Yiging (“Mr. Mao")
(50%).
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1.2 Description of the OPCO’s business

Shanghai Wanjia is principally engaged in the
development and operation of mobile online games
business and is considered to be engaged in the provision
of Internet culture business. Shanghai Wanjia holds
certain network cultural operation licences issued by the
relevant authority of the PRC government in relation
to the operation of the Shanghai Group, including the
value-added telecommunications business operating
licence (B EEBEEBLEFTIE), which is generally
known as the “Internet content provider licence” (“ICP
Licence”) and the Online Cultural Business Operation
Licence.

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative
List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (2019) ( {4h
BREEAFHEREE (BEBE) 2019F M) ) )
jointly issued by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(FEARAFMEEHE) ("MOFCOM”) and the
National Development and Reform Commission of
the PRC, the Internet culture business falls within the
category of industries prohibiting foreign investment.
On 15 December 2017, the Ministry of Culture of the
PRC (R 2E AR ZAMBEI /L EB) , currently known as the
Ministry of Culture and Tourism of the PRC (A2 A R
B AL AR EF) (“MOC”), issued the revised Interim
Provisions on the Administration of the Internet Culture
((EB#EEERETHRT) ) ("Internet Culture
Interim Provisions”), effective from the same date.
According to the Internet Culture Interim Provisions,
“Internet cultural products” are defined as including the
online games specially produced for Internet and games
reproduced or provided through the Internet. Provision of
Internet cultural products and related services is subject
to the approval of the MOC or its provincial counterpart.
The MOC issued the Circular on Implementation of the
Newly Revised Interim Provisions on the Administration
of Internet Culture (AR E 1] (& B A Xt
EREITHE) BBA) on 18 March 2011, which
provides that any competent government authorities of
the PRC will not accept applications by foreign-invested
Internet content providers for operation of Internet
culture business (other than online music business) at
the moment. Accordingly, Something Big cannot acquire
equity interest in Shanghai Wanjia through PrimeVision,
as the Something Big Group conducts operation of
mobile-online games, which falls within the ambit of
Internet culture business, a category of business in
which foreign investors are prohibited to hold any equity
interest.
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As a result of the foregoing, Something Big, through
PrimeVision, has entered into the Contractual
Arrangements with Shanghai Wanjia to conduct the
online games business in the PRC in order to comply
with the applicable PRC laws and regulations and to
assert management control over the operations of, and
enjoy all of the economic benefits of, the Shanghai
Group. The Contractual Arrangements are designed
specifically to confer upon PrimeVision the right to enjoy
all the economic benefits of Shanghai Group, to exercise
management control over the operations of Shanghai
Group, and to prevent leakages of assets and values
of Shanghai Group to the registered shareholders of
Shanghai Wanjia.

1.3 Summary of the major terms of the underlying

contracts of the Contractual Arrangements

Exclusive Technology Services and Management
Consulting Agreement

PrimeVision and Shanghai Wanjia entered into the
Exclusive Technology Services and Management
Consulting Agreement and its supplemental agreements,
pursuant to which Shanghai Wanjia agrees to engage
PrimeVision as its exclusive consultant and service
provider. Accordingly, PrimeVision shall provide advice
and recommendations to Shanghai Wanjia and its
subsidiary in respect of, among others, (i) consulting
services on the management and operations of Shanghai
Wanijia; (i) consulting services on professional training to
the employees of Shanghai Wanijia; (iii) consulting services
on market research; (iv) technical consulting services on
research and development of computer and portable
device software and games; (v) technical consulting
services on development or design of webpages
and websites; (vi) provision of relevant information
management system; (vii) provision of technology
supports and related consulting services; and (viii) hiring
of relevant technical personnel and provision of training
and field guidance.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Services and
Management Consulting Agreement, Shanghai Wanjia
shall pay to PrimeVision a service fee that equals to the
profit of Shanghai Wanjia, after offsetting the prior-year
loss (if any), expenses and tax of Shanghai Wanjia, thus
all economic benefits of Shanghai Wanjia will belong to
PrimeVision. Shanghai Wanjia shall pay the service fee
every six months.
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The Exclusive Technology Services and Management
Consulting Agreement is for an indefinite term
commencing from the date of the agreement (i.e.
31 January 2014), until it is terminated (i) by PrimeVision
by giving a 30 days’ prior notice of termination; or (ii)
upon the acquisition of the entire equity interests in,
and/or all assets of, Shanghai Wanjia by PrimeVision
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement (as defined
below). Shanghai Wanjia is not contractually entitled
to terminate the Exclusive Technology Services and
Management Consulting Agreement.

Proxy Agreement

PrimeVision, Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders entered
into the proxy agreement (the “Proxy Agreement”) and
its supplemental agreements, pursuant to which Mr. Lu
and Mr. Mao agreed to enter into powers of attorney to
irrevocably authorise PrimeVision to exercise all of their
rights and powers as shareholders of Shanghai Wanijia.
PrimeVision will act on behalf of Mr. Lu and Mr. Mao on
all matters pertaining to Shanghai Wanjia and, to the
extent permissible under applicable PRC laws, exercise
all of their respective rights as a shareholder thereof,
including (i) rights to attend shareholders’ meeting; (ii)
rights to exercise voting rights in a shareholders’ meeting;
(iii) rights to convene extraordinary shareholders’ meeting;
(iv) rights to sign minutes or resolutions of shareholders’
meetings or other legal documents; (v) rights to instruct
directors or the legal representative of Shanghai Wanjia
to act in accordance with all instructions of PrimeVision;
(vi) other shareholders’ rights and voting rights under the
articles of association of Shanghai Wanjia; (vii) rights to
file documents with relevant governmental authorities
or regulatory bodies; (viii) rights to decide any transfer
or otherwise disposal of the equity interest of Mr. Lu
and Mr. Mao in Shanghai Wanijia; and (ix) such other
shareholders’ rights as stipulated under applicable PRC
laws, rules and regulations and the articles of association
of Shanghai Wanjia. No prior consent of Mr. Lu and
Mr. Mao is required for the exercise of any of the
aforesaid shareholders’ rights by PrimeVision.

The Proxy Agreement is for an indefinite term
commencing from the date of the agreement (i.e.
31 January 2014), until it is terminated (i) by PrimeVision
by giving a 30 days’ prior notice of termination; or (ii)
upon the acquisition of the entire equity interests in,
and/or all assets of, Shanghai Wanjia by PrimeVision
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement (as defined
below). Mr. Lu, Mr. Mao and Shanghai Wanjia are not
contractually entitled to terminate the Proxy Agreement.
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Business Cooperation Agreement

PrimeVision, Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders
entered into a business cooperation agreement (the
“Business Cooperation Agreement”) and its
supplemental agreements, pursuant to which Shanghai
Wanjia and its shareholders agreed to appoint persons
designated by PrimeVision to be the chairman (when
applicable), directors/executive directors, general
manager, chief financial controller and other senior
management of Shanghai Wanjia and its subsidiaries.
Mr. Lu and Mr. Mao, together with Shanghai Wanjia,
have also agreed in the Business Cooperation Agreement
that, unless there is a prior written consent from
PrimeVision or its appointee, Mr. Lu, Mr. Mao and
Shanghai Wanjia will not sell, transfer, lease or authorise
any or all material assets of Shanghai Wanjia, including
but not limited to intellectual property. In addition, under
the Business Cooperation Agreement, PrimeVision shall
have the right to obtain and review the business data,
financial information and other information relevant to
the operations and business of Shanghai Wanjia and
its subsidiary. Pursuant to the Business Cooperation
Agreement, in the event that there occur circumstances
of dissolution, liquidation, bankruptcy or restructuring
of PrimeVision, Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders
shall, as HK SBT so instructs, procure Shanghai Wanjia
and its subsidiary to sell or otherwise dispose of the
whole or part of their equity interest or assets and all the
proceeds obtained therefrom shall be transferred, at nil
consideration, to HK SBT or its nominee. The shareholders
of Shanghai Wanjia undertake that in the event that
there occurs circumstances of dissolution or liquidation of
Shanghai Wanjia, all the proceeds from such dissolution
or liquidation shall be transferred, at nil consideration, to
PrimeVision's or HK SBT's nominee.

The Business Cooperation Agreement is for an indefinite
term commencing from the date of the agreement (i.e.
31 January 2014), until it is terminated (i) by PrimeVision
by giving a 30 days’ prior notice of termination; or
(i) upon the acquisition of the entire equity interests
in, or all assets of, Shanghai Wanjia by PrimeVision
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement (as defined
below). Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders are
not contractually entitled to terminate the Business
Cooperation Agreement.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019

E N3

wE LBRANERRDILER
BEHE ((RBEESERR]) REMT
W it EEmRN N ERRRZE
EHREBHIKZALRLEEM K& HEH
BRAZER (WEAR) BEF /AT
Ex Kl MBRENEMSRE
BE-EEENELRLERLBEN
TREBEERETHE FRIFGE
FTEIEZEAZELREARE &
AfER L -FERER BRI S
HE WE M8 LERIEASsES
BEAREE (BREEMNRRABERE) K
SLULIE L IR A - B ON - RIBEF A 1F 1
ZTERAENGLENELER
MEEMEARZEREEABNE
BEIE MBERMEMER RIEXE
BalEmE MEBR M B8
WESBAZEN LEEDEER
REBRBBAEREMETR REL
TR R AN B AR SR AT
NEEZF QR A D 2 B K
BE UHHEMBZAERATH
BESZRTESREMZHERRBA
FETEN 2 BRR R A e e TR
DHEBMABFRERN BB
BRAIGZAEFAKTHEEER
THEBABBAETRRZREBA

EBEEHALERTFH i
A (A —F-—WFEF-A=1t—H)i&
AAEE()TEELIBZEERLLE
A () IR 7B AR IR B R R U
#Z(EER T WELEBRNZ 2F
REXEEHEER TAKRIERIE £
ABTR K B RAERE AR A RTE A 1F 1

R
2
A ©



Appropriate arrangements have been made to protect
Something Big's interest in the event of the death,
bankruptcy or divorce of the registered shareholders
of Shanghai Wanjia to avoid any practical difficulties
in enforcing the Contractual Arrangements. Under the
Business Cooperation Agreement, Mr. Lu and Mr. Mao
warrant to PrimeVision that appropriate arrangements
will be made to protect PrimeVision’s interests in the
event of their death, loss of civil capacity, bankruptcy
or divorce to avoid any practical difficulties in enforcing
the Business Cooperation Agreement. In this regard,
the spouse of each of the registered shareholders of
Shanghai Wanijia has executed an irrevocable undertaking
on 5 June 2014, whereby the spouses expressly and
irrevocably acknowledged that, among other things,
they would not claim any rights including but not limited
to communal property interests in the equity interests
held by the shareholders of Shanghai Wanjia, would
assume all the responsibilities and obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements whenever they get the equity
interests in Shanghai Wanjia as a result of any reason and
would not take any actions or launch any suits in conflicts
with the purposes of the Contractual Arrangements.

Exclusive Option Agreement

PrimeVision, Mr. Mao, Mr. Lu and Shanghai Wanjia
entered into an exclusive option agreement (the
“Exclusive Option Agreement”) and its supplemental
agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Mao and Mr. Lu
irrevocably grant to PrimeVision or the person as
designated by PrimeVision exclusive options to purchase,
to the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations,
their equity interests in Shanghai Wanjia, entirely or
partially, at an aggregate consideration of RMB1 for
each option or a minimum purchase price permitted
by PRC laws and regulations. In addition, pursuant to
the Exclusive Option Agreement, Mr. Mao, Mr. Lu and
Shanghai Wanjia irrevocably granted to PrimeVision
or the person as designated by PrimeVision, exclusive
options to acquire, to the extent permitted by PRC laws
and regulations, all or part of the assets of Shanghai
Wanjia which include intellectual property at an
aggregate consideration of RMB1 for each option or a
minimum purchase price permitted under PRC laws and
regulations. PrimeVision may exercise such options at
any time until it or person designated by it has acquired
all equity interests or assets of Shanghai Wanjia or
unilaterally terminated the Exclusive Option Agreement
by giving 30 days’ prior notice, subject to the applicable
PRC laws and regulations.
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In addition, Mr. Lu and Mr. Mao may not (i) dispose
of or procure senior management of Shanghai Wanjia
to dispose of any material assets of Shanghai Wanjia
without prior written consent from PrimeVision, or
(ii) pass or approve any resolution with respect to the
liquidation and dissolution of Shanghai Wanjia. Based on
this, the Contractual Arrangements encompass dealing
with the assets of Shanghai Group, and not only the right
to manage its business and the right to revenue. This is
to ensure that the liquidator, acting on the Contractual
Arrangements, can seize the assets of Shanghai Group in
a winding up situation for the benefit of the shareholders
and creditors of PrimeVision.

The Exclusive Option Agreement is for an indefinite
term commencing from the date of the agreement (i.e.
31 January 2014), until it is terminated (i) by PrimeVision
by giving a 30 days’ prior notice of termination; or (ii)
upon the acquisition of the entire equity interests or all
assets of, Shanghai Wanjia by PrimeVision or person
designated by it pursuant to the Exclusive Option
Agreement. Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders are not
contractually entitled to terminate the Exclusive Option
Agreement. In addition, Mr. Mao and Mr. Lu undertake
under the Exclusive Option Agreement that they will
return to PrimeVision or the person as designated by
PrimeVision or HK SBT any proceeds, which exceed the
aggregate consideration of RMB1 as agreed under the
Exclusive Option Agreement, they will receive upon the
exercise of the aforesaid exclusive options.
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Equity Pledge Agreement

PrimeVision, Mr. Mao, Mr. Lu and Shanghai Wanjia
entered into an equity pledge agreement and its
supplemental agreement (collectively, the “Equity
Pledge Agreement”), pursuant to which Mr. Mao
and Mr. Lu shall pledge all of their respective equity
interests in Shanghai Wanjia to PrimeVision to secure the
performance of all of their obligations and the obligations
of Shanghai Wanjia under the Contractual Arrangements.
Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, PrimeVision
has a first priority pledge on all or any part of the equity
interests in Shanghai Wanjia held by Mr. Lu and Mr. Mao.
Under the Equity Pledge Agreement, if Mr. Mao and/or
Mr. Lu and/or Shanghai Wanjia breach any obligation
under the Contractual Arrangements, PrimeVision, as the
pledgee, is entitled to request Mr. Mao and/or Mr. Lu to
transfer the pledged equity interests, entirely or partially
to PrimeVision and/or any entity or person as designated
by PrimeVision. In addition, pursuant to the Equity Pledge
Agreement, each of Mr. Mao and Mr. Lu undertakes to
PrimeVision, among other things, not to transfer the
interest in his respective equity interests in Shanghai
Wanjia and not to create any pledge thereon without
PrimeVision's prior written consent.

The Equity Pledge Agreement is for an indefinite
term commencing on the date of the agreement (i.e.
31 January 2014), until (i) all the relevant obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements have been
fulfilled; (ii) all the relevant debts under the Contractual
Arrangements have been settled; or (iii) it is terminated
by PrimeVision by giving a 30 days’ prior notice of
termination. Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders are
not contractually entitled to terminate the Equity Pledge
Agreement.
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Power of Attorney

Mr. Lu and Mr. Mao has severally issued a power
of attorney to PrimeVision, pursuant to which they
irrevocably authorise PrimeVision to exercise all of their
rights and powers as shareholders of Shanghai Wanjia,
including (i) the rights to attend shareholders’ meeting;
(i) the rights to exercise voting rights in a shareholders’
meeting; (iii) the rights to convene extraordinary
shareholders’ meeting; (iv) the rights to sign minutes
or resolutions of shareholders’ meetings or other legal
documents; (v) the rights to instruct directors or the legal
representative of Shanghai Wanjia to act in accordance
with all instructions of PrimeVision; (vi) the rights to file
documents with relevant governmental authorities or
regulatory bodies; and (vii) other shareholders’ rights and
voting rights under the articles of association of Shanghai
Wanijia.

Spousal Consent

Each of the spouse of Mr. Lu and Mr. Mao has issued a
spousal consent to PrimeVision and HK SBT, pursuant to
which they irrevocably promised that they will observe
the Contractual Arrangements in any case if they
obtain any of the equity interests of Shanghai Wanjia or
Shanghai SBT as a result of any reason and make best
effort to ensure the obligations of Shanghai Wanjia and
Shanghai SBT under the Contractual Arrangements will
be observed.

Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements

The revenue attributable to Shanghai Group (i.e. the
Contractual Arrangements) amounted to approximately
RMB911,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
total assets and net assets attributable to Shanghai Group (i.e.
the Contractual Arrangements) amounted to approximately
RMB27,065,000 and RMB17,620,000 respectively for
the year ended 31 December 2019. As Something Big is
an associate of the Company, the revenue and assets of
the Shanghai Group have not been consolidated into the
financial results of the Group for the year under review.
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3. Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The PRC government may determine that corporate
structure of the Something Big Group or the Contractual
Arrangements are not in compliance with any existing
or future applicable PRC laws or regulations.

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the mobile-online
game businesses of the Something Big Group in the PRC
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if these regulations or their interpretations change in the
future, the Something Big Group could be subject to severe
consequences, including nullification of the Contractual
Arrangements and relinquishment of PrimeVision's interests
in Shanghai Wanjia.

Shanghai Wanjia is principally engaged in development,
distribution, and operation of mobile-online games. Under
the current PRC regulatory circumstances, PrimeVision as a
wholly foreign owned enterprise would not be able to obtain
the relevant business license(s) of such businesses and thus
would be unable to provide the Internet culture business
and mobile game publication in PRC directly. In compliance
with the relevant laws, any direct or indirect acquisition
by PrimeVision of the equity interests in Shanghai Wanjia
would constitute a foreign investment in the value-added
telecommunications industry in the PRC and would render
PrimeVision or the acquired entity ineligible to obtain the
business license(s).

The Contractual Arrangements enable PrimeVision to
have substantial control of Shanghai Wanjia, under which
all economic benefits and risks arising from the business,
financial and operating activities of Shanghai Wanjia are
transferred to PrimeVision by means of technical consulting
services fees, and thus are fundamental to the Something Big
Group'’s legal structure and business operations.
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On 13 July 2006, the MIIT issued the Circular on
Strengthening the Administration of Foreign Investment in
and Operation of Value added Telecommunications Business
(ERIRIMEREREREETEXHEENAF) ("MIT
Notice”), which reiterated restrictions on foreign investment
in telecommunications businesses. Under the MIIT Notice,
a domestic company that holds an ICP License is prohibited
from leasing, transferring or selling the license to foreign
investors in any form, and from providing any assistance,
including providing resources, sites or facilities, to foreign
investors to provide ICP services illegally in the PRC. Due
to a lack of interpretative materials from the authorities,
it cannot be assured that the MIIT will not consider the
corporate structure of the Something Big Group and the
Contractual Arrangements as a kind of foreign investment in
telecommunication services, in which case the Something Big
Group may be found in violation of the MIIT Notice.

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative
List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (2019) ( <5 iE 1%
BEAFHEEER(AEBE) (2019Fh) ) ) jointly
issued by the MOFCOM and the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC, the Internet culture business
falls within the category of industries prohibiting foreign
investment. On 15 December 2017, the MOC issued the
revised Interim Provisions on the Administration of Internet
Culture ( (EBEHX(LEREITRE) ) ("Internet Culture
Interim Provisions”), effective on the same date. According
to the Internet Culture Interim Provisions, “Internet cultural
products” are defined as including the online games
specially produced for the Internet and games reproduced or
provided through the Internet. Provision of Internet cultural
products and related services is subject to the approval of
the MOC or its provincial counterpart. The MOC issued the
Circular on Implementation of the Newly Revised Interim
Provisions on the Administration of Internet Culture ( <@
REBFEIT<EBBXELERLETHRES>NRA) )
on 18 March 2011, which provides that the authorities
will temporarily not accept applications by foreign invested
Internet content providers for operation of Internet culture
business (other than online music business).
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Something Big is a Cayman Islands company and its
wholly-owned PRC subsidiary, PrimeVision is considered
as a wholly foreign-invested enterprise. As stated above,
the PRC government restricts foreign investment in
telecommunications and online cultural businesses. Due to
these restrictions, Something Big conducts its operations
in the PRC through Shanghai Wanjia. Although Something
Big does not have any equity interest in Shanghai Wanjia,
Something Big is able to, through PrimeVision, exercise
effective control over Shanghai Wanjia and its subsidiary,
Shanghai SBT, and receive all of the economic benefits of
its operations through the Contractual Arrangements with
Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders.

On 28 September 2009, the General Administration of Press
and Publication of the PRC (A #E A R £ 1B 5 H 1 i 42
£ ), currently known as the National Radio and Television
Administration (K EEER2E B ) ("GAPP"), the National
Copyright Administration of the PRC (Fff ZE A R 2L 71
FKIR#E B ) (“NCA”) and the National Office of Combating
Pornography and lllegal Publications ( B & 1% & T 3£ A
% ) jointly published the Notice Regarding the Consistent
Implementation of the Stipulations on Three Provisions of the
State Council and the Relevant Interpretation of the State
Commission Office for Public Sector Reform and the Further
Strengthening of the Administration of Pre-examination
and Approval of Internet Games and the Examination and

T =

Approval of Imported Internet Games ( (R EREE
BBk <=ZEI>AEMNFRAGHREBRRERE £ —F
MEBEEEESHNED AR ERETHEENR
A1) ) (“"GAPP Notice 13”). The GAPP Notice 13 prohibits
foreign investors from participating in online game operating
businesses through foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC,
and from controlling and participating in such businesses of
domestic companies indirectly through other forms of joint
ventures or contractual or technical support arrangements.
As no detailed interpretation of the GAPP Notice 13 has
been issued to date, it is not clear how the GAPP Notice 13
will be implemented. Furthermore, as some other primary
government regulators, such as the MOFCOM, the MOC and
the MIIT, did not join the GAPP in issuing the GAPP Notice
13, the scope of the implementation and enforcement of the
GAPP Notice 13 remains uncertain.
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In or around September 2011, various media sources
reported that the China Securities Regulatory Commission (
FEARANBFLFEEEEZEZEE) ("CSRC”) had prepared
a report proposing regulating the use of the variable interest
equity (“VIE") structures, such as that of Something Big, in
industry sectors subject to foreign investment restrictions in
the PRC and overseas listings by China-based companies.
However, it is unclear whether the CSRC officially issued
or submitted such a report to a higher-level government
authority or what any such report provides, or whether any
new PRC laws or regulations relating to VIE structures will be
adopted or if adopted, what they would provide.

In addition, several articles, including an article published in
early June 2013 on The New York Times and another one on
The Economic Observer (4 &5 %R ) , reported discussions
that a recent PRC Supreme Court decision and two VIE
structure-related arbitration decisions in Shanghai had cast
doubt on the validity of the contractual arrangements for a
VIE structure. According to these articles, the PRC Supreme
Court ruled in late 2012 that an entrustment agreement
entered into by and between a Hong Kong company and
a PRC domestic entity, which was purported to enable
such Hong Kong company to make equity investment in
a PRC bank through the proxy PRC domestic entity, was
void on the ground that this agreement established an
entrustment relationship meant to circumvent the PRC
laws and regulations that prohibit foreign investment in
PRC financial institutions and as such, constituted an act
of concealing illegal intentions with a legitimated form.
These articles argued that as the contractual arrangement
in a VIE structure and the entrustment agreement in the
cited case were similar in that the contractual arrangements
in the VIE structure were also designed to “get around”
the regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in certain
industries. As such, the articles noted that this Supreme
Court decision might increase the uncertainties relating to
the PRC government’s view on the validity of the contractual
arrangements used in a VIE structure. These articles also
reported, without providing sufficient details, two arbitration
decisions by the then Shanghai CIETAC which invalidated the
contractual arrangements used in a VIE structure in 2010 and
2011.
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It cannot be assured that the PRC government or judicial
authorities would agree that the corporate structure of the
Something Big Group or the Contractual Arrangements
comply with PRC licensing, registration, other regulatory
requirements or policies that may be adopted in the future.
If the PRC government or judicial authorities determines that
the Something Big Group does not comply with applicable
laws and regulations, it could have broad discretion in
dealing with such incompliance, including:

1. requiring the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements;

2. levying fines and/or confiscating the proceeds generated
from the operations under the Contractual Arrangements;

3. revocation of the business licenses or operating licenses
of Shanghai Wanjia and/or PrimeVision;

4. discontinuing or placing restrictions or onerous conditions
on the business operations of Shanghai Wanjia and/or
PrimeVision;

5. imposing conditions or requirements which the
Something Big Group may not be able to comply with or
satisfy;

6. requiring the Something Big Group to undergo a costly
and disruptive restructuring; and

7. taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could
be harmful to or even shut down the business of the
Something Big Group.

The imposition of any of the above-mentioned consequences
could result in a material and adverse effect on the
Something Big Group's ability to conduct its business. In
addition, if the imposition of any of these consequences
causes PrimeVision to lose the rights to direct the activities of
Shanghai Wanjia or its right to receive economic benefits of
Shanghai Wanjia, Something Big would no longer be able to
consolidate the financial results of Shanghai Wanjia and thus
would affect the financial results of Something Big as well as
the Group’s investment in Something Big.
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Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to
the enactment timetable, interpretation and
implementation of the draft PRC Foreign Investment
Law and how it may impact the viability of the current
corporate structure of the Shanghai Group, and
its corporate governance, business operations and
financial results.

The Ministry of Commerce, or the MOFCOM, published a
discussion draft of the proposed Foreign Investment Law in
January 2015 aiming to, upon its enactment, replace the trio
of existing laws regulating foreign investment in the PRC,
namely, the Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law,
the Sino-foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law
and the Wholly Foreign-invested Enterprise Law, together
with their implementation rules and ancillary regulations.
The draft Foreign Investment Law embodies an expected
PRC regulatory trend to rationalise its foreign investment
regulatory regime in line with prevailing international practice
and the legislative efforts to unify the corporate legal
requirements for both foreign and domestic investments.
While the MOFCOM has solicited comments on this draft
earlier in 2015, substantial uncertainties exist with respect to
its enactment timetable, interpretation and implementation.
The draft Foreign Investment Law, if enacted as proposed,
may materially impact the entire legal framework regulating
the foreign investments in the PRC and may also impact the
viability of the current corporate structure of the Shanghai
Group, and its corporate governance, business operations
and financial results to some extent.
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Among other things, the draft Foreign Investment Law
expands the definition of foreign investment and introduces
the principle of "actual control” in determining whether
a company is considered a foreign invested enterprise (a
“FIE"). The draft Foreign Investment Law specifically provides
that entities established in the PRC but “controlled” by
foreign investors will be treated as FIEs, whereas an entity
set up in a foreign jurisdiction would nonetheless be, upon
market entry clearance by the MOFCOM, treated as a PRC
domestic investor provided that the entity is “controlled” by
PRC entities and/or citizens. In this connection, “control” is
broadly defined in the draft law to cover any of the following
summarised categories (i) holding 50% or more of the
voting rights or similar equity interest of the subject entity;
(i) holding less than 50% of the voting rights or similar
equity interest of the subject entity but having the power
to secure at least 50% of the seats on the board or other
equivalent decision making bodies, or having the voting
power to material influence on the board, the shareholders’
meeting or other equivalent decision making bodies; or (iii)
having the power to exert decisive influence, via contractual
or trust arrangements, over the subject entity’s operations,
financial matters or other key aspects of business operations.
Once an entity is determined to be an FIE, and its investment
amount exceeds certain thresholds or its business operation
falls within a “negative list” to be separately issued by
the State Council in the future, market entry clearance by
the MOFCOM or its local counterparts would be required.
Otherwise, all foreign investors may make investments on
the same terms as Chinese investors without being subject
to additional approval from the government authorities as
mandated by the existing foreign investment legal regime.
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The “variable interest entity” structure, or VIE structure, has
been adopted by many PRC-based companies, including
Shanghai Wanjia, to obtain necessary licenses and permits
in the industries that are currently subject to foreign
investment restrictions in the PRC. Under the draft Foreign
Investment Law, variable interest entities that are controlled
via contractual arrangements would also be deemed as
FIEs, if they are ultimately “controlled” by foreign investors.
Therefore, for any companies with a VIE structure in an
industry category that is on the “negative list”, the existing
VIE structure may be deemed legitimate only if the ultimate
controlling person(s) is/are of PRC nationality (either PRC state
owned enterprises or agencies, or PRC citizens). Conversely, if
the actual controlling person(s) is/are of foreign nationalities,
then the variable interest entities will be treated as FIEs and
any operation in the industry category on the “negative list”
without market entry clearance may be considered as illegal.

The draft Foreign Investment Law has not taken a position
on what will happen to the existing companies with a VIE
structure, although a few possible options were proffered
at the comment solicitation stage. Under these options,
a company with VIE structures and in the business on the
“negative list” at the time of enactment of the new Foreign
Investment Law has either the option or the obligation to
disclose its corporate structure to the authorities, while the
authorities, after reviewing the ultimate control structure of
the company, may either permit the company to continue
its business by maintaining the VIE structure (when the
company is deemed ultimately controlled by PRC citizens), or
require the company to dispose of its businesses and/or VIE
structure based on circumstantial considerations. Moreover,
it is uncertain whether the current businesses that Shanghai
Group operates or plans to operate through Shanghai Wanjia
and Shanghai SBT, will be subject to the foreign investment
restrictions or prohibitions set forth in the “negative list” to
be issued. If the enacted version of the Foreign Investment
Law and the final “negative list” mandate further actions,
such as the MOFCOM market entry clearance, to be
completed by companies with existing VIE structure like the
Shanghai Group, the Shanghai Group face uncertainties
as to whether such clearance can be timely obtained, or at
all. Furthermore, it cannot be assured that Shanghai Wanjia
and Shanghai SBT will still be controlled. If such corporate
structure is required to be changed, further actions required
to be taken by the Shanghai Group under the enacted
Foreign Investment Law may materially and adversely affect
the business and financial condition of the Shanghai Group.
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The draft Foreign Investment Law is a draft without any
legal effect, and a number of legislative procedures have to
be undergone before its promulgation and implementation.
The draft Foreign Investment Law, if enacted as proposed,
may also materially impact the corporate governance
practice and increase the compliance costs of the Shanghai
Group. For instance, the draft Foreign Investment Law
imposes stringent ad hoc and periodic information reporting
requirements on foreign investors and the applicable FIEs.
Aside from investment implementation report and investment
amendment report that are required at each investment
and alteration of investment specifics, an annual report
is mandatory, and large foreign investors meeting certain
criteria are required to report on a quarterly basis. Any
company found to be non-compliant with these information
reporting obligations may potentially be subject to fines
and/or administrative or criminal liabilities, and the persons
directly responsible may be subject to criminal liabilities.

In addition, on 15 March 2019, the National People’s
Congress published the Foreign Business Investment Law,
which became effective on 1 January 2020 and replaced the
trio of existing laws regulating foreign investment in the PRC,
namely, the Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law,
the Sino-foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law
and the Wholly Foreign-invested Enterprise Law, together
with their implementation rules and ancillary regulations.
On 26 December 2019, the State Council promulgated the
Regulation on the Implementation of the Foreign Business
Investment Law, which came into effect on 1 January 2020.
The Foreign Business Investment Law does not provide for
the concept of “actual control” or “control arrangements
through contracts”, nor does it stipulate regulations on
control through contractual arrangements. Furthermore,
the Foreign Business Investment Law does not specify the
regulations for industries in which Shanghai Wanjia and
Shanghai SBT operate.

According to the Foreign Business Investment Law, the
“foreign investment” refers to investment activities carried
out directly or indirectly by foreign natural persons,
enterprises or other organisations (“Foreign Investors”),
including the following: (i) Foreign Investors establishing
foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC alone or collectively
with other investors; (ii) Foreign Investors acquiring shares,
equities, properties or other similar rights of Chinese
domestic enterprises; (iii) Foreign Investors investing in new
projects in the PRC alone or collectively with other investors;
and (iv) Foreign Investors investing through other methods
prescribed by laws and regulations or the State Council.
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However, it does not explicitly stipulate the Contractual
Arrangements as a form of foreign investment, nor does
it explicitly prohibit or restrict a foreign investor to rely on
Contractual Arrangements to control the majority of its
business that is subject to foreign investment restrictions
or prohibitions in the PRC. Notwithstanding the above, the
Foreign Business Investment Law stipulates that foreign
investment includes Foreign Investors investing in the PRC
through “other methods prescribed by laws and regulations
or the State Council”. Although the Regulation on the
Implementation of the Foreign Business Investment Law does
not expressly stipulate the Contractual Arrangements as a
form of foreign investment, there are possibilities that future
laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by
the State Council may regard Contractual Arrangements as a
form of foreign investment, at which time it will be uncertain
whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to
be in violation of the foreign investment access requirements
and how the Contractual Arrangements will be handled.

PrimeVision relies on the Contractual Arrangements
to control and obtain the economic benefits from
Shanghai Group, the operating entities in the PRC,
which may not be as effective in providing operational
control as direct ownership.

Due to the PRC's legal restrictions on foreign investment
in mobile-online game operators, Something Big, through
PrimeVision, controls, through the Contractual Arrangements
rather than equity ownership, Shanghai Group, the operating
entities in the PRC and the holder of the key licenses required
to operate online game business in the PRC.

However, the Contractual Arrangements may still may not
be as effective in allowing PrimeVision to exercise control
over Shanghai Wanjia as equity ownership. For example,
Shanghai Wanjia and its shareholders could breach or
fail to perform their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements. If PrimeVision had direct ownership of
Shanghai Wanjia, PrimeVision would be able to exercise
its rights as a shareholder to effect changes in its board of
directors, which in turn could effect changes, subject to any
applicable fiduciary obligations, at the management and
operational level. Under the Contractual Arrangements,
PrimeVision would need to rely on its rights under the
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technology
Services and Management Consulting Agreement and the
Proxy Agreement to effect such changes, or designate new
shareholders to Shanghai Wanjia under the Exclusive Option
Agreement.
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If Shanghai Wanjia or its shareholders breach their obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements or if PrimeVision loses
the effective control over Shanghai Wanjia for any reason,
PrimeVision would need to bring a claim against them under
the terms of the Contractual Arrangements. The Contractual
Arrangements are governed by the PRC law and provide
that any dispute arising from these arrangements will be
submitted to the Shanghai International Economic and
Trade Arbitration Commission (“SIETAC") for arbitration,
the ruling of which will be final and binding. Furthermore,
personal liabilities of the shareholders of Shanghai Wanjia
may also subject the equity interest they hold in Shanghai
Wanjia to court preservation actions or enforcement. The
legal framework and system in the PRC, particularly those
relating to arbitration proceedings, is not as developed
as other jurisdictions such as Hong Kong or the United
States. As a result, significant uncertainties relating to the
enforcement of legal rights through arbitration, litigation
and other legal proceedings remain in the PRC, which
could limit PrimeVision's ability to enforce the Contractual
Arrangements and exert effective control over Shanghai
Wanjia. If Shanghai Wanjia or any of its shareholders fails
to perform its respective obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements, and PrimeVision is unable to enforce the
Contractual Arrangements, or suffers significant delay or
there are other obstacles in the process of enforcing the
Contractual Arrangements, then Something Big Group's
business and operations could be severely disrupted, which
could materially and adversely affect its results of operations.
As a result, the Group's investment in Something Big could
also be materially and adversely affected.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, Mr. Mao and
Mr. Lu irrevocably grant to PrimeVision or the person as
designated by PrimeVision exclusive options to purchase,
to the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations, their
equity interests in Shanghai Wanjia, entirely or partially,
at an aggregate consideration of RMB1 for each option
or a minimum purchase price permitted by PRC laws and
regulations. In addition, Mr. Mao and Mr. Lu undertake under
the Exclusive Option Agreement that they will return to
PrimeVision or the person as designated by PrimeVision or HK
SBT any proceeds, which exceed the aggregate consideration
of RMB1 as agreed under the Exclusive Option Agreement,
they will receive upon the exercise of the aforesaid exclusive
options. If the final purchase price permitted by PRC laws
is substantially more than RMB1 and Mr. Mao and Mr. Lu
fails to return to PrimeVision or the person as designated
by PrimeVision or HK SBT any proceeds, which exceed the
aggregate consideration of RMB1 as agreed under the
Exclusive Option Agreement, they will receive upon the
exercise of the aforesaid exclusive options, the financial
conditions of PrimeVision or its subsidiaries may be materially
and adversely affected. As a result, the Group’s investment
in Something Big could also be materially and adversely
affected.

Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not
be enforceable under PRC laws.

The Contractual Arrangements provide for dispute resolution
by way of arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules
of the SIETAC in the PRC. The Contractual Arrangements
contain provisions to the effect that the arbitral body may
award remedies over the shares and/or assets of Shanghai
Wanjia, injunctive relief and/or winding up of Shanghai
Wanjia. In addition, the Contractual Arrangements contain
provisions to the effect that courts in Hong Kong and Samoa
are empowered to grant interim remedies in support of the
arbitration pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal.
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However, the Group has been advised by PRC legal advisor
that the abovementioned provisions contained in the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable. Under
PRC laws, an arbitral body does not have the power to grant
any injunctive relief or provisional or final liquidation order
to preserve the assets of or any equity interest in Shanghai
Wanjia in case of disputes. Therefore, such remedies may
not be available to PrimeVision, notwithstanding the
relevant contractual provisions contained in the Contractual
Arrangements. PRC laws allow an arbitral body to award
the transfer of assets of or an equity interest in Shanghai
Wanjia in favour of an aggrieved party. In the event of
non-compliance with such award, enforcement measures
may be sought from the court.

However, the court may or may not support the award of an
arbitral body when deciding whether to take enforcement
measures. Under PRC laws, courts of judicial authorities
in the PRC generally would not grant injunctive relief or
winding-up order against Shanghai Wanjia as interim
remedies to preserve the assets or shares in favour of any
aggrieved party. Even though the Contractual Arrangements
provide that courts in Hong Kong and Samoa may grant
and/or enforce interim remedies or in support of arbitration,
such interim remedies (even if so granted by courts in Hong
Kong or Samoa in favour of an aggrieved party) may not
be recognised or enforced by PRC courts. As a result, in
the event that Shanghai Wanjia or any of its shareholders
breaches any of the Contractual Arrangements, PrimeVision
may not be able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely
manner, and its ability to exert effective control over
Shanghai Wanjia and conduct its business could be materially
and adversely affected and the financial performance of
Something Big could be materially and adversely affected. As
a result, the Group's investment in Something Big could also
be materially and adversely affected.

The Contractual Arrangements between PrimeVision and
Shanghai Wanjia may be subject to the scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities and any finding that PrimeVision or Shanghai
Wanjia owes additional taxes could substantially reduce the
consolidated net income of Something Big and the value of
the Group's investment in Something Big.
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Under the Contractual Arrangements among PrimeVision
and Shanghai Wanjia and its equity holders, Shanghai
Wanjia will transfer all of its profits to PrimeVision less any
accumulated loss, working capital requirements, expenses
and tax of Shanghai Wanjia, which will substantially reduce
Shanghai Wanjia's taxable income. These arrangements and
transactions are related-party transactions which must be
conducted on an arm'’s length basis under the applicable
PRC tax rules. In addition, under PRC laws and regulations,
arrangements and transactions among related parties may
generally be subject to the audit or scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities within ten years after the taxable year when the
arrangements or transactions are conducted. As a result,
the determination of service fees and other payments to
PrimeVision by Shanghai Wanjia under the Contractual
Arrangements may be challenged and deemed not to be in
compliance with such tax rules. Something Big Group could
face material and adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that the Contractual Arrangements
were not entered into on an arm’s length basis and therefore
adjust the taxable income of Shanghai Wanjia in the form of
a transfer pricing adjustment which refers to the prices that
one member of a group of an affiliated corporation charges
to another member of the group for goods, assets, services,
financing or the use of intellectual property. A transfer pricing
adjustment could, among other things, result in a reduction,
for PRC tax purposes, of expense deductions recorded by
Shanghai Wanjia, which could in turn increase Shanghai
Wanjia’s tax liabilities. Any such adjustment could result in
a higher overall tax liability of the Something Big Group. In
addition, the PRC tax authorities may impose late payment
fees and other penalties on Shanghai Wanjia for any unpaid
taxes. The consolidated net income of Something Big may
be materially and adversely affected if Shanghai Wanjia’s
tax liabilities increase or if it is subject to late payment fees
or other penalties. As a result, the value of the Group’s
investment may be materially and adversely affected.

Material change

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report,
there is no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted.
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5. Other requirements

Pursuant to the Administrative Measures on Licensing of
Telecommunication Business ( (ZE {5 3 75 48 & 57 A & 12 9%
%) ) promulgated by the MIIT on 3 July 2017, applicants
for value-added telecommunication business operation shall
satisfy certain requirements, among which, the company, or
its major equity owner or major business management should
not be included in the list of dishonesty in telecommunication
business operations. The Group, its major equity owner and
major business management have not been included in the
list of dishonesty in telecommunication business operations.

6. Unwinding of Contractual Arrangements

It is the intention of the Something Big Group to unwind the
Contractual Arrangements when foreign investment in the
development and operation of mobile-online games business
is no longer restricted in the PRC.

However, as at the date of this Annual Report, there is no
unwinding of any of the Contractual Arrangements or failure
to unwind when the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to its employees.
The Group has adopted paperless systems and practices in its
daily operations, such as human resources and procurement, as
appropriate. Creating a paperless working environment not only
alleviates environmental damages but also fits the commercial
goals of the Group, which saves physical space, facilitates
information sharing via IT networks, and reduces complicated
documentation procedures for the Group. Moreover, duplex
printing and copying have become the norm within the Group,
greatly reducing paper consumption and saving costs. Data on
printing is regularly collected and assessed, in order to monitor
the efficacy of the Group’s paperless environment. Details of
the Group's commitments and efforts are summarised in the
section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT"” in this Annual Report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees are valuable assets of
the Group. The Group ensures all employees are reasonably
remunerated, and continues to improve, regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. Employees are encouraged to
devote their time to participate in local fund-raising activities.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and business partners
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. Based on the
Group’s business nature, most of the customers are occasional
and non-routine, except for the major customer in relation to
the Group’s provision of IT services, which is a sizable corporate
client which has over ten years of relationship with the Group. To
minimise credit risk, the Group in general does not allow credit
sales for individual customers. On the other hand, credit terms
ranging from 30 days to 180 days are given to sizable corporate
customers and major customers with long-term business
relationships with the Group. The Group values the feedback
from its customers and always tries to understand their needs
through regular communication and business updates.

In particular, the largest customer in relation to the Group's
IT services business has accounted for approximately 94.4%
(2018: 90.1%) of the total revenue of the Group from the
corresponding business and 80.1% (2018: 69.0%) of the total
revenue of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019.
Such customer is a leading Chinese multinational networking
and telecommunications equipment and services company.
As at 31 December 2019, accounts receivable (comprising
trade receivables and contract assets) due from such customer
amounted to approximately HK$162,432,000. As at the date of
this Directors’ Report, more than half of these accounts receivable
have been settled. The contractual credit period agreed with
such customer was generally 90 days, whereas the maximum
extension of credit period was 6 months. During the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group changed its accounting policies
in relation to the assessment of the recoverability of accounts
receivable following the initial adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard (“HKFRS"”) 9 “Financial instruments”. The
expected credit loss model requires an ongoing measurement of
credit risk associated with a financial asset. Under this model,
the Group has made a reversal of impairment of contract
assets of approximately HK$8,000; and an impairment loss of
approximately HK$383,000 (2018: HK$133,000) on accounts
receivables, loan and interest receivables for the year ended
31 December 2019. In consideration of the size and reputation
of the major customer as well as its sound payment history, the
Board considers that there is a low risk in accounts receivables,
loan and interest receivables recoverability. The Board is satisfied
with the subsequent settlement of this major customer and is of
the view that its credit quality has not deteriorated.
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The Group anticipates that it will continue to derive a significant
portion of its revenue from this major customer in the near
future. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the Group
will be able to retain this major customer or secure purchase
orders on favorable terms to the Group, to maintain the current
level of business with this major customer, or to renew the
co-operation framework agreement with this major customer
in the long run on terms that are favourable to the Group. Any
significant reduction in the volume of business with this major
customer, any significant restriction in pricing terms with this
customer, or any cancellation, delay or reduction in the scope
of sales from this major customer, could have a material adverse
effect on the operating results and profitability of the Group.
The Directors considered that the Group’s reliance on its major
customer will be reduced as the Group’s customer base has
been diversified through the Group's provision of hospitality and
related services business in Australia with the Group’s revenue
being less concentrated during the year under review.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
such as the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), the GEM Listing
Rules, and other applicable local laws and regulations in various
jurisdictions that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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In addition, the Group is subject to the requirements under
various laws in relation to its different business segments.
The laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the
business and operations of the Group are as follows.

BSh AEBAZBETR RS D BHEE T
RUEDI 2 REFMBRR -HAKREXHRELE
BERFE AP FOERMT -

Implication

2B

Business Primary legislation/regulations

5% TEEE AR

Provision of hospitality and Competition and Consumer Act 2010
related services in Australia (Australia)

FORIMN R LR 5 R AR B RS (0105 HF LHBEER)CRMN)

Money lending business Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163

of the Laws of Hong Kong)

EEES (MBEAKRDD (BEEHE163E)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that meets the requirements
specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year under review. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance during the year under
review, which provides appropriate cover for the directors of the
Group.

The Competition and Consumer Act 2010 covers most
areas of the business market in the Australia including
the relationships between suppliers, wholesalers,
retailer, and consumers by promoting fair trading and
competition and through the provision of consumer
protections.
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The Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (i) provides for the control and
regulation of money lenders and money-lending
transactions and the licensing of persons carrying
on business as money lenders; and (i) provides
protection and relief against excessive interest rates
and extortionate stipulations in respect of loans. The
Group has to carry on its money lending business
in compliance with this ordinance, such as the
requirements on entering into loan transactions and
the restriction on the interest rates of the loans.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this Annual Report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float under the GEM
Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITOR

The Company engaged PKF as its auditor from 2000 until
PKF resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from
11 December 2017 due to PKF's internal reorganisation, which
resulted in a change in PKF's entity status from a partnership
to a limited company under the name of PKF Hong Kong
Limited. The Board has resolved, with the recommendation of
the audit committee of the Company, to appoint PKF Hong
Kong Limited as the new auditor of the Company with effect
from 11 December 2017 to fill the casual vacancy left by the
resignation of PKF.

PKF Hong Kong Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 27 November 2019 as the Company was unable
to reach an agreement with PKF Hong Kong Limited on the
auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The Board has resolved that, with the recommendation of the
audit committee of the Company, to appoint Ascenda Cachet
CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company with effect
from 27 November 2019 to fill the causal vacancy left by the
resignation of PKF Hong Kong Limited.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will retire and being eligible, offer
itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hui Chun Sum
Chairman

23 April 2020
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE (e MEARS

INTRODUCTION, ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, “the Group”) adopts a diversified business
development strategy and has established its firm footing in
four business segments, namely (i) mobile internet cultural
business and provision of information technology (“IT") services;
(ii) provision of hospitality and related services in Australia; (iii)
money lending business; and (iv) assets investments business
during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 ("FY2019").

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group conducts a top-down management approach
regarding its ESG issues. The board of Directors (the “Board”)
oversees and sets out ESG strategies for the Group. The Board is
also responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group'’s risk
management and internal controls.

The Group has designated personnel to systematically identify
and cater ESG issues. The said personnel are responsible for
collecting and analysing relevant ESG data and identifying the
Group’s ESG issues. In addition, these designated personnel
will periodically report to the Board for the evaluation and
subsequent implementation or revision of the Group’s ESG
strategies.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The ESG Report only covers the Group's businesses in relation
to the provision of hospitality and related services in Australia,
money lending business and assets investments business in
Hong Kong. Three sites in Australia, namely i) Balgownie
Estate Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley (“Balgownie”), ii)
Bellinzona Resort Cellar Door & Dining (”Bellinzona”) and iii)
Cleveland Winery Resort & Events (“Cleveland”) (collectively, the
“Resorts”) and a general administrative office in Hong Kong will
therefore be included in the ESG Report.

The key performance indicators (“KPIs") gathered are shown
in the ESG Report and are supplemented by explanatory notes
to establish benchmarks. The Group will extend the scope of
disclosure when and where possible.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on
page 113 to page 129 of this Annual Report.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during FY2019.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE (e MEARS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders’ opinions are pertinent to the continuous growth of
the Group. Therefore, the Group endeavours to provide an open
communication channel to understand and address concerns
of key stakeholders, including but not limited to shareholders
and investors, customers, employees, suppliers, loan and debt
holders, media and the public as well as government and
regulatory authorities. The following table shows the Group's
engagement with stakeholders and their expectations through
diversified engagement methods.
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Stakeholders Communication Channel Expectations
B0E BRRE e
Shareholders and investors Annual general meeting and Sustainable economic performance
BRREREZEE other shareholders’ meetings A RFENEERR
RREFAEREMRRAE
Financial reports Risk management
HMBRE BRER
Announcements and circulars Sound corporate governance practices
NE RFNERERTRR
Company website Long-term growth of business
NGIESY (BREER
Customers Front desk manager Good customer service
2P FIE=gSE BENEFRE
Customer satisfaction survey Customer privacy protection
EPREERE EFLERE
Employees Trainings, seminars, and briefing sessions Remuneration and benefits
B8 B eREHRE ENEER
Performance reviews Good employment practices
BMER REBERER
Emails Safe and healthy work environment
EH Z2REFENTERE
Suppliers Supplier management meetings and events Fair procurement
e HERERERARLED NYHRE

Loan and debt holders
ENREBEEA

Media and the public
L YN
Government and regulatory authorities

B REERE

Supplier audit
HEREZ
Regular meetings
THeR

ESG reports

B HERELRRE

Written or electronic correspondences
EEHETEA
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Sustainable development of supply chain
HERTFERR

Regular discussions

TE 5t i

Compliant operation

BREE

Transparent information disclosure
BRANESRE

Compliance with local laws and regulations
BT T ERER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND EGDQVERN/QNCEkREPiORT
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT E Ly

The Group has compiled a questionnaire according to the AEEDREBEDHBSHNEAERE HEME
identified material ESG aspects and has asked various groups of JAZERE —HFAEESE UEBSEFHE
stakeholders to complete the said questionnaire in order to fully ~ ARIEBZAEMSE  LERD RETR D
reflect different stakeholders’ opinions. EWER-

9 out of 22 ESG aspects have been found to bear significant ~ 7E22{ERE (LS R EAH AT - HofE 1 &
weight and are therefore considered to be more material to the IREBEEZEF LN AMERAHAEERE
Group (dots towards the upper right-hand corner), the materiality B2 (¥EAAL-ANZL)  EEHEEBIOT :
matrix is as follows:

Materiality Matrix
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SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMICS, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS
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ENVIRONN\ENIﬁd\_ SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (CONT'D)

Environmental
Iﬁiﬁ

Social
ite
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(SIEA el TSRS S =l

N N
N —

Greenhouse Gas ("GHG") Emissions
Waste Management

Water Consumption

Energy Consumption

Use of Other Resources

Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation

Talent Attraction and Retention

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination
Occupational Health and Safety

Training and Development

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

Supply Chain Management

Product Quality and Safety

Customer Health and Safety

Business Ethics

Customer Services and Complaint Management
Customer Data Protection and Privacy
Protection of Intellectual Property Rights
Marketing and Labelling

Anti-corruption

Community Engagement

*  ESG aspects that have been found to bear significant weight and
are considered to be more material to the Group.

For FY2019, the Group confirms that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirms that the disclosed
contents are in compliance with the requirements of the ESG

Reporting Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. You can provide your valuable advice with regard
to the ESG Report or the Group’s performances in sustainable
development by writing to: Unit B, 19/F, Centre Mark Il, 305-313
Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.Emissions
General Disclosure and KPIs

The provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia is subject to certain environmental requirements
pursuant to Australian laws. In addition to complying
with legally binding regulations, the Group is committed
to minimising any adverse impacts on the environment as
a result of its business activities. The Group realises that
environmental protection relies on both collective and
individual efforts. Thus, the Group continuously improves
existing policies and incorporates new policies to mitigate
potential direct and indirect negative environmental
impacts arising from its business operations.

The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land,
and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste that would have a significant impact on the Group
during FY2019. The said laws and regulations include
but are not limited to Road Traffic Ordinance, Waste
Disposal Ordinance, Water Pollution Ordinance of Hong
Kong, State Environment Protection Policy (Ambient Air
Quality) and Environment Protection Act 2017 of Victoria,
Australia.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

88

A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)
Air Emissions

Due to the Group's business nature, an insignificant
amount of air emissions is generated principally through
the use of company vehicles. Description of mitigation
measures of emissions will be provided in the following
section — GHG Emissions.

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group are generated
from the petrol and diesel consumption by vehicles and
yachts (Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2) and air
travel and office paper (Scope 3).

Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions

To reduce fuel usage and thus air emission, the Group
has provided the following guideline to its business
operations:

e Plan routes ahead of time to optimise fuel
consumption;

e Switch off the engine when any vehicle is idling;
e Examine and obtain certification for the vehicles; and

e Provide regular maintenance service for the vehicles
to ensure optimal engine performance and fuel use.

Scope 2 — Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounts for the largest indirect
GHG emissions within the Group. The Group has
implemented measures to reduce energy consumption,
said measures will be mentioned in Aspect A2 Use of
Resources. As a result of these measures, employees’
awareness of GHG emissions reduction has been
increased.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A IRIE (E)
A1 HEBH (88)

A1.Emissions (Cont'd)
General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)
GHG Emissions (Cont‘d)
Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

During FY2019, the employees of the Group have
only taken 2 business trips by air travel, down from 14
business trips by air travel in the year ended 31 December
2018 (“FY2018"). The significant decrease in business
trips by air travel is contributed by encouraging web
conferences or tele-conferences to replace unnecessary

—MEBEREREXIER ()
i E SR REPEIL (B
FEB-HEMEZREREBYR

R-ZZF-NAPF AEEREERR
BEEZ2R BEREBEE-_T—\F+=
A=Z+—HLEFE([ZF-N\HF])
14X - RNEBEHEETHELSHX
BREEH AREBE T U EMEIRT

e AR KR TR =R B

air travels.
Summary of GHG emissions performances: BERBHNEREHE
Indicator’ Unit FY2019
BEE B —E-NMF
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions
HEN-BEEREREBHMN
e Petrol and diesel consumption 1CO,e? 40.21
UM K SR E 7% WE — S ik E 82
Scope 2 — Indirect GHG emissions
&[22 — R EREBHN
e Purchased electricity tCO,e 3,005.37
HMNEE T WE— S L E 2
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
#[E3— A fhfH R = REBHEN
e Air travel and paper waste
disposed at landfills tCO,e 14.06
fin 28 k1T N B AR IR 35 P B RE AR WE S b E 2
Total GHG emissions tCOse 3,059.64
mERBETERE W S CIRE 8
Intensity tCO,e/million revenue? (HK$) 31.63
=g Mg E B8R ACET)
Note: Bt EE

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG report — Appendix
[I: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the Stock Exchange, the “Global Warming Potential
Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5),
the “Sustainability Report 2018" issued by Hong Kong
Electric and the “National Greenhouse Accounts Factors”
issued by the Department of the Environment and Energy
of Australia.

1.

BEREIRBEE-_SLtREEL7)
WA (BIEETRER) R ERF IR &
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RREZTE CESTEBEZE) B
RETHIER (A EHERE L2 RER
HE—MEr = RIBERENEIZIERIE
g ZE—NFBRNEIEELCEME
B 2 (IPCC) 55 A X 1 {H ¥R & (ARS) 19 [ & Bk
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A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)

GHG Emissions (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont'd)

2. tCO,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

3. During FY2019, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$96,717,000 under the reported
segments. The data is also used for calculating other
intensity data.

Sewage Discharge

Sewage discharge is covered by the water bill. The
Group did not note a significant and disproportional
consumption of water through business activities.

Waste Management
Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group's business nature, no material
hazardous waste, according to the list of waste
considered as being hazardous under the Hazardous
Waste (Regulation of Exports and Imports) Act 1989 of
Australia and Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong,
has been generated during FY2019.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The Group's non-hazardous wastes came from the office
and the Resorts. Wastes were primarily office paper.
The Group proactively commits to reducing waste by
upcycling. A policy on reducing wastage can also be
found in the respective Employee Handbook for both
the Group's head office in Hong Kong and the Resorts in
Australia, it reminds employees to take extra care during
normal duties when handling tools, equipment, supplies
and food.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)
Waste Management (Cont'd)
Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method (Cont'd)

In the office, a number of green measures are
encouraged:

e Use double-sided printing or photocopying;

e  Print electronic correspondences only when necessary;
and

e Reuse one-sided printed paper.

At the Resorts, the Group stresses the importance of
environmental sustainability. Bottles and paper are
recycled through one of the Australia’s largest recyclers.
The Group also endeavours to minimise the use of
single-use disposable items where possible.

Through these implementations, the employees’
awareness of waste management has been increased.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste discharge
performance:

R e MEARSE

A IRIE ()
A1 HER ()

—MREBEREREXIET (HF)
BEYETE (&)
BEBREVRENE (B)

ERRERN BASBRRZIEZE
=R

o EMIIEIZFEN:
s ERFBERINENEFUF: K

s BEFEMEmITEIRK-

EERNA AEERFRRAFE
MR E R i+ M AROR T0 35 8RN
RANEKEZ —ETEK -RNEH
NBEAREAENBER NEERDE
A—RMERm-

BBETHNRSRE BENEEREY
BEEBBEMRES-

TEEEEEYHNRARE:

Categories of waste Unit FY2019
EELEV] By —E-NEF
Office paper® Kg 2,279.68
/NSRS Tr

Total non-hazardous waste Kg 2,279.68
BEEREVEE T

Intensity Kg/million revenue (HK$) 23.57
=g Fr/BEBRA(ErT)

Note: M =E -

5. Approximately 456,136 sheets of office paper were
consumed.

SHFE T 49456,1365R B A FR AR
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A2.Use of Resources

General Disclosure and KPIs

The Group takes initiatives to introduce measures to
increase energy and resource efficiency and adopts
eco-friendly approaches in the Group’'s business
operations.

Water Consumption

The Group is committed to reducing water usage by
promoting awareness of water conservation amongst
its employees. Water conservation measures have been
enforced.

To nurture the habit of water conservation, a number
of green measures have been adopted in the Group’s
business operations:

e Water collected from the roofs of the Resorts will be
reused for various purposes to reduce reliance on
external water supply;

e Effluent treatment systems are installed at the
Resorts to capture and treat all waste on-site, water
is then reused on all irrigation to the vines and
landscaping — over 7 million litres of water has been
saved per year;

e Water-saving slogans and posters are displayed as
reminders; and

e Dual flush water cisterns are installed in toilets
and water-saving thimble in sinks are installed in
washrooms.

Water usage in FY2019 amounted to approximately
18,517m3, a decrease of approximately 7.4% from
approximately 20,000m? in FY2018. It is believed that
these measures have been effective in raising employees’
awareness of water conservation.

Due to the business nature, the Group did not encounter
any problem in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)

R e MEARSE

A IRIE ()
A2. &R 4E A ()

—MREBEREREXIET (HF)

Water Consumption (Cont’d) K EFE (&)

Summary of water consumption performance: FKKRIBHE -

Indicator Unit FY2019
BEE By —E-NMF
Total water consumption® m3 18,517.00
48 7K IR H #E6 MK

Intensity m?3/million revenue (HK$) 191.46
=g SRR/ BEKE GBI

Note: Mgz -

6. Data excludes water consumption in Hong Kong office and
Cleveland as water usage is included in the management
fee in the Hong Kong office and water tanks are used in
Cleveland, no meter reading is therefore available.

Energy Consumption

The Group aims to minimise environmental impacts
by identifying and adopting appropriate measures in
the Group's operations. Related policies and initiatives
on energy conservation and resources utilisation have
been developed. All employees are duly notified of
the implementation of such policies and measures.
Regular review is conducted on the Group’s energy
objectives and targets for continuous improvement in the
Group's energy consumption performance. Should the
energy usage in any of the Group's operations increase
unreasonably, the Group will send reminders via email to
remind relevant departments of energy conservation.

In the office, a number of green measures have been
encouraged:

e Purchase energy-efficient equipment on replacement
of retired equipment;

e Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use; and

e Set all computer screens and printers to standby
mode after a certain period of idling.

6. BEBETEREEMRAEMREREH
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A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)
Energy Consumption (Cont’d)

At the Resorts, the Group stresses the importance of
environmental sustainability; sustainable designs can be
observed throughout the Resorts. A number of elements
have been incorporated to reduce energy usage, as
shown below:

e Power-saving devices have been installed to all units
which automatically de-activate all air-conditioning
and lighting when the units are left unattended;

e Appropriate insulation and shading to the building
have been added to optimise temperature control;

e Skylights and glazing are installed to bring more
natural light into the facilities;

e Solar heating systems are installed to complement
gas heating systems and electric efficient heat pumps;
and

e Natural flow through ventilation to all units reduces
the reliance on air-conditioning usage.

Electricity consumption has decreased by approximately
6.35% from approximately 3,149,000 kWh in FY2018
to approximately 2,948,931 kWh in FY2019. The
Group believes that these measures are effective in
raising employees’ awareness of energy efficiency and
conservation.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A IRE (8)
A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd) A2 ERER (&)
General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d) —MIRERBRENIEE ()
Energy Consumption (Cont'd) BEJRHFE (48)
Summary of energy consumption performance: BEIRBEREA M E
Types of energy Unit FY2019
BE R X8 5l B —E-NEMF
Direct Energy Consumption kWh 155,825.06
BHERRER TR
Diesel” kWh 121,201.06
geom’ T R
Petrol® kWh 34,624.00
ik T R B
Indirect Energy Consumption kWh 2,948,931.00
& 3 g2 R OH #E TR
Electricity kWh 2,948,931.00
W) F B
Total Energy Consumption kWh 3,104,756.06
BEREREE T E B
Total Energy Consumption Intensity kWh/million revenue (HK$) 32,101.45
Hu/ﬁ'—/ﬁf%,ﬁ@gz :FEHT/EEH& (/%713)
Note: Mgz -
7. Actual diesel consumption was approximately 11,909.70 7. BBERELSMAI11,909.70F ¢
litres.
8. Actual petrol consumption was approximately 3,583.00 8. EMRHFE/RMA3,583.00F
litres.
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A2,

A3.

Use of Resources (Cont'd)
General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)
Use of Packaging Material

Though the Group owns vineyards in some of the
Resorts, the wine production has been subcontracted
to a company. Therefore, the use of packaging material
for the said wine production is not under the direct
operational control of the Group. Having considered all
the reported segments, the use of packaging material is
not considered as a material ESG aspect of the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure and KPIs

The Group is committed to minimising negative
environmental impacts occasioned by the Group’s
business operations.

The business activities of the Group do not significantly
impact the environment and natural resources. The
Group does, however, continue to be vigilant to the
potential environmental impacts arising from its business
operations.

Use of Other Resources

Where possible, the Group endeavours to procure
furniture and amenities that are environmentally friendly
and/or from organisations that offer responsibly sourced
goods. For the provision of hospitality and related services
in Australia, the Group intends to further minimise
the use of single-use disposable items, consider the
environmental impacts and life cycle of the products to
be purchased and explore more environmentally friendly
alternatives.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A3.The Environment and Natural Resources (Cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs (Cont’d)
Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation

The Group attaches great importance to lowering its
reliance on energy produced through conventional,
non-renewable energy sources and its responsibility
in reducing its carbon footprint. Therefore, the Group
actively participates in energy transition and has already
engaged a leading Australian commercial energy
efficiency company to implement a 200kW and a
99.54kW solar photovoltaic (“"PV") systems at Balgownie
and Cleveland respectively in 2020. GHG emissions are
forecasted to reduce in the following financial years.
Subject to the performance of the soon-to-be installed
solar PV panels, the Group will consider installing more
solar PV panels to increase percentage uptake of solar
energy in the future.

Noise Control

The Group recognises that entertainment venue noise
may be generated at some of the Resorts. The Group
abides by the State Environment Protection Policy (Control
of Music Noise from Public Premises) No. N-2 which is
incorporated in the venues’ current liquor licences. The
Resorts actively control the music level and limit loud
music at the prescribed hours to ensure that other guests
and neighbours will not be severely disrupted.
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B1. Employment

General Disclosure

Human resources are the cornerstone of the Group.
Sustainable growth of the Group relies on good
recruitment and retention practices. As at 31 December
2019, the Group had 184 employees working in the
reported segments.

Employment policies are formally documented in the
comprehensive Employee Handbook for the respective
locations, covering recruitment and remuneration,
compensations, working hours and rest periods, diversity
and equal opportunities, etc. The Group reviews these
policies and employment practices periodically to ensure
continuous improvement of the Group's employment
standards and competitiveness against companies in a
similar industry.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws
and regulations that would have a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Fair Work
Act 2009 and Workplace Gender Act 2012 of Australia,
Equal Opportunity Act 2010 of Victoria, Australia and
Employment Ordinance, Minimum Wage Ordinance,
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Sex Discrimination
Ordinance and Disability Discrimination Ordinance of
Hong Kong.

Talent Attraction and Retention

The Group's employees are recruited via a robust,
transparent and non-discriminatory recruitment process
based on their merits and their merits to fulfil the
Group's current and future needs. All employees involved
in the recruitment process will periodically review the
selection criteria to ensure that existing policies remain
relevant and that they do not unlawfully discriminate.
Recruitment interviews will also be carried out by more
than one person where possible.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B1. Employment (Cont'd)

General Disclosure (Cont’d)
Talent Attraction and Retention (Cont’d)

Promotion and advancement will be made based on
merits and in line with the Recruitment and Selection
Policy that is formally documented in the Employee
Handbook. The Group will conduct annual performance
and salary review to determine any salary adjustments
and/or promotion opportunities. Written and verbal
performance evaluations will be given to all employees
at least once a year, such evaluations are intended to
give recognition to the hard work of the employees and
provide any comments for improvement.

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

The Group’s basis for remuneration is job-related skills,
qualifications and performances. Remuneration packages
include annual leave, maternity leave, compassionate
leave and community service leave, etc. Also, the Group
has formulated policies in determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees according to local
employment laws.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group compensates employees based on the
provision of Workmen's Injury Compensation Insurance
Policy under the Workplace Injury Rehabilitation and
Compensation Act 2013 of Victoria, Australia and
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong
which cover the rehabilitation of injured workers and
compensation in relation to injuries or deaths arising out
of accidents and diseases in the workplace.

Unreasonable dismissal under any circumstances is
prohibited. A detailed list of major offences regarded as
just reasons for immediate dismissal can be found in the
Employee Handbook.
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. Employment (Cont’d)

General Disclosure (Cont’d)
Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining
an inclusive workplace culture and to providing equal
opportunities in all aspects of employment and protecting
the Group’s employees from discrimination, physical or
verbal harassment based on race, religion, colour, gender,
physical or mental disability, age, place of origin, marital
status and sexual orientation. Deliberate acts of unlawful
discrimination or harassment are considered as one of
the serious misconducts that may result in termination of
the contract without notice. The Group does not tolerate
sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace of any
form.

Health and Safety
General Disclosure

The Group places high priority in providing employees
with a safe and healthy working environment. Therefore,
a comprehensive policy on occupational health and safety
is in place to safeguard the interest of the employees.

During induction training, relevant policies and
procedures will be explained and/or provided to the
employees to mitigate the occurrence of accidents.
Relevant policies are reviewed annually, or soon after
an incident arises, to make sure that the said policies
continue to be of relevance.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group including but not limited to the Occupational
Health and Safety Act 2004 and the Occupational Health
and Safety Regulations 2007 of Victoria, Australia and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong
Kong.
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)
B2. Health and Safety (Cont’d)

General Disclosure (Cont’d)
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group recognises that employees are its most
valuable assets, therefore the Group is keen on providing
a safe and healthy working environment to retain talents
and ensure that their well-being is taken care of. At the
Resorts, a front office training session has been held
to familiarise its employees with various emergency
scenarios such as gas leak, wildlife or bomb threats.
Relevant health and safety policies are indicated in the
Employee Handbook. Uniform and/or personal protective
equipment are provided for relevant employees.

Safety Training and Inspections

The Group’'s employees are made aware of the
importance of strict compliance with safety requirements.
At the commencement of the employment, the
employees will be receiving applicable training for their
particular positions. Personnel, whether employed directly
or indirectly by the Group, is required to abide by all
applicable laws, regulations and safety requirements
imposed by relevant government authorities.

Occupational health and safety meetings are held
regularly to address concerns and identify possible
alternatives or solutions in an expedited manner. Regular
meetings were held in FY2019 and minutes have been
taken during all these meetings. Meetings are considered
crucial to the improvement of the health and safety of
guests and its employees as issues are directly dealt with
and persons-in-charge are designated to ensure that the
actions or plans are followed through.
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B3. Development and Training
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General Disclosure
Training and Development

The Group aspires to unleash the potential of its
employees. Training and continuous development are
indispensable to the Group’s staff to keep abreast of the
latest trend in the industry.

Thus, the Group takes a proactive approach to provide
employees with opportunities to advance their careers.
The Group has established a policy to encourage its
employees to pursue training for the advancement of
their careers that will both benefit the Group and the
employees. The training cost may be covered by the
Group subject to the approval of the Group.

At the Resorts, the Group provides its employees with
workshops such as fire prevention training, first aid
and cardiopulmonary resuscitation to raise employees’
awareness towards emergency situations.

In the office, the Group has arranged its employees to
participate in seminars organized by ListcoPRO, a leading
services provider for listed companies in Hong Kong
in the area of continuing professional development.
Seminars participated by the employees pertain to topics
such as corporate fraud, effective internal control and
new enforcement trend of the Stock Exchange and
Securities and Futures Commission.

Training contents are regularly updated to be in line with
the industrial standards and provide maximum benefit to
the employees.
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B4.

B5.

Labour Standards
General Disclosure
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during
the recruitment process as prescribed by laws and
regulations. The Group strictly complies with local laws
and does not provide job opportunities to children before
they reach the legal age to work.

Personal data such as identification cards information will
be collected during the recruitment process. If violation is
involved, it will be dealt with according to circumstances.
No employee shall be compelled to work against his or
her will through force or intimidation of any form or
subjected to corporal punishment or coercion of any type
related to work.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations, that would have a significant impact
on the Group including but not limited to the Child
Employment Act 2003, Fair Work Act 2009 of Victoria,
Australia and Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Supply Chain Management
General Disclosure
Supply Chain Management

The Group takes into account suppliers’ job references,
prevailing market price, delivery time and reputation.
Non-compliance with laws, regulations and standards
in connection with environmental and social matters
are one of the Group's key considerations in engaging
a new supplier or renewing a contract with existing
suppliers. Preferential consideration will be given to
suppliers who utilise recycled or reused material in their
production process. The Group strives not to over-rely on
a specific supplier in order to ensure the stability of the
supply chain. The Group is keen on supporting the local
economies, where possible, the procurement is sourced
locally in Australia and Hong Kong.
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Supply Chain Management (Cont'd)
General Disclosure (Cont’d)
Supply Chain Management (Cont’d)

Procurement policy is present within the Group. Where
possible, competitive quotes should be obtained from at
least two suppliers. For procurement of a higher value,
an additional analysis should be run through beforehand,
such as its cost and benefit, presence of other alternatives
and implications if the said purchase is not made.

Regular assessment will be conducted on existing
suppliers from time to time to monitor the actual and
potential environmental and social impacts. Contracts
with suppliers may be terminated if the expectation of
the Group is not met.

Product Responsibility
General Disclosure

The Group is committed to providing the highest quality
of service to its customers, not only because it is crucial
to the health and safety of its customers and clients,
but also the potential of attracting future business
opportunities.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014,
Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 of Victoria, Australia
and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong,
concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services and
methods of redress.

Business Ethics

The Group advocates ethical practices and is determined
to mitigate any potential misconduct or poor services
in all its business segments. Therefore, the Group has
established different policies, as shown below, to better
guide its employees and nurture them the importance of
upholding ethical practices from the beginning of their
professional career.
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B6. Product Responsibility (Cont'd)

General Disclosure (Cont’d)
Product Quality and Safety

Quality is often emphasised by the Group as some of
the Resorts maintain vineyards. To ensure the quality of
the products, strict requirements have been imposed on
the storage environment and the production facilities.
The Group also conducts quality control inspection upon
receiving wine from its subcontractor. The winery in
Cleveland has obtained a Liquor Licence pursuant to the
Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 of Victoria, Australia and
strictly complies with the requirements prescribed in the
said Licence.

Customer Health and Safety

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring customers’
health and safety. Detailed policies and guidelines have
been in place to ensure employees provide the highest
qguality and safe services to the Group’s customers
and guests. In doing so, occurrence of unfortunate
accidents or illnesses can be avoided. On the other hand,
disciplinary actions will be taken against employees who
participate in activities that would threaten the health
and safety of concerned parties, his/her colleagues or
others.

Marketing and Labelling

The Group conforms with wine labelling guidelines
pursuant to the Wine Australia Act 2013. As for alcohol
marketing, the Group abides by the requirements set
out in the ABAC Responsible Alcohol Marketing Code.
Relevant guidelines have been provided to the relevant
employees.

Advertising Management

Guidelines on the special requirements in money lending
business advertisement are formally documented. In
addition, the Group abides by the stipulated legal
requirements that pertain to the Money Lending Licence
under the Money Lenders Ordinance.
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Product Responsibility (Cont’d)
General Disclosure (Cont’d)
Customer Services and Complaint Management

Feedbacks and complaints from the Group’s customers
and guests are welcomed as it is the key to enhancing
the Group's services. Procedures for handling complaints
are detailed in the Service Handbook for the reference
of relevant employees. Should the Group receive any
complaints, the Group will strive to act immediately to
resolve the issue with effective corrective actions.

Customer Data Protection and Privacy

The Group respects the values and rights of customers’
information. The Group’s employees are trained to
respect the confidentiality of the Group’s customers’
information and have been advised that highly
confidential data should not be transmitted through the
use of electronic communications as it is not completely
private. The Group has also implemented firewall,
anti-virus, and anti-spam solutions for the Group’s IT
systems to safeguard confidential information and are
routinely upgraded.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Policies and measures regarding the protection of
intellectual property rights are in place. For any
infringement of the Group's intellectual property rights,
the Group will urge infringers to cease such action. The
Human Resources Department of the Group shall take
further action should infringement continue.

Anti-corruption
General Disclosure
Anti-corruption

The Group affirms its zero-tolerance policy towards
corruption, fraud and all other behaviours that severely
violates professionalism and work ethics. The Group
places high priority on integrity, honesty and fairness.
Policies on corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering are clearly stated within the Employee
Handbook.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to the Criminal Code Act 1995
of Australia and Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B7.

B8.

Anti-corruption (Cont’d)
General Disclosure (Cont’d)

Anti-money Laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

Engaging in the money lending business, the Group is
particularly sensitive to any signs of money laundering
and financial crimes. Apart from the compliance with
laws and guidelines set up by regulatory authorities,
the Group recognises that the responsibility to help
protect the integrity of the financial system lies within
the Group. Therefore, a number of guidelines are in
place to safeguard the interests of the Group, such as
a background investigation, due diligence and loan
approvals for loan financing applications.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has a whistle-blowing policy in place to
encourage employees to report any suspicious fraudulent
activities. The Group intends to protect the whistle-blower
from common concerns such as confidentiality and
potential retaliation. Therefore, the employee(s) reporting
in good faith under this procedure shall be assured of
the protection against unfair termination or victimisation,
even if the reports are subsequently proved to be
unsubstantiated.

Community Investment
General Disclosure
Community Engagement

The Group believes in giving back to the society where
the Group operates through social participation and
encourages its staff to participate in charitable activities
including charity runs and other volunteer activities.
The associated costs of such activities taking into
consideration the communities’ interests shall be borne
by the Group in order to increase participation rate. The
Board is responsible for monitoring and evaluating the
Group's effectiveness in community engagement and
considers the existing policy to be adequate.

EXMEEZRERLQT | —F

RE g RERBRE

B. tt = (4&)

B7

BS.

KRBT ()

—MRHKE (&)
FTE X #E RN

FELEF

ENRERERES AKEHIMART
BENERILERRLEGFRE-RET
HMERBRENEZRERESIN AE
IR HZ B ARNEYRECRERT
BEUENET -Fitt AEECRIRER
FMEHEBEES  WHERRE
HAEETERAS ERESRER
=i

RIS

AEBECHERRBER  UBIEE
HETASRUKGFES - NEEHR
EERARIERER MBTIER
BERE -Fi RELEFEHRER
MEEKERERLX TAFHRERE

ENRE NPEABERSREY

AR o

HERE

— BT

HERH

ARBEEEAILE e REHERS
BEERENEE THBE TS

ﬁ%%é@'@%@ %0 R E

BEEH  AEMETSHE . REE

B 7 WA AR AR B IRk [ 2 6 ol

KEXN -EZCREERLFEDR
SEHHR2ENRK YRASRE
BRB@EY) -

—NEFR 107



ENVIRONN\ENIQ\E SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
iﬁiﬁ Zi = N A#&l:l

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX BB
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG % W
Gl

LIMITED

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

B
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Z AR R A Gr
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KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TEER - BEH —REE
REARBERES g 41
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT B
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
— PR FE EHBERMAEREHR MK RLHAEES . BB
EENBERREYNELTHN:
(@) % &k

KPI'A1.1 (“comply or
explain™)
RSB IR IRATL
([TEFRLARE])
KPI' A1.2 (“comply or
explain”)
RASRAE IR IRA1.2
(I TEFRUAERE])
KPI'A1.3 (“comply or
explain”)
BB SRR A3
(I ETRLARRE])
KPI'A1.4 (“comply or
explain™)
FASAE IEIR A4
([T EFRLARE])
KPI'A1.5 (“comply or
explain”)
BASRAE IR ALS
([T ETRUEERE])
KPI'A1.6 (“comply or
explain”)

FRH SRR ALG
([NETRLREE])

b) BTHETABEAZENHBEER A
HRH)E R

The types of emissions and respective emissions

data.

PR R AR HE R

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.

BERBAEYNE (A E) REE-

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.

FMEABEREMEE (ABAE) REE-

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity.

EABREREEMEE (AMGE) REBE-

Description of reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

AR BN E B I8 b BT ISACR ©

Description of how hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.

HEREEERESEEYN AL REELE
EMEERFTERER-
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Emissions — GHG Emissions, Sewage
Discharge, Waste Management
HER — R =R BB 5K

KEEEYE IR
Emissions — GHG Emissions
B — R = R AL
Emissions — Waste Management
Not applicable — Explained
Y —BEEYEE
TER-C e
Emissions — Waste Management

B —BEEYERE

Emissions — Air Emissions, GHG
Emissions, Waste Management
PR — RS HE R R ER BN

NEEMEIR

Emissions — Waste Management

BE) —EERYEIE



Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPIs

TEHE - BEEH —RESE
RBARERIER
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RIE - MEARE

Description

i)

=1

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBEA2 : EREM

General Disclosure

— MR ER

KPI' A2.1 (“comply or
explain™)

BB AE HEIRA2.1
(I ETRLEERE])

KPI'A2.2 (“comply or
explain”)

BB IR IRA2.2
(ITE<TRAEE])

KPI' A2.3 (“comply or
explain”)

BB AE IEIRA2.3
([T EFRUAERE])

KPI A2.4 (“comply or
explain”)

FARAE IEIRA2.4
(I EB<ToifRE])

KPI' A2.5 (“comply or
explain™)

R A IR IRA2.5
([NEBTRLRRE])

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

EAAMERER (BEEIR KEEMERM
) B BUR o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type in total and intensity.

RENEONEER SMEEREEERE
e

Water consumption in total and intensity.
RFEKERRE-

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.
i i BE R 2 R s 5t &8 R P S BCR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

Fid it SR EGE A KR R BRI RE - DA KRR T
K Rt 8l R PT1SACR ©

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and with reference to
per unit produced.

BRmAEREMANEE (AEFE) &k
BEEEMGE-

Use of Resources

BIRfEM

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

BIRIER —sERERE

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BIREE R —KIRERE

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

BIREM —REIRBER

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BIRE A — KR #

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

Not applicable — Explained

BRERA-—BEMEER

TEA—CRE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPIs Description
TEHER -EH —RKE
REARERER H

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BHEHA3 RERXAER

General Disclosure

— MR ER

KPI'A3.1 (“comply or
explain™)

BA B 45 1R A3
(IhE~TRifEE])

Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : EfE

General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.

BEABBEZETAHRREERAEREKERKR
TENBEK -

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

B EBETHEHRBERIAAERNEATE
FERNEBREEZENITE -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

BRI LR BREEEN TERRE KR
H -FEHRE Zab REERREMEF
FEINEEVIEVE

(@) B &

b) BFHBITABERAZENHBEERNE
RV EHL -
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The Environment and Natural
Resources

RENRRAREIR

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Use of Other
Resources, Climate Change
Mitigation and Adaptation,
Noise Control
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPIs Description
TEHE -BH —REE
R ERERIEE i

R e MEARSE

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB2  REREZZ

General Disclosure Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

—RIE FHRHZE2TEREMREREELBE
(M=o
(@) B &
(o) BTHBRTAGEARENEBEEAR IR
R EH

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FEmEB3 : # & KIEI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

ERRAEERTIERENMB L REN
BUR - i at 155 E B

— MR IR

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

FEMEBA : % T#A|

General Disclosure Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and

forced labour.

— MR BB IEE T RogHs TH:
(a) BR: K&
(b) BFHBITAEEATFENHEBEERRE
HEER -

Health and Safety

Development and Training

R MIE

Labour Standards
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEER -BEH —REE
REARERER H 4 1

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EHEBS : fitfESE TR

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management
risks of the supply chain.
— PRI FE BRATEHEENRE L SRR HER HfE g s 18

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EHEB6 : EmEE
General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

— AR EE BRMREHERMIGONEFEEZS2 - BE EmAE
EECYSNCENEMPONE POz
(@ BE: &
(o) ETHEBHTABEAFENHBERE
HEVE KL

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : RES
General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

—MRIREE BRI -8R BMEFRARER: RES
(a) BR: K&
(b) BFHBITABERFENHEBEERRE
HEER -

Aspect B8: Community Investment
EmEBS:HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to  Community Investment
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

— B BEUMESRATRETALSENELE HERA
FENRREEHEDEEBUBH S
Bk -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving and upholding
good corporate governance practices that promote greater
transparency and quality of disclosure as well as more effective
internal control.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its code of
corporate governance. The Board is responsible for performing
corporate governance duties including (a) developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; (b) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (c) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; and (d) reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the Code Provisions. The Board had carried out the said
corporate governance functions during the year under review.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER"” on page 117 in this Annual Report, the
Company has complied with all the Code Provisions then in force
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are determined by the remuneration committee of
the Company with reference to their relevant qualifications,
experience, competence and the prevailing market conditions.

The remuneration of the Group's senior management during the
year ended 31 December 2019 falls within the following bands:

No. of individuals

HK$1,000 to HK$1,500,000 12
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 0

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had also made specific
enquiry of all Directors, that the Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
the Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended
31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises six
members, three of which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Hui
Chun Sum, Ms. Lam Ching Yee who has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect
from 5 June 2019, and Ms. Pauline Lam. Three other members
of the Board are independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Ho Kin
Wai, who has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 10 January 2019. Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 10 January 2019.

The members of the Board, who come from different
backgrounds, provide a diverse range of business and
professional expertise to the Company. The biographical details
of the Directors are set out in the section headed “DIRECTORS
PROFILE” on pages 37 to 39 in this Annual Report. All Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company at least once every three years
in accordance with the Bye-Laws. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for the Directors. As at the date of
this Annual Report, none of the Directors has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) with each other.
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Roles and responsibilities of the Board and delegation to
the management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions
and performance, and is responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. In
practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision making
in all major matters of the Company which include approving
and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies, material
transactions, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the senior executives who are responsible for implementing the
decisions of the Board, the coordination and direction of day-to-
day operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to the
entering by the Group into any significant transactions. These
senior executives provide full support to the Board in order for
the Board members to discharge their responsibilities.

Practices and conduct of board meetings

The company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the
Company is responsible to the Board for providing Board papers
and related materials, for ensuring that all Board procedures and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed, and for
reporting to the Chairman on governance matters. All Directors
have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary also keeps minutes
of all meetings of the Board which are available for inspection at
any reasonable time on reasonable notice given by any Director.

The Board meets regularly and held 27 board meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2019. The Directors attended
the meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-Laws. During the
regular Board meetings, the Directors discussed and formulated
the overall strategies of the Group, reviewed and approved the
annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discussed and
decided on other significant matters of the Group. All Directors
have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view
to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company's expense, upon making request to the Board.
The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent
professional advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge
their duties to the Company.
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In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial
Shareholder or a Director, such matter will be discussed
through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict
of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict
issues. The Board committees, including the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee,
have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used
in Board meetings for all committee meetings. If considered to
be necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they may retain
independent professional advisors at the Group's expense.

Individual attendance records of each Director at the respective
Board and committee meetings are set out in the table on page
122 of this Annual Report.

Directors’ continuing professional development

All Directors have been updated from time to time on the latest
developments and changes in the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure the Company’s
compliance and to enhance the Directors’ awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors understand
the importance of continuous professional development and
are committed to participating in any suitable training or to
studying relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

Mr. Hui Chun Sum, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Pauline Lam,
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Ho Kin Wai
had confirmed that they have complied with Code Provision
A.6.5 during the year ended 31 December 2019 by participating
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year under review, the
Company has provided trainings and relevant materials regarding
the GEM Listing Rules to the Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board, manages the
Board and oversees the strategic planning of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the Group's business
development and daily management generally. According
to Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. With effect from 1 December
2018, Mr. Hui Chun Sum became the Chairman. The office
of the Chief Executive Officer was vacant from 22 November
2017 until 4 June 2019, during which the Board was identifying
candidates with the suitable knowledge, skill and experience to
fill the vacancy. The Board believed that the balance of power
and authority of the Board was adequately ensured under the
existing arrangement and operations of the Board, as the Board
comprised experienced and high caliber individuals, half of whom
being independent non-executive Directors. Ms. Lam Ching Yee
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from
5 June 2019.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2),
and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review,
with the appointment of the three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom having appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers such Directors to be independent in
accordance with each and the various guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Each of Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Lee King Fui and
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (who resigned with effect from 10 January
2019) was appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (both days inclusive).
Mr. Ho Kin Wai was appointed for a term commencing from
10 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (both days inclusive).
Each of Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Ho
Kin Wai was re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, and the nomination
committee, each with its specific terms of reference. Their terms
of reference have been approved and reviewed by the Board and
have been posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. During the year under review, these committees have
adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set out
in their respective terms of reference. The respective committee
secretaries took full minutes of the meetings of these committees
and the work of these committees was reported to the Board
regularly during the year under review.

Audit Committee

An audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and Code Provision
C.3.3. The Audit Committee must consist of a minimum of three
members, all of whom must be non-executive Directors, at least
one of whom must have appropriate professional qualification
or accounting or related financial management expertise.
From 1 January 2019 to 9 January 2019, the Audit Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Leung
Ting Yuk. From 10 January 2019 to the date of this Annual
Report, the Audit Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe,
Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Ho Kin Wai. Mr. Wong Siu Keung,
Joe has been the chairman of the Audit Committee during the
year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to review the
Group's financial information, reporting process, internal control
procedures, risk management system, audit plan, relationship
with external auditors and to review arrangements to enable
employees of the Group, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Group.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
held six meetings to review and provide supervision over the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and to review the Company’s annual report and accounts,
half-year report and quarterly reports and to provide advice
and comments to the Board as to whether such reports were
prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements. The Audit Committee also met with the
external auditors to discuss auditing, internal control, statutory
compliance and financial reporting matters of the Group before
recommending the annual financial reports to the Board for
approval.

The Group's quarterly, half-yearly and annual results for the year
under review have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Code Provision B.1.2. From 1 January 2019
to 9 January 2019, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong
Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Leung Ting Yuk.
From 10 January 2019 to the date of this Annual Report,
the Remuneration Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe,
Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Ho Kin Wai. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Renumeration Committee during
the year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.
The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy
and structure in relation to the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Company and to review and approve
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
goals and objectives set by the Board for the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration
Committee held four meetings and adopted the approach under
Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the policy for the remuneration of the executive
Directors, assessed the performance of the executive Directors
and had reviewed and approved the appointment letters of the
Directors and the terms thereof as well as the remuneration
and the discretionary bonus of the Directors during the year
under review. No Director was involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

A nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Code Provision A.5.2. From 1 January 2019
to 9 January 2019, the Nomination Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong
Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Leung Ting Yuk.
From 10 January 2019 to the date of this Annual Report,
the Nomination Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe,
Mr. Lee King Fui and Mr. Ho Kin Wai. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Nomination Committee during
the year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee held three meetings to review the policy for the
nomination of Directors, the procedures, process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for directorship, the structure, size and composition
of the Board, to recommend candidates for directorship and
to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

The process for the nomination of Directors, which is on merit
basis, is led by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) in August 2013
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity of
the Board in order to ensure good governance.

REZES®

BEEgERUREEZES ([RBEEE]):
,\Eﬁﬁi%%ﬁlﬁé?EJﬂmK%AS2fI7k £2]

—NEFE—A—BE-_T—hF— HHE
}m%é,\am %%_Léhsﬂﬁ%%iﬂﬁ)z el
EEJHQ%E TYBEERR SEE ° FH
—E-NE— H+Ei$$#&a,ﬁﬂ RRBEB
@EEE%%Q#%MT%%%E&’ﬁﬁwﬁﬁ*{%%ﬁ
TE FEBAEERMNEELEE -NOBEFE
MAAFEHRBE EkBEEAREEZTE ST
B REREEE T EREAMESRANE
FEZTUNESEIEMESSELHER
Eze

HE-_Z—NF+-_A=+—HLEFE 1%
ZECBRT-AEE URNESELHE -
REZESHHBEREEZESHEEAMER
ZRERF BREREE-BEHESS2EE R
BRAER NEEEERE AR EB L IER
TEEZB Y F5-

ﬂ

ﬁ?Zk%kaﬁh%éﬁa ZEC RN/
R-B—=F)\ARMEFEZ T Eﬁlﬁﬁ(ﬁ&
BEl) ﬁi%ﬁUL?ﬁZ&%%é%ég%_{tZ

TR ABRRIFE R

120 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019



In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service and any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant and applicable from time to time. High emphasis
is placed on ensuring a balanced composition of skills and
experience at the Board level in order to provide a range of
perspectives, insights and challenge that enables the Board to
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, support good
decision making in view of the core businesses and strategy of
the Company and support succession planning and development
of the Board. For achieving an optimal Board, additional
measurable objectives/specific diversity targets may be set and
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Policy and will take
into account this Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the
Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing on a
single diversity aspect.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board appointments.
The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices, with
the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity. With
effect from 5 June 2019, Ms. Lam Ching Yee was appointed as
an executive Director whereby gender parity of the Board has
been improved. The Board also aspires to having an appropriate
proportion of directors who have direct experience in the Group’s
core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting
the Group’s strategy.

The Nomination Committee reviews this Policy at least once
annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions to the Policy that may be required
and make recommendation to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of this
Policy by conducting review of the Board’s composition at least
once annually taking into account the benefits of all relevant
diversity aspects and adhering to the Policy when making
recommendation on any Board appointments. The Nomination
Committee also ensures that Board diversity is considered as part
of the evaluation of the Board’s effectiveness. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, relevant trainings were provided to
the Directors from time to time to equip themselves with the
attributes and competencies required for the Board in light of
the strategic needs of the Group and the environment in which it
operates.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT
MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of the
Board and its respective committees and general meetings of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019 are as
follows:

EEHF g Rk

BE_Z-NFT_A=T"HLEFERSZ
é%%i%’\&ﬁi\k?%@@%&$ Al
RRGZHEREFIBTWT

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
attend attend attend attend attend
HE/RER HE/GEK WLRE/RER HE/SEK
LEESS HEER o HERE HR/AEK
Name of Directors ESHE 8% ZE28R 2 £EBg8E 2 Z£EgE8R UHEREKE
Number of meetings held during RMBEEAETZ
the financial year SRENRH 27 6 4 3 1
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hui Chun Sum AARARE L 24027 0/0 0/0 0/0 171
Ms. Lam Ching Yee (appointed with ~ MEFELZ L (RZF—NF
effect from 5 June 2019) ~ARAE Z%E) 1414 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Ms. Pauline Lam WEZEL T 25/27 0/0 0/0 0/0 7
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BkRiLE
(Committee Chairman) (FEETE) 25027 6/6 4/4 33 171
Mr. Lee King Fui FYHELE 27127 6/6 4/4 23 7
Mr. Ho Kin Wai (appointed with effect 2EL4 (R=T—NF
from 10 January 2019) —AtHEZMA) 23/25 6/6 33 22 1/1
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (resigned with ~ 2EE LA (ERZT—NEF
effect from 10 January 2019) —ATHEE) 12 0/0 o1 11 0/0

Note: Attendances of the Director who resigned during the year ended
31 December 2019 were made by reference to the number of
such meetings held during their respective tenures.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees paid/payable
to the Group’s external auditor, Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited,
for the audit and non-audit services provided to the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1,030,000 and approximately
HK$20,000 respectively. The total amount of fees paid/payable
to other audit firms for providing audit and non-audit services for
the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$600,000 and approximately HK$379,000 respectively. The
non-audit service fees incurred consist of fees of approximately
HK$379,000 for taxation review.

g B2 —_F-AF+_A=1t—HLFERN
ERTESLHRELBED2ENREZEME
HINPTRIT SRR BUED -

% 20 B
HE-FT-NF+-A=+—ALFE 5H#H

AEBREBEXRIEEZRBE, TEIMHT
AEBEZIINEZHE X EEIZ LA EEAT
BRAGHERAD R4 41,030,000/ 7T & 4
20,0008 L - HE-_E—NF+-_A=+—H
IHFE RRESEIIEBZREME, X
NFHEMBARARNBREBAT AN A
600,000/ 7T & #9379,000/8 JT ° IE T AZ IR 75 B
47 BRBIE#379,0008 T2 MBES -
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under
the GEM Listing Rules, and management will provide information
and explanations to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company'’s external auditor, Ascenda Cachet
CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities is included in
the Independent Auditor’s Report in this Annual Report.

Despite the fact that the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$73,164,000 as at 31 December 2019, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
basis that the Group will continue to operate as a going concern.
The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is able to
continue as a going concern and to meet in full their financial
obligations as (i) the Group had net assets of approximately
HK$368 million including financial assets at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$164 million as at 31 December 2019 classified
as non-current assets which could be realised to satisfy the
current liabilities obligations of the Group; (ii) the Group has
been actively negotiating with its creditors and/or banker(s) to
extend the repayment terms of its indebtedness, and as detailed
in note 25(d) to the consolidated financial statements in April
2020, the Group has entered into a supplemental agreement
with the lender for not demanding for the repayment of the
Bailihong Loan (as defined in note 25(d)) of approximately
HK$55,233,000 within the next 12 months from the date of the
supplemental agreement; and (iii) continuing financial support
has been provided by a substantial shareholder of the Company,
who has confirmed her willingness to continue financing the
operation of the Group to meet its future obligations, and has
also entered into a loan facility agreement with the Company
in April 2020, pursuant to which, the substantial shareholder
has agreed to provide the Loan Facility to the Group for the
purpose of its general working capital. As at the date of these
consolidated financial statements, the Shareholder’s Loan has
been drawn down by the Group which bears interest at a fixed
rate of 10% per annum and is repayable 12 months after the
drawdown provided that the substantial shareholder will not
demand for repayment of the Shareholder’s Loan upon maturity
until the Group is in a position to do so. In light of all the
measures adopted and arrangements implemented, the Directors
are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient cash
resources to satisfy its future working capital and other financial
requirements and it is reasonable to expect the Group to remain
as a commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the Directors
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group's affairs. The Company
Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board
procedures are followed and that the Board is briefed on
legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments.
During the year under review, the Company Secretary has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as
required by the GEM Listing Rules.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the
Group's systems of risk management and internal control
and for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to meet
the particular needs of the Group and to mitigate the risks which
it is exposed to. By their nature, however, such risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board has engaged
an independent advisor to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material financial, operating and compliance controls for
the year ended 31 December 2019. Such review is conducted
annually. The scope of the review has been previously determined
and approved by the Board and the Audit Committee. The
independent advisor has reported major findings and areas of
improvement to the Board. All the recommendations have been
properly followed up by the Group to ensure that they will be
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board is of
the view that the Group’s current risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective.

As might be expected of a Group of its size, a key control
procedure is the day-to-day supervision of the business by the
executive Directors, supported by managers responsible for
operations and the key central and divisional support provided by
the Group’s financial information systems and human resources.
Key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group as described below have all been in place
throughout the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report and are reviewed regularly by the Board:

NAME

NAWERAEBRE RUAKEEEEH
BERARB - RAIMERNEFSAEHRRDE
REFERFAESTSC THXN  ROIRDE
EERBER-NOBEFE RAMEEERT
PRGEM ETRAFARE 2+ R NG ZEH
BRI

AEREE

EXSRRERYNAEASE ZERERE R
AMEERR IRTZFEERRZBR
H-REREERAREERR R DSEN
AREEZFRIHEARREEY 2 Rk
A ERZSFEAREEMARBEE ZG21E
B ERFIREEMIPBR L R - A Z
HEKBER WEREREABRRALER
REHESEMFEBH IRE-EZSCERE
VER BHAKEERE _T-NLF+ A
=S+ BLEFEZRBREEMARBEE ZR
ZEBE BEMBERMBE BEERARE
FE-HAEHNEFET X -FEHEEHES
ERERZEBERMNERE LML - BIERFD
AEFEEREANEE MFROERT - AEE
BEEBUMARER AEREENR G ERH
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MEERGBRY RAX-
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BRANBEREEEBA KRG TR
TXFHEAEBERARERERARNEE ZGL
TERERNBERNBEFEREEAFHREH
ExHEEN YHEFSETTHES:
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clearly defined management structure, lines of responsibilities
and delegation of authority;

high recruitment standards and formal career development
and training to ensure the integrity and competence of the
staff;

regular and comprehensive information provided to
management, covering financial performance and non-
financial measures;

procedures for the approval of capital expenditure,
investments and acquisitions;

detailed budgeting process in which top management is
involved in budget setting, constant monitoring of key
statistics and review of management accounts on a monthly
basis, noting and investigating major variances; and

consideration of progress made against significant business
risks at monthly management review meetings, with quarterly
briefings to the Board.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group'’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

Considers the impacts of the risks on the business caused
by the adverse events associated with the risks and the
likelihood of occurrence of these adverse events.
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Response to Risks

Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessments; and

Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid and mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place and resolve material internal control defects (if any);

Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

Reports the results of risk monitoring to management and
the Board regularly.

Inside Information

The Group has in place, as an element of its risk management
and internal control systems, a policy on disclosure of inside
information, to ensure that inside information is handled
and disseminated properly and in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations. The finance manager of the
Company and the department heads within the Group are
responsible for monitoring the changes and developments in
their respective areas of operation and report any potential
or suspected inside information events to the Board. Based
on the information obtained through internal reporting, the
Board assesses whether any of the information constitutes
inside information which needs to be released to the public.
Should public disclosure be required, the Board will determine
the scope of information to be disclosed and the timing of
disclosure. If and when appropriate, the Board may seek
independent professional advice to ensure that the Company
complies with the disclosure requirements.

The Board has considered the need for an internal audit function,

and concluded that, given the size of the Group and its risk
management and internal control systems in place, it is not
necessary at present. The Board will review this issue on an
annual basis.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with effect from
1 January 2019. Dividends may be paid out by means of cash
or by other means that the Directors consider appropriate.
Declaration and payment of any dividends would require the
recommendation of the Board and will be at its discretion. In
addition, any dividends for a financial year will be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders. A decision to declare or to pay
any dividends in the future, and the amount of any dividends,
depends on a number of factors, including the financial
performance and future funding needs of the Company and
other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject
to compliance with the Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with the Shareholders is given a high priority by
the Company. The Company aims to provide the Shareholders
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency
through the publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports,
announcements and circulars made through the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.

The Board also maintains an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and use general meetings to communicate with
the Shareholders. The Company encourages all the Shareholders
to attend general meetings of the Company which provide a
useful forum for the Shareholders to exchange their views with
the Board. The Chairman and members of the relevant Board
committees and senior management of the Company are also
available to answer the Shareholders’ questions in the general
meetings.
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To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially independent issue
at general meetings of the Company, including the election
of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings of the Company will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
significant change in the Company’s memorandum of association
and the Bye-Laws.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a general meeting

Pursuant to Bye-Law 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Such written requisition (i) must state the object of business to
be transacted at the meeting; and (ii) must be signed by the
requisitionists; and (iii) must be deposited at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong in hard copy form
for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The
requisition may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more of the requisitionist(s).
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Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Save for the procedures for the Shareholders to convene a
general meeting as set out above and for the Shareholders to
nominate a person for election as a Director pursuant to Bye-Law
85 of the Bye-Laws, there are no other provisions allowing the
Shareholders to put forward proposals at a general meeting
of the Company under the Bye-Laws or under the laws of
Bermuda. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above
to convene a special general meeting of the Company for any
business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. Questions about the procedures
for convening or putting forward proposals at an annual general
meeting or a special general meeting of the Company may also
be put to the Company Secretary by the same means.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF

HANG TAI YUE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and re-domiciled and
continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 147 to 295, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENRE S

ERER

BMEREFLESAM RS RANT BT
ER([EBEFFTERETEZ - RMARZK
FEREMETHNEETRARSE X BED TS
RAEMBRRAZEZEE] —HPE—TH
o REBEFBGTMASHEMBES NG
A (TR - RABLR E&KE AC
BRETAETEMBRE - RMEE B
ESNERERERN LEEMASEMZE
TR REHER-

s EZE A

FAREZFALSUMANERHE S FERAH
HEMBBRRTREENEE - LANELE
BRaUBRREFALTERERBEE LS
FH MAERHFEREFERSR M
R AZ A 238 Tt — S IR R FH 75 A L

RPEBITARSE [TZBE R EZLR S MR
RBERFECEME] —HPHANET BIRE
ZEFRMENET Ei HAINEZTIE
BRAUTABREFENGEEMBERREANHE
R BRI B T B ATROAR 7 » AT T B R R 7
MER BREEE TREEMATHEF B
MR ERRERERERREH®RTE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter
BEREZSBHR

s EZEE (B)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

(i) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers in relation to provision of information technology

(“IT") contract services

() FRARHEANKR ([EANED GARBEZEFEHBRARR

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for further
information.
FRMGAYERRMT24N3EEESTHHAB TR
R HERGFA I EBERGEEVYBBRERMISCE—FE
#} o

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recognised revenue from contract with customers in
relation to provision of IT contract services and maintenance
services of approximately HK$544,544,000, of which,
as to approximately HK$488,564,000 for provision of IT
contract services which were recognised progressively over
time using the input method.
BE_ZT-NF+_A=+—RHLFE EEEH
RHUEAMKREGORBE REERBERETF QKA
#)544,544,0008 70 EF RHEEMBZAORBND
488,564,000/ JT {8 A #a1 A A BE B ) 1 R WE AR

Contract revenue recognised progressively over time using
the input method is based on the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, with
reference to the total cost incurred up to the end of the
period as a percentage of estimated total contract cost.

ERBAEEREREERANSOBWATIER 8%
BATKEBENEEMNENBNIRA UELEHE
HIREA N B AEEF RSN RN BA D LEE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment of the revenue recognition from contracts
with customers in relation to provision of IT contract
services included:
HERBHAMREEAMBRAARBZEREH
WARERNGE - BHAAIPERREIEF B

— Obtaining an understanding of how management
estimated the budget cost and how management
determined the progress;

- THEBEBMMGERENRNAREIRE WM E
EHE

— Obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total
estimated costs to completion for all IT contracts
in progress during the year and comparing, on a
sample basis, actual costs incurred to the reporting
date and future cost (i.e. labour cost or labour
hours) to be further incurred and estimated by
management in its assessment of the estimated
costs to completion;

- BSFAMBETHEMBIRE QMM TR
REBEOFRAMA YHEEBREREBH LR
EENEBERKALHE IR BN HERT KA MEE
A AEERE - TEENRKKAN (BIAL
PRANS TR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

(i) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers in relation to provision of information technology

(“IT") contract services (cont’d)
(i) EBERERHERARNE (TERARE])

Management reviewed and revised the estimates of
revenue and contract costs for each IT contract by
comparing the most current budgeted amounts with
corresponding actual amounts as the contract work
progresses.

EREEERAANIBERE BAMRKOHNTEESR
MEENERE BHNEFTENHEMBRAHNK
AREBHRRNEE -

For this reason, we identified the revenue recognition
from contracts with customers in relation to provision of IT
contract services as a key audit matter.

At HAERNERREREANRAOBRB2EFEH

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR

BHBB2EFEHBARR (&)

Discussing with management the performance
of IT contract in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, and challenging the key estimates
and assumptions adopted in the forecasts for
budget costs by management based on the past
experience, including estimated costs (i.e. labour
cost and labour hours) to completion, the adequacy
of contingency provisions and extra costs incurred
for work behind schedule, by obtaining and
evaluating relevant information in connection to
the assumptions adopted, including checking with
the corresponding services orders, subsequent
issued invoices and subsequent settlement for
contract assets, the correspondence with customers
regarding the subsequent confirmation of services
orders; and by considering historical outcomes for
similar contracts; and
BEMEKEEREEEIRFALEETHINE
AR RAORE TEREEBENBELSRM
BEKATERMEANERGT MERR BfFEE
BT BTN (BD AT AR TRy ) - fE =8
R 7R M M A TR R M E £ R BN -
AARERR HEMRANRREBNERE
B BREERENREIE RESHANE
EUREBEEHNEENGEE BRRERBTIE
EREETP HANYERE: X EREAUSH
MWESLER: &
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEREZSBHR BN ERNNEEBREREE

(i) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers in relation to provision of information technology

(“IT") contract services (cont’d)

() FARHEANKR ([EANEDSARB2EFEHNWARR (&)

Inspecting on a sample basis of agreements and/or
services orders with customers to identify key
terms and conditions, including the contracting
parties, the contract period, the contract sum, the
scope of work, the methodology for calculating
liquidated and ascertained damages, and evaluating
whether these key terms and conditions had been
appropriately reflected in the total estimated
revenue and costs to completion in the forecast of
the outcome of the contracts.

MBERERERTP N HER KRBT E - AHR
FEBRRRIEHE BEFTOAL GHHR 54
TR IEEE ARAEEONETEERE
WA U EZEITEGRARGHEREEEE
L TE & KD 4 R TR A B A (ST IR A BE BT Y
BN S BR o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter
BEREZEHR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENRE S

s EZEE (B)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

(ii) Allowance for impairment of contract assets, accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables

(i) EHNEE BURF BRERRIE ZBERE

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates
and notes 19(a) and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

FRHMGAYERRMT24M3EBESTHHEB TR
R HET RAGFT 2 R R AR R R M FE19(a) k202

The carrying amount of the Group’s contract assets,
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables were
approximately HK$130,561,000, HK$59,464,000 and
HK$11,301,000, respectively, as at 31 December 2019.
RZEFE—NE+-A=+—H' EEBAHNEE "
R - W S R R A8 2 BREE 5 5l 49/5130,561,000
77T~ 59,464,000/ 7T & 11,301,000 7T ©

During the year, the Group recognised (i) a reversal of
impairment of contract assets of approximately HK$8,000;
and (ii) an allowance for impairment of accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables of approximately
HK$383,000 and nil respectively, in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

FR- BEECREBEFEMBHRELERNESFERNS
#) & ERUE 5 [0 498,000/ 7T M (if) S FE W BR 3K - TR E
R B EHR BB R 29 Bl K9383,00078 7T R E ©

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
of allowance for impairment on contract assets,
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables
included:
BPREEEHSHNEE BUWERNR BUWEREF
B REBENERITOHRREFBHE:

— Obtaining an understanding of how management
estimated the allowance for impairment on contract
assets, accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables and evaluating the historical accuracy
of the impairment estimation by management,
including revision of the purchase orders from
customers and loan agreements, the controls over
the approval, recording and monitoring of contract
assets, accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables and assessment of the collectability of
the debtors and the borrowers;

- THREBENOMNAGEAEHNEE BUERR EBK
ERRMBEZBEREE CHREREREED
BB E G (BRETREEFNRBIERE
e HHUE RSN EESNEE  BUAR
JE W & TR K A B B 5 i) K FE AR E I A R AE K
AR ) 2 A

— Assessing the reasonableness of the Group's
expected credit losses ("ECLs"”) models,
including the model input, model design, model
performance for significant portfolios. We assessed
the reasonableness of the Group’s criteria for
impairment by assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk that allowances for
impairment of contract assets, accounts receivable,
loan and interest receivables should be measured
on a lifetime ECLs basis. We also assessed whether
historical experience is representative of current
circumstances and of the recent losses incurred in
the portfolios and assessed the reasonableness of
forward-looking adjustments;

- Mt EEEEHEEEE ((FHEEEER]E
AWEEN BEEEHEANEREAGA KR
EAKRR-HMNE ESREMANRELE]
ehal HERNEEERRESBEREL M
mMBEEHNEE BRER BREREFNEZ
BEREEEZNBENEEEEELEETHE
BPNAEELLEBESKERTENNBERLAK
HERBamiaR MR RARN S
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter
BEREZSBHR

s EZEE (B)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

(ii) Allowance for impairment of contract assets, accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables (cont'd)

(i) ENEE BURF BRERRAE ZBRERE (&)

The measurement of impairment loss, based primarily on
ECLs, requires the application of judgment and estimation
by the management. The Group's policy for recognition
of an allowance for impairment on contract assets,
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables is based
on the evaluation of recoverability, ageing analysis and
on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the recoverability of
the contract assets, accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of the debtors and the borrowers.
FERBERHEEERETREESRNAZEERERERE
BERHAE KRG BEXEBEHEGHNEE RBUERR K
W TR N B R 188 s T SR B R T S 0 AT R BT M R A
RRER DT EIREHEMET - sHEEWEE - FEUERFK -
EREFRFENATRE TR ZELRELE (BEE
BAREFRANRFEELBERREEE) °

For this reason, we identified the allowance for impairment
of contract assets, accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables as a key audit matter.

Hit  BPEEREGHNEE BWER BREREFE
ZBERERBAREZSEIE-

Assessing the basis of management’s assessment
of recoverability of the contract assets, accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables with
reference to the management’s evaluation of the
debtors or borrowers’ creditworthiness, debtors or
borrowers’ credit history including default or delay
in payments, debtors or borrowers’ settlement
records, subsequent settlements from debtors or
borrowers and ageing analysis of each individual
debtors or borrowers; and
AEEREREGNEE BRERF BRERK
MBZAEKMZHEEE WR2EERERE
BASBRANEE BBASIBRANEER
B (BEERAENKIEA) BB ASGERANLE
B BEHEAIERANEREEERL &5
SMEBARERARNRER DT 27 E &

Recalculating the amount of the allowance for
impairment under ECLs approach on the contract
assets, accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables and assessing the sufficiency of the
allowance for impairment as at 31 December 2019.
RERREEERS ZENAESNEE B
R BUWERENMBEZREREBSRE WTH
RZE-—NF+ZA=+—HBNREREBERS

%) o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter

HREZER

(iii) Provision for litigations

(iii) FRAA BB

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates
and notes 24, 25 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

FRMG AV RRMT243EBESTHHB TR
RHE R 2 BB RGE M BEREN24 - 25Kk362
E—HER-

As at 31 December 2019, the Group was involved in
certain litigations (the “Litigations”) either in Hong Kong
or the PRC.

RZZE-AF+A=+—H EBEEEREEKR+TH
Epa T ([3RaR]) °

Included in the carrying amount of the Group’s trade
and other payables, accruals and provision were provision
for litigations of approximately HK$47,172,000 (the
"Provision for Litigations”), as at 31 December 2019.
RZZE-NAF+ZRA=+—B FAEEL47,172,000
B (sl RAREFA EXEEEHLHEMEN
R EETERALEEREE-

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBENRE S

s EZEE (B)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
of the Provision for Litigations included:

BPEEBH R BEETERTNEFEHE:

— Discussing with management and the Company’s
legal advisors to understand the updated status
of the Litigations and the possible outcome of the
Litigations;

- HERBELR BQFNNEEEMETHNR AT
PR RIIE A NFARATRERENER:

— Reviewing the related correspondences between
the Group and its legal advisors as well as
correspondence with the courts (including but not
limited to obtain and review legal opinions from its
legal advisors);

- B BESEHEEZFEBEBZABGE RN KLEE
Bre(E K (BB E RN ERY FH K e A=
BEEEEER)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter

HREZER

(iii) Provision for litigations (cont’d)

(iii) SR AR (&)

The measurement of the Provision for Litigations
requires the application of judgement and estimation
by management. The Group's policy for recognition
of the Provision for Litigations is based on the prior
experience, legal advices and management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the possible outcome of the Litigations.
FABRBRAEREERHEG MG ETHE BF
EEMAFLEEREABRDENBERLR EEERR
EREHEMET EFARELRNERTEEL
K& HI -

For this reason, we identified the Provision for Litigations
as a key audit matter.

At - B2 BRI FARESEREZSER-

AREZER (E)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

Performing legal search to ensure the completeness
of the legal cases involved by the Group as at
31 December 2019;
EITEEREUNRRAEEN_-_T—NF+ZA
=+ —HRESERRANTRIL:

Understanding and observing in practice the
actions that management has taken in response to
the Litigations; and
ERTHIMEBREBEBHFDRDNITE: &

Challenging and recalculating the amount of
the Provision for Litigations and assessing the
sufficiency of the Provision for Litigations as at
31 December 2019.
BERMEFFEFABESE LAER-ZE
—NETZAST—BEMFRBEERERA-
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

(iv) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(VVEERATEHEBRERIIRZESMEENLTE

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates
and note 22 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.
FRMGAYERRMT24M3EBESTHHEB TR
KHEREF o BRBREEM MR T22E—F
Bxo

Included in the carrying amount of the Group's financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss was an equity
investment in a company listed in Hong Kong (the “HK
Listed Securities”) of approximately HK$38,534,000, as
at 31 December 2019.
RZZB-NFTA=T—H A EEBERATE
FREBERIERZERNEECREERNEE LTH —MH
NAIZRERE (BB LEHES])438,534,000/8 7T °

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recorded a fair value loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$754,000
regarding the HK Listed Securities.
RBEE-_Z-NF+_A=+—HLEFE EBE£EK
SEHEEALMESFNRATEHERERIECE/E
E A F{EE IR 4 /754,000/8 7T ©

Our procedures in relation to the determination of the
fair value of the HK Listed Securities included:

MR EERE LTRSS AFENEFEE:

— Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation
approach and methodology;

- HERERBUGEM RN T REERERRK
TIHy %

— Challenging the management and the valuer on
the adoption of the assumptions and estimations in
the valuation;

— BAERFRANRRIAREEEE REER:

— Checking and challenging the valuer the relevance
of the comparable publicly listed companies;

- BREMGEMARREAEENITELRER:
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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(iv) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (cont’'d)

(VVEERATVEHZEBESIIRZEHEENLQFE (K)

Given the trading of the HK Listed Securities was
suspended as at 31 December 2019, for the purpose
of assessing the fair value of the HK Listed Securities,
the management engaged an independent professional
valuer to perform a valuation (the “Shares Valuation”)
regarding the HK Listed Securities based on management’s
assumptions. Significant management judgement was
used to determine the key assumptions underlying
the Shares Valuation, including (a) the return of other
comparable publicly listed companies from the last trading
date to their year end dates; (b) business nature and
financial reports of the HK Listed Securities; (c) publication
and research reports of the related industry; (d) reliable
sources of market data; and (e) the liquidity discount for
the uncertainty of the length of suspension, which involves
significant unobservable inputs.

ERBFEBLMIFN _T-—NF+A=+—HBHEE=
BEE RAMEELTESNATE BEEEZR Ha-
ZBUEEGEM BEEREEBZRIMEE LHHES
ETHE(TROMEE] - SSEEEAEXREEEHE
NEEHBRMEEZIZ2RK B @ M A &L
ARLETRAARGERXGBEFELEEBNER: OB
BLETRFNEBLEERTBRSE: BBITENHRM
RARHmE : (d) Al ETISBERIR & (e) Bi=hEHR A
FARNRBECURE (S RERTAEREAZIE)

For this reason, we identified the determination of the fair
value of the HK Listed Securities as a key audit matter.

the accuracy of the work performed by the valuer;
- AHAHERNFTET
M

— Comparing the basis of assumptions and
estimations and valuation methodology with prior

year; and
- IBRR
TR &

— Recalculating the amount of the fair value of the

HK Listed Securities as at 31 December 2019.
- EFGFEREBLETESFRZ-_ZE—NF+_A
=t+—HNAFEERE-

HEmMs BMEEELTRFZAFEEEHER R
REZERE
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Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNMMEERRERSE

(v) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia

(v) BERBENRABEREBREEANYE  HBERREZBEFE

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates
and note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.
E%%Eﬁ%%éﬂﬂ%i&i’%ﬁﬁizz ARIEBEZHHB K
B HEREFTZEBREASVBERRMF122E—8
-

Included in the carrying amount of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$196,899,000
as at 31 December 2019 were freehold land and buildings
with carrying amount of approximately HK$143,624,000
for the provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia (collectively, the “Estate Resorts”).

B/\:?i NEFETZA=+t—H 5A EEEYE #:

R 2 BRTE (B #£9196,899,000/% 7T - M ALz 5B M 12 4

EE&*H AR 2 KAERLTHMEEF (GBI EE
E/BN]) ZBEm{E#)143,624,000/8 7T °

During the year, the Group has provided an impairment loss
on the Estate Resorts of approximately HK$23,616,000.
RERN XEEREHERERNBOBEEBETIRD
23,616,000/ 7T °

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of the Estate Resorts included:

PR EEBEHEHEERN 2 REMGNEFEHE:

— Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation
approach and methodology;

= EEF&§%¢1ETEEW‘T m LA T AR E T AR
IEE’J%

— Challenging the management and the valuer on
the adoption of the assumptions and estimations in
the valuation;

- BEERRANRR LG RMEEE R AER

— Challenging the valuer to ensure proper
comparables were used,;

- BRAGEMABRRAEENIELRYR:

— Evaluating the independence, professionalism and
the accuracy of the work performed by the valuer;

- FILEhEMATETZ TENBY M BEMERE
e
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(v) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia (cont’d)

(v) BERENEREBEEREERENOWE BBERREZBEFME ()

For the purpose of assessing the recoverable amount
of the Estate Resorts, the management engaged an
independent professional valuer to perform a valuation
(the "Properties Valuation”) regarding the Estate
Resorts based on management’s assumptions. Significant
management judgement was used to determine the key
assumptions underlying the Properties Valuation, including
(i) recent market prices of the Estate Resorts, (i) locations
of the Estate Resorts; and (iii) types of the Estate Resorts,
such assumptions and the valuation technique involves
significant unobservable inputs.
RAGFEHWEERN AR E EEELERE —%
BUREGEM RETEEZRIMEMEERITE
TRE(YEGEE]) - SEEEEAEREIREHEN
ETHBDEGREZFERR BROFHEERNZ
EEATRE : (i) B E E BRI EVELE K (iii) BB 3 2 E R A
MR ZEBRRNREERTS RER T HEE AR
R

For this reason, we identified the determination of the
recoverable amount of the Estate Resorts as a key audit
matter.

U™ = - B F HEE RN 2 AT i B & 58 & F 35
REARERZEIE-

Checking with the comparable data through
internal or external sources, on a sample basis, the
relevance of (i) the recent market price of the Estate
Resorts; (i) locations of the Estate Resorts; and (iii)
types of the Estate Resorts; and

BN IMBERIZMEEEZEBB() Bt
EEBNZERME: (\FHEERNAAMLE
Ko (i) BB 3 2 B ARAT BV R AL - |

Recalculating the amount of the impairment on the
Estate Resorts and assessing the sufficiency of the
impairment as at 31 December 2019.
ENAEEHERERN ZBESENMIER-F
—hE+A=+T—HBZRERREML-
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of the Annual Report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT'D)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT'D)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Chi Yuen.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Chi Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P02671

Hong Kong
23 April 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeBEmkEMEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE T NF1+-_A=+—HIFE
2019 2018
ZE-NF — N\
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Lig=s THERT FHET
Revenue WA 5 641,261 471,479
Cost of sales HEMA (515,270) (345,136)
Other income and gains H A A K= 5 7,918 22,347
Administrative expenses THAX (256,143) (285,354)
Reversal of impairment/(Impairment loss) & %14 E R E# @~ 19 8 (33)
on contract assets (REEE)
Impairment loss on accounts receivable, FEUBRZK - BN E FX K F) 8 20(b) (383) (2,000)
loan and interest receivables VEREY =
Share of results of associates DGEEE RN RIEE 16 (768) (2,874)
Finance costs @ﬂéfﬁi$ 7 (13,778) (9,256)
Loss before tax B AT E R 6 (137,155) (150,827)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTisfl () /% 8 (5,092) 4,337
Loss for the year RNEEEBE (142,247) (146,490)
Other comprehensive income Hh 2 H K=
Items that may be reclassified HERBEZHETEEF
subsequently to profit or loss THEEERZEE
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences arising on REEEZIENZHE:
translation of:
— Financial statements of overseas —BIINTB AR 2B (7,030) (8,172)
subsidiaries W
— Financial statements of overseas —BINGEE A A 2 B 16 (137) (1,364)
associates Hxk
Item that will not be reclassified to T EEH P EETHEHEZ
profit or loss: HE:
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets  ZAFEFBBEMEE W 77,329 (76,880)
at fair value through other §|J ReemEEL
comprehensive income NEEWRE (BE)
Other comprehensive income for AEFHEHMEE W E - 70,162 (86,416)
the year, net of tax HBR 18
Total comprehensive income for the year ZRNF[E 2 AWz 42 K8 (72,085) (232,906)
Loss for the year attributable to: TIHATEIEERFERSR:
The shareholders of the Company PIN/N ﬂﬂxﬁ (127,582) (144,945)
Non-controlling interests FEEIRHE 2 (14,665) (1,545)
(142,247) (146,490)
Total comprehensive income for TIHATEBEEREFERZE
the year attributable to: Wik
The shareholders of the Company PiN/N ﬂﬂxﬁ (55,763) (231,430)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR A (16,322) (1,476)
(72,085) (232,906)
Loss per share BRERE
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —E AR KR GEM) 10 (2.39) (2.72)
ERMEEZRERLA | —T—NLFFR 147



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ra IS AR R
At 31 December 2019
RZFE—NF+—A=4+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
BgaE FET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HEEE R ERE 12 196,899 211,690
Right-of-use assets TREEE 13(a) 40,238 -
Goodwill EES 14 — =
Other intangible assets HiEEEE 15 745 1,256
Investments in associates "B E N T 16 80,404 81,309
Financial assets at fair value through B AFEBBEMEE
other comprehensive income W3R e REE 17 169,309 97,712
Deferred tax assets BRI E = 26 2,651 8,598
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 490,246 400,565
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 8,581 10,301
Contract assets BREE 19(a) 130,561 132,455
Accounts receivable, FEUER R - EURE R FI B
loan and interest receivables 20 70,765 54,952
Prepayments, other receivables and FEATRRIE - B e YR IE K
other assets Hih&EE 21 22,051 13,839
Financial assets at fair value through AT EBBERFNEZ
profit or loss TREE 22 41,289 41,932
Income tax recoverable AT UL [E AT IS HH 313 313
Pledged time deposit [REE R al-tEEE | 23(b) 13,000 13,000
Cash and cash equivalents RehFRREER 23 180,516 176,993
Total current assets MENEERE 467,076 443,785
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Contract liabilities S ON=K 19(b) 7,358 7,427
Trade and other payables, g 5 Kk E A T RIE - FERT
accruals and provision B kRS 24 241,566 156,966
Lease liabilities HEEE 13(b) 14,392 -
Interest-bearing bank and FERITEREMEER
other borrowings 25 219,669 164,812
Tax payable FEH 18 57,255 59,461
Total current liabilities mEBERTE 540,240 388,666
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS 7% (B&f&) ' EEFE (73,164) 55,119
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAE
LIABILITIES 417,082 455,684
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEME
Other payables H b fE < 5K I8 24 19,584 36,985
Interest-bearing bank and FERITEREMEER
other borrowings 25 2,161 -
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIBEEE 26 - 517
Lease liabilities HEAE 13(b) 27,240 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEERE 48,985 37,502
NET ASSETS EEFE 368,097 418,182
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBI E
At 31 December 2019
RZFE—NF+=—A=4+—H

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B RE FET FAETT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR #EE

Share capital [N 27 53,362 53,362
Reserves (ke 29 318,974 364,820

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE B R EE (L RE =
SHAREHOLDERS 372,336 418,182
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER (4,239) -
TOTAL EQUITY EEAE 368,097 418,182

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors (the
"Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) on 23 April 2020
and signed on its behalf by:

Hui Chun Sum
AR

Director

EF

ApmER ([ER])g ([EEg )R _F=
TENA-+=BH#ENMRENZE X H T

ALTRERE:

Pauline Lam

MES

Director

EF
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EONSQI:I/[Z@TED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ERNCET L ES

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE_F-NF+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company

ADARFES
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Share options Translation Other  income (non-  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium * surplus * reserve * reserve * reserve * recycling) * losses * Total interests equity
BOTFEES
Att2EkE
il
SREEZ
DYERE
B& BREE* RARH BRERE EXffE b (FURE)* RitE* @i FERER aRs
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TAR Thn Thn TAn TAR Thn ThR Fhr FAT Thn
At 1 January 2018 R=Z-N\E-A-B 53,362 510,233 693,308 25,462 3939 (2419 (192,064) (442,015) 649,806 1476 651,282
Loss for the year FEREFE o - - - - - - (144,945) (144,945) (1,545) (146,490)
Other comprehensive income FEREMZERS
for the year:
Exchange differences related to ERHNIELRAEEN
overseas subsidiaries ERER - - - - (8,241) - - - (8,241) 69 8,172)
Exchange differences related to ERENRAEEN
overseas associates ERER - - - - (1,364) - - - (1,364) - (1,364)
Fair value loss on financial assets RATEERLH 2 AR
at fair value through other Ik EREENATE
comprehensive income 3] - - - - - - (76,880) - (76,880) - (76,880)
Total comprehensive income FFEERARREE
for the year - - - - (9,605) - (76,880) (144,945) (231,430) (1,476) (232,906)
Transfer of share options reserve RERER T HRERRRE
upon the cancellation of 1
share options - - - (25,462) - - - 25,462 - - -
Release of other reserve upon disposal ~ —FAESE A RN EE—FIHE
of a subsidiary by an associate RAGRREMEHE - - - - - (194) - - (194) - (194)
At 31 December 2018 RZ2-N¥+ZA=t-H
and 1 January 2019 k=-%2-Af-B-A 53,362 510,233 693,308 - (5,666) (2,613) (268,944) (561,498) 418,182 - 418,182
Loss for the year TEREEE - - - - - - - (127,582) (127,582) (14,665) (142,247)
Other comprehensive income FEERMZANE:
for the year:
Exchange differences related to EENHBARARY
overseas subsidiaries EAER - - - - (5,373) - - - (5,373) (1,657) (7,030)
Exchange differences related to EENBENAARY
overseas associates EXZE - - - - (137) - - - (137) - (137)
Fair value gain on financial assets BRATEEBAMZANRE
at fair value through other Sz e MERMATE
comprehensive income e - - - - - - 71,329 - 71,329 - 71329
Total comprehensive income FEE2ERREE
for the year - - - - (5,510) - 77,329 (127,582) (55,763) (16,322) (72,085)
Change in ownership interest in —FANBAR
a subsidiary that does not result in Rl WA
aloss of control (note 30) (Hi3£30) - - - - - 9,917 - - 9,917 12,083 22,000
At 31 December 2019 W=%-nf+=B=+-A 53,362 510,233 693,308 - (11,176) 7,304 (191,615) (689,080) 372,336 (4,239) 368,097
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of g ZERBEEAEBRBRELES ,\M‘%ﬂj{/ﬂ?\% Y 4R
approximately HK$318,974,000 (2018: HK$364,820,000) in the A #49318,974,0008 L (=T — )\ F:

consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT (?f CASH \FL(;WS
FEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ET-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B FHET FHIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REREXBZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B % Al & 18 (137,155) (150,827)
Adjustments for: I SEELAE:
Bank interest income |ITH B A 5 (3.281) (2,233)
Finance costs A& AR 7 13,778 9,256
Amortisation of other intangible Hihmp & E#
assets 6, 15 496 1,219
Depreciation of property, M- BREREEITE
plant and equipment 6,12 12,948 10,757
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6, 13(a) 13,452 -
Share of results of associates DR E R R ER 768 2,874
Fair value loss on financial assets BEAFTEBEBERYIERZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREEZATEEE 6 22 579 7,404
Impairment loss on property, M- BB REE 2
plant and equipment BEEE 6, 12 23,616 =
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 6, 14 - 19,877
Impairment loss on other HthmEEE ZREERE
intangible assets 6, 15 - 5,242
Impairment loss on investments in WEBERAZ
associates BB E 1B 6, 16 - 5,475
(Reversal of impairment)/ EHEEZ ORERRD)
Impairment loss on contract BB E1E
assets 6, 19(a) (8) 33
Impairment loss on accounts FEUBR TR - IR S TR K A1 2
receivable, loan and interest < BIEEE
receivables 6, 20 383 2,000
Provision for litigations AR 6, 24,
36(c)&(d) 32,796 7,176
Provision for compensation claim HERRRE 6, 24(a) - 52,777
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - WEK
plant and equipment R EE 6 52 1,187
Written off of property, W% - BE K&
plant and equipment 6,12 136 -
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HENB AR W 6, 38 - (17,795)
Write down of inventories 15 & O - 246
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,\/T\ fﬁi //|b£i§

For the year ended 31 December 2019
%:é Z2-F

— EE g = el T

2019 2018
—E-hEF —N\&F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 T FHETT
Operating cash flows before working EEERNEBEA 2
capital changes KREREME (41,440) (45,332)
Decrease in inventories FER D 1,720 827
Decrease/(Increase) in contract assets BHEERLD, () 1,902 (102,765)
(Increase)/Decrease in accounts JEMBR SR - EWE R &
receivable, loan and B (), m
interest receivables (16,196) 67,797
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments, TERT I - H A B UGRIE K
other receivables and other assets Hap&E (3Em) mod (8,146) 4,982
Increase in pledged time deposit BB E B F 5 IE 0 = (13,000)
(Decrease)/Increase in contract BHARE CRD) 1
liabilities (69) 7,427
Increase in trade and other payables, B 5 & H th &~ RRIE -
accruals and provision JEFtE R R EEE M 24,107 31,628
Cash used in operations LEBEFMAZES® (38,122) (48,436)
Income tax: PRS-
— Overseas tax paid —BEREINRIE (2,481) (4,174)
NET CASH FLOW USED IN EEHMARERERH
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (40,603) (52,610)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RERETHZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from deemed partial RAEEBH tﬂ EMBAEZ
disposal of subsidiaries Fr {8 5T 30 22,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries Hj’%ﬁﬁ)% TZFME} KIA 38 - 107,000
Purchases of items of property, BEME WELEE
plant and equipment ZIBB 12 (17,726) (14,542)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wb — M B A Al 12(c) (6,940) -
Bank interest received EUWERITHE 5 3,281 2,233
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME HELEREZ
plant and equipment Fr18 518 131 171
Proceeds from disposal of i Eﬁ“iﬁLLT@ Bl BR
financial assets at fair value through L EREEZFEHRIA
profit or loss 64 -
NET CASH FLOW FROM RETEFERERETFEHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 810 94,862
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mAEBETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—F—NE+-A=+—HIFFF

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETBHZ2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BRI ERITREMEE
and other borrowings 32 (45,896) (37,767)
Interest paid ENHE 32 (2,263) (16,432)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEECERE S 32 (12,058) -~
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEZNEHD 32 (1,219) =
New interest-bearing bank and ESHTEBRTREMEER
other borrowings obtained 32 105,156 17,553
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) BMEEE B, (FTA)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEREFH 43,720 (36,646)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRERBESEBZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS B hnE &8 3,927 5,606
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REAZRERERESIEHR
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 176,993 168,876
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE Ex@E o &
RATE CHANGES (404) 2,511
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REKRZRERERESEHR
AT END OF YEAR 180,516 176,993
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERERBRSEHERDWN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be RIBTHES 180,516 176,993
180,516 176,993
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF REeERERRSEHER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS il
Cash and bank balances Be RIBTHES 23 180,516 176,993
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B mRM

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

154

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was re-
domiciled and continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda
with limited liability. The registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the following principal activities: (i)
mobile internet cultural business and provision of information
technology (“IT") contract services and maintenance services,
(i) provision of hospitality and related services in Australia; (iii)
money lending business; and (iv) assets investments business.

The shares of the Company are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Information about subsidiaries

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

. —RRER

ERHEBEEREBR AR ([RAF])
ARASHEAMKIIR T —1F
T+ A—HEMZERELRBRET
BZERRAR -ARA 2 EREH
i & Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda °

ARBINMEMBAR (S [AEE])E
ZURFUTES: (VBB EBECER
ERftEMmRx (TERMME]) S ORS
N HEREARTS (i) BRI R 4L 5 N 48 BE AR
B (iBEXH R(vVEERERS-

ARRBENEEEHAERZMBER AR
(TBERFT]) GEM £ e
FEMEARZER
TEMBRRZFBNT

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued share Attributable Group's
business and capital/ equity interest held effective
Name operation registered capital by the Company interest  Principal activities
SRR EER  BRTRES x5E
a1 BmELY AMERFE KRARERERE ERER TZEH
Directly Indirectly
E# %
1. EPRO Systems (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 51% 51% Investment holding and provision
(2018: 100%) (2018: 100%) of IT contract services and
maintenance services
SEZS (BE)ERRA B 100,000/ 7 (Z2-N%F: (Z2-\F: REZRRREHEEARREOR
100%) 100%) BREZRS
2. EPRO Systems (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$925,000 = 51% 51% Investment holding and provision
(2018:100%)  (2018:100%)  of IT contract services and
maintenance services
HEZH (HE)FRAA B 925,000 1T (Z2-NF: (Z2-N\F: RESRRREEARBRSOR
100%) 100%) BREERS
3. EPRO Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 51% 51%  Provision of IT contract services
(2018:100%)  (2018:100%)  and maintenance services
HEMBRBRAF 0 1,000,000/ 7 (Z2-NF: (ZB-N\F: REEARREORER
100%) 100%)  #ERHS
4. EPRO Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 51% 51%  Investment holding and
(2018:100%)  (2018:100%)  e-commerce and provision of
online sales platform
HERRRA B BT (Z2-NF: (ZB-N\F: REAR STHBREMKL
100%) 100%) HETA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

1. —RER (&

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Information about subsidiaries (cont’'d)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (cont'd)

FREMBRARZES (&)

TEMBRARZFBNT

(%)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued share Attributable Group's
business and capital/ equity interest held effective
Name operation registered capital by the Company interest  Principal activities
SRR EER  BRTRES xKE
a8 Reme AMEERFE KRABARERE ERER TEER
Directly Indirectly
E# &

5. LASBEEHERAF People’s Republic UsSD3,6000,000 = 51% 51% Investment holding and provision
(for identification purpose, of China (2018: (2018: 100%) (2018: 100%) of IT contract services and
Shanghai EPRO Software (the "PRC") UsD1,000,000) maintenance services
Company Limited ("EPRO"))*

(note (a))
HESEEMERAR REARKNE 3,6000,000% T (Z2-NF: (ZB-N\F: REZRRRHEEARRSOR
(r28]) * (M) (TE]) (Z2-N\F: 100%) 100%) B REERS
1,000,000%7T.)
6. SEAH(RE)ERAF* the PRC RMB2,000,000 = 51% 51%  Provision of IT contract services
(2018:100%)  (2018:100%)
SELM (RR)ERAA HE AR #2,000,0007T (Z2-NE: (ZE-N\FE: REESARBAORSE
100%) 100%)
7. SEAUHRE(ER)ERAF* the PRC RMB2,000,000 = 51% 51%  Provision of IT contract services
(2018:100%)  (2018:100%)
SEYHRE (BR)BERAA* B AR 2,000,0007T (Z2-NE: (ZE2-NFE: REESARBAORSE
100%) 100%)
8.  HUMNZEHMHRRBRAAF*  thePRC RMB2,000,000 = 51% 51%  Provision of IT contract services
(2018:100%)  (2018:100%)
BMNBERHRRBERRF FH AR #2,000,0007T (Z2-NE: (ZE-NFE: REESARBRAORSE
100%) 100%)
9. Ensure Profit Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEFRAA 00 BT REZK
10.  Unique Fortune Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100% 100%  Investment holding
REBRAR BE BT REZR
11, Leisure King Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% 100%  Investment holding
TEEEERLA B BT REZK
12. Cleveland Land Pty Ltd* Australia AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia
Cleveland Land Pty Ltd* BN -5 PRI IR 400 15 K AR B RS
13.  Bellinzona Land Pty Ltd* Australia AUD 1 = 100% 100%  Provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia
Bellinzona Land Pty Ltd* B v PRI B2 4 15 R AR 78 AR 7S
14.  Bellinzona Operations Pty Ltd*  Australia AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia
Bellinzona Operations Pty Ltd* & TRT PORIMMR T IE R AR RS
15.  Cleveland Operations Pty Ltd* Australia AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia
Cleveland Operations Pty Ltd* & TR PORIMMR AT 5 AR RS

16.  Balgownie Estate Yarra Australia AUD 1 = 100% 100%  Investment holding
Glen Holdings Pty Ltd*

Balgownie Estate Yarra BN TR BRAER
Glen Holdings Pty Ltd*

17.  Balgownie Estate Yarra Australia AUD 1 = 100% 100%  Provision of hospitality and related

Glen Land Pty Ltd* services in Australia
Balgownie Estate Yarra BN TR PRI R B IE R AR 78 AR 7S

Glen Land Pty Ltd*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

R RN =
1. GENERAL INFORMATION (CONT'D) 1. —RER (&)
Information about subsidiaries (cont'd) FEMERARZ2ER (&)
Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (cont'd) FEMBARIZFHEOAT © (&)
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued share Attributable Group's
business and capital/ equity interest held effective
Name operation registered capital by the Company interest  Principal activities
BB EER  BRIRES rx5E
A% ek HEMERFE KRABARERE ERER TEER
Directly Indirectly
¢ &
18.  Balgownie Estate Resort Australia AUD 1 - 100% 100%  Provision of hospitality and related
Operations Pty Ltd* services in Australia
Balgownie Estate Resort BN TR PORIMMR AT IE R AR RS
Operations Pty Ltd*
19.  Ever Robust Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% 100%  Securities investments
ERERERAR BE 1T EHRE
20.  Mark Profit Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% 100%  Money lending
BHMBEERAF Bt BT BE
2. BRESEM(LSE) the PRC USD1,000,000 = 100% 100%  Investment holding and mobile
AR A (for identification internet cultural business

purpose, Jixiang Information
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
("Jixiang"))* (note (a))

BRELRI (L) oF 1,000000%7 BEERRBYEBEX LTS
BRAR ([ER]) *
(M)
22, Triple Art Limited Hong Kong HK1 - 100% 100%  Provision of administrative services
ZEFRDA Bk AT RETERS
* Subsidiaries with no statutory financial statements or g B/ &) I A TE B S R AR 5OR B B S
statutory financial statements were not audited by Ascenda WMERVIERRBEBSTMEBMER
Cachet CPA Limited. NGIE SR
Note (a): These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign owned 3@ : ZEHBRRHREFR B EETMH
enterprises under the PRC law. RINEBERE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company FRINTARAMBABINFE ARAIES
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company (the (BS))RR ASHEBAREELEFAX
"Directors”), principally affected the results for the year or %E%%EX?%iﬁ%%@&éﬁjﬁﬁﬁig%
formed a substantial portion of the operations and net assets Do BRBR REHAMME R A OFEHE

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in BURRIUE -
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirement of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"),
which have been measured at fair value. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

2. %Hﬂ%gﬁ

21 BT EBYBREER

WELEEMBHRRIREE B ST
NREEM BB REER ([
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

EE

—E-ANFT A= HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.1 Compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

158

Standards (cont’d)

Despite the fact that the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$73,164,000 as at 31 December
2019, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the basis that the Group will continue to
operate as a going concern. The Directors are of the
opinion that the Group is able to continue as a going
concern and to meet in full their financial obligations
as (i) the Group had net assets of approximately
HK$368 million including financial assets at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$164 million as at 31 December 2019
classified as non-current assets which could be realised
to satisfy the current liabilities obligations of the Group;
(ii) the Group has been actively negotiating with its
creditors and/or banker(s) to extend the repayment terms
of its indebtedness, and as detailed in note 25(d) to
the consolidated financial statements in April 2020, the
Group has entered into a supplemental agreement with
the lender for not demanding for the repayment of the
Bailihong Loan (as defined in note 25(d)) of approximately
HK$55,233,000 within the next 12 months from the
date of the supplemental agreement; and (iii) continuing
financial support has been provided by a substantial
shareholder of the Company, who has confirmed her
willingness to continue financing the operation of the
Group to meet its future obligations, and has also entered
into a loan facility agreement with the Company in April
2020, pursuant to which, the substantial shareholder has
agreed to provide a loan facility of up to HK$70,000,000
(the “Loan Facility”) to the Group for the purpose
of its general working capital. As at the date of these
consolidated financial statements, HK$40,000,000 of
the Loan Facility (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) has been
drawn down by the Group which bears interest at a fixed
rate of 10% per annum and is repayable 12 months after
the drawdown provided that the substantial shareholder
will not demand for repayment of the Shareholder’s Loan
upon maturity until the Group is in a position to do so.
In light of all the measures adopted and arrangements
implemented, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financial requirements
and it is reasonable to expect the Group to remain as a
commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the Directors
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.1 Compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (cont’d)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e. existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”) and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. mBEE(F)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRA B ISR R BT

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE T+ — o — G

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D) 2. IRBIELE (48)

21 BFEBYBREER (F)

2.1 Compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (cont’d)
Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation
HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle HKAS 12 and HKAS 23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(cont’d)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKAS 19,
which are not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, the nature and the
impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(@) HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under
a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
HKAS 17. Lessors continue to classify leases as either
operating or finance leases using similar principles as
in HKAS 17.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective method with the date of initial
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method,
the standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
at 1 January 2019, and the comparative information
for 2018 was not restated and continued to be
reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HmARM T

A

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

162

(cont’d)
New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and
the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The
Group elected to use the transition practical expedient
allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore,
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been
applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or
after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as
operating leases based on the assessment of whether
the lease transferred substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS
16, the Group applies a single approach to recognise
and measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for all leases, except for two elective exemptions for
leases of low-value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease
basis) and leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
(“short-term leases”) (elected by class of underlying
asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term commencing from 1 January 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of
the right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the
outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(cont’d)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases (cont’d)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based
on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at
1 January 2019. The right-of-use assets were measured at
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the lease recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position immediately before 1 January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present
the right-of-use assets separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

e Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases
with a lease term that ends within 12 months from
the date of initial application; and

e Using hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend/terminate the
lease.
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NOTES TO, THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RARM T

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D) 2. MREEE (E)
2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 22 B BERRIEESE (&)
(cont’d)
As a lessee - Leases previously classified as ERRHEA -SRI T EREEHEY
operating leases (cont’d) HE (&)
The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the RZE-NF-—A—BZHEAEHR
operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\FT+ZA=+—HzZ&=E
are as follows: MEAZEHEREAT :
HK$'000
FHET
Operating lease commitments as at R=Z2-N\H+=ZA=+—-HZ
31 December 2018 REHERRE 15,226
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases  Jgi : E2%2 HiFH & & Fls4 FH HAR
and those leases with a remaining term —E-AF+ZA=+—H%
ended on or before 31 December 2019 Z HlE BT E B ) A IE (369)
14,857
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as R Z=ZZT—hLF— A — B Z I#EFH
at 1 January 2019 B2 E R = 5%
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 (note 13(b)) R=-ZT—hhF—A—AZHEaE
(PFFEE13(b)) 14,136
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

2. mBEE(F)

22 B BREREHESS (F)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(cont’d)

(b) Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope (b) BB GLFTERF28RIEFTAEE

exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an
associate or joint venture to which the equity method
is applied and does not include long-term interests
that in substance form part of the net investment in
the associate or joint venture, to which the equity
method has not been applied. Therefore, an entity
applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including
the impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in
accounting for such long-term interests. HKAS 28 is
then applied to the net investment, which includes
the long-term interests, only in the context of
recognising losses of an associate or joint venture and
impairment of the net investment in the associate
or joint venture. The Group assessed its business
model for its long-term interests in associates upon
adoption of the amendments on 1 January 2019
and concluded that the long-term interests in
associates continued to be measured at amortised
cost in accordance with HKFRS 9. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
consolidated financial position or performance of the
Group.

EBUERE LR FSRABRINEG
BEeRERAEREZARAOR —
Mg Rk a b ENERE I
TEREYEFERAESEAERME
BHMKRBERRKBETEF
RE—HoHRPEZS AL 5
ZERAEaNESTREEMS &
RefREBYBmELERFEOR
MmIEB BT ERIFE28%  BEE
BB RS ERAE ERIFESRIA T HRE
HE BAGTLERFE285 2 EA
REFEEE BIERBEZ HEBR
ARERR—EBERRHEE
TENEBEEIMNZBEEARINE
ELERNFRERBENB R A&
BR-_T—-—NF—H—BHEMNE
ARG HERBE AR REAE
ERNEBEATBERBREE
REMERPESEBEREEEY
TSRS R B OSR IR B SR ARG 2 ©
EHit  ZF BT AHANEBNEGEE
AR KRIRW BT L

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR 165



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR B ISR R M RE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

166

(cont’d)

(c) HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income

taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application
of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to
taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor
does it specifically include requirements relating to
interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax
treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i)
whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes
about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable
profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an
entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
Upon adoption of the interpretation, the Group
considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions
arising from the transfer pricing on its intergroup
transactions. Based on the Group’s tax compliance
and transfer pricing study, the Group determined
that it is probable that its transfer pricing policy
will be accepted by the tax authorities. Accordingly,
the interpretation did not have any impact on the
consolidated financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments under Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle set
out the amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
and HKAS 23. Details of the amendments relevant to
the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements are as follows:

HKAS 12

HKAS 12 Income Taxes: Clarifies that an entity recognises
all income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss,
other comprehensive income or equity, depending on
where the entity recognised the originating transaction
or event that generated the distributable profits giving
rise to the dividends. The amendments did not have any
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The following HKFRSs in issue as at 31 December 2019
have not been applied in the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year then ended
since they were not yet effective for the annual period
beginning on 1 January 2019:—

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business’

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendment to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture’
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition or Material’
and HKAS 8

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HmARM T

A

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial

168

Reporting Standards (cont’'d)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The
amendments clarify that for an integrated set of activities
and assets to be considered a business, it must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of
the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business
and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is
on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional
fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. Since
the amendments apply prospectively to transactions
or other events that occur on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
the effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial
reporting. The amendments provide temporary reliefs
which enable hedge accounting to continue during
the period of uncertainty before the replacement of
an existing interest rate benchmark. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (cont’'d)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in
January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will
be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will
depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HmARM T
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

170

Investments in associates (cont’d)

The Group's investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues
to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of
the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

2. /\FHJ Uﬁ/ﬁ (/u\>
24 FESTHBERBE (&)

RBEEHREE

EBEHDIABBEAR - BEKE
TIAKBEERO RV EFE  ZRF
BERASEMBREENKERRZ
NFE AEEARBHRZAESR
ANEFER B A A RN ER B 377 LA ER
WRHRE R BRAER ZEM-
REXBAMT NEEEEILT N

NFERWEHRAIBEEEFED
AL A ERBBHRBREHR
BABaSR RS Y THE
AR RBERERLOIDIEFEE -

R s 2 — IR MK D TR R

Bt 8- WEMEBKARELERIS
P

WMASEBEWE -—BEL AeRES
2 R U B B A B IR IR K AR
s EFRENeREEREE
MEREENYERER HABHE
SHBBHRESOPNRARITE
TEH-

WMEBEHIBEERET LAFED
REZKBERAHNATFTEEFRTE
e EERNEARRSEENER
Wﬁﬁu/u"

BB & T E RN T RRRER
REBRHRAFEER - DBRRE
Fi%Lmiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ?g
AV EEFERBaBER - IBE
% SHIRAREBELEEHNAE ME
BREENERAAR

EXMEEZRARLIA[ | —FT—1LFFH 171



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

172

Business combinations and goodwill (cont’d)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

174

Fair value measurement (cont’d)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets,
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is account for in accordance with
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
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Re

lated parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii)a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(vii)the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal
group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the
values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with
as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the
total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an
individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged
to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit
or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged.
An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve
to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount
of an asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s
original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant
portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect
of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as
a movement in reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

178

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Freehold land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Not depreciated

40 years

The shorter of remaining
lease term and
useful life

Plant, machinery and 3 to 10 years

equipment

Office equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 10 years
Motor vehicles and yachts 5 to 6 years

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than
through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset
or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal
groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
(cont’d)

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and
their useful lives are as follows:

Wine membership 5 years
Copyright 10 years
Domain name 15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use
asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Leasehold land

Plant and machinery

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful

life of the asset.

Over the lease term

3 to 10 years

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (cont’d)

Group as a lessee (cont’d)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.qg.,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

182

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (cont’d)

Group as a lessee (cont’d)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets to leases of assets that are
considered to be of low value.

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model
for managing them. With the exception of accounts
receivable that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do
not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (cont’d)
Initial recognition and measurement (cont’d)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
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Investments and other financial assets (cont’d)
Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost (accounts and
other receivables, contract assets and cash and cash
equivalents)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at FVTOCI (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (cont’d)
Subsequent measurement (cont’d)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

186

Derecognition of financial assets (cont’d)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

188

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
General approach (cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 -

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, or payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables and provision, contract liabilities, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

190

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and
assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted
as to use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

192

Income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Income tax (cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HmARM T

A

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

194

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-F-AF+-A=+—ALFE
2. mEEE(E)
24 TESHBERME (F)
Revenue recognition (cont’d) WAER (&)
EF&KMA (&)
() BBEBAEXLEB MEHEAR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

(@) Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT

contract services and maintenance services

Provision of IT contract services

Revenue from rendering of IT contract services is
recognised over time using an input method to
measure progress towards complete performance of
the services, measured by reference to the proportion
of work completed to date to the estimated total
work of the relevant contract.

Maintenance services

Revenue from provision of maintenance services
is recognised over the maintenance period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group. Advances are normally
required before rendering the services.

Sales of goods arising from E-commerce

Revenue from sale of goods, after deduction of any
discounts, is recognised at a point in time when
control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are delivered to the customers, the
customer has accepted the products, the collection of
the related consideration is probable and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

196

Revenue recognition (cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

(b) Provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia

Revenue from hotel accommodation and other
ancillary services is recognised over time in the
accounting period in which the control of the
products or the services are transferred to the
customer because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as it performs.

Revenue from sales of hotel supplies and food
and beverage in hotel business and food and
restaurants operation is recognised at a point in time
when the control of the products or the services
is transferred to the customers, being when the
products are delivered to the customers, there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers'’
acceptance of the products and the customer has
obtained the physical possession or the legal title
of the products and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable. The Group controls the products in these
transactions and, therefore, the Group is the principal
and revenue is recognised on a gross basis.

Revenue from other sources
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised at the time when the
shareholders’ right to receive the dividend have been
established.

Rental income

Rental income under operating lease is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for
the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details
of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are
met:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the pattern of the revenue to
which the asset related is recognised. Other contract
costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D) 2. IMBEE ()
2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd) 24 TESHBERME (F)
Share-based payments URGBEREZ 5

198

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably
measured, in which case the goods or services received
are measured by reference to the fair value of the share
options and warrants granted. The fair values of the
goods or services received are recognised as expenses
immediately, unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets. Corresponding adjustment has
been made to equity (share options reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will continue to be
held in share options reserve.

Other employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and annual leave entitlements
are accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the Group.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when it made contribution
to the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available
to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

Other employee benefits (cont’d)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC")
are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

The employees of the Company'’s subsidiaries in
Australia are entitled to benefit from the employee’s
complying superannuation plan on retirement, disability
or death. These subsidiaries are responsible for making
contributions to the plan at a certain percentage of
employees’ wages or salaries. The subsidiaries’ legal or
constructive obligation is limited to these contributions,
which are recognised as an expense as they become
payable. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in future years.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s Bye-Laws grant the
Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

200

Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company's functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group's
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the end of each reporting period;

— income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the translation reserve.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Foreign currencies (cont’d)
Group companies (cont’d)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other currency instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholder’s
equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

(a) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Australia. Significant judgements on the future
tax treatment of certain transactions are required in
determining income tax provisions. The Group carefully
evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax
provisions are recorded accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Judgements (cont’d)

(b) Revenue from contracts with customers -

determining the timing of satisfaction of provision
of IT contract services

The Group concluded that revenue from provision of IT
contract services is to be recognised over time because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

The Group determined that the input method is the best
method in measuring the progress of the IT contract
services because there is a direct relationship between
the Group's effort (i.e. labour hours incurred) and
the transfer of services to the customer. The Group
recognises revenue on the basis of the labour hours
expended relative to the total expected labour hours to
complete the services.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

(a) Impairment of property plant and equipment,

202

goodwill and other non-current assets

Determining whether property plant and equipment,
goodwill and other non-current assets are impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the property plant and
equipment, goodwill and other non-current assets have
been allocated. The calculation of value in use requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating units and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(b) Useful lives of other intangible assets (other than

(9]

goodwill)

The Group determines the estimated useful lives for its
intangible assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of intangible assets of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly
as a result of technical innovations and management’s
long-term strategic development. Management will
increase the amortisation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write off or
write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of accounts and other receivables and
contract assets

The Group estimates the loss allowances for debtors
and contract assets by assessing the ECLs. This requires
the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of the reporting period.
Where the estimation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will affect the carrying amounts
of debtors and contract assets and thus the impairment
loss in the period in which such estimate will be changed.
The Group keeps assessing the ECLs of trade debtors and
contract assets during their expected lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(d) Impairment of loan and interest receivables

The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess whether
there is any objective evidence that the loan receivable
is impaired at least on a yearly basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the Group
makes judgements as to whether there is any observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of
loan receivables before the decrease can be identified
with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence
may include observable data indicating that there
has been an adverse change in the payment status of
borrowers in the group, or national or local economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the
group. Management estimates based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those
in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.
The methods and assumptions used for estimating
both the amount and timing of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss
estimates and actual loss experience.

(e) Fair value measurements and valuation processes

204

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair
value of an asset, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. Where observable market
data are not available, the Group engages independent
qualified valuers to perform the valuation and works
closely with independent qualified valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments.
The use of valuation models and assumptions in valuing
these financial instruments is subjective and requires
varying degrees of judgement.

3. ERGETHE M fEET (8)

CRENEEESE X))
(d) EWE 5K F|EHE

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(f) Fair value of the financial assets designated at
FVTOC] or financial assets at FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets designated at FVTOCI
or financial assets at FVTPL that are not traded in active
markets or suspended trading are determined by using
valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques are
used to determine fair values, they are periodically
reviewed. To the extent practical, models use only
observable data, however, areas such as estimated profit,
volatilities and correlations require management to make
estimation. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the FVTOCI and the FVTPL.

(g9) Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. These estimates are based on the
current market conditions and the historical experience
of selling products with similar nature. Any change in the
assumptions would increase or decrease the amount of
inventories write-down or the related reversals of write-
down made in prior years and affect the Group's net
assets value. The Group reassesses these estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

(h) Provision for/Contingent liabilities of litigations

The Group has been involved in a number of litigations
during the year. Provision for/Contingent liabilities arising
from these litigations have been assessed by management
with reference to legal advices. Provision on possible
obligations, if any, are made based on management’s
best estimates and judgements. Further details are stated
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE—F

4.

206

—NEFEF+—HA=+—HIFE
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal report provided to the chief operating decision
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, as have
been identified as Directors.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

— Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT
contract services;

— Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia;
— Money lending business; and
— Assets investments business.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s chief
operating decision maker monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following basis:—

— Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.

— Assets and liabilities are allocated to the reportable
segments excluding unallocated corporate assets and
liabilities.

— The measure used for reporting segment loss is adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before
tax is measured consistently with the Group’s loss before
tax except that bank interest income, non-lease-related
finance costs, dividend income from the Group’s
financial instruments as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
B2 T NF+—A=1+—HIFE

AR N\ SR (43
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEDEBER (8B)
(CONT'D)
Information regarding the Group's reportable segments REFEFERERFERREABRAE
as provided to the Group's chief operating decision maker AmESMHER EERBE_ZT—N
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of FRZZB-NF+A=T—RHILFEE
segment performance for the years ended 31 December HERD B RFAZD IR ZEERT
2019 and 2018 is set out below:- R —
(i) Segment results () 7Eb%&E
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-ZFE-N"F+=-A=+—-HBL#HF
E
Mobile internet
cultural
business and Provision of
provision of  hospitality and Money Assets
IT contract  related services lending investments
services in Australia business business Total
BEEHA
XL EB KRR
AR RARMRGBE
BNERB RIEERE REXE EBEREER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FET FET THER
Segment revenue and EdE R EMBA
other income and gains k& 544,544 95,043 1,642 32 641,261
Segment results DHEE
Segment loss AHER (52,686) (33,437) (546) (28,388) (115,057)
Unallocated head office and corporate R D B @5 E 5 &
income and expenses DNABARRY (12,820)
Bank interest income RAMEWA 3,281
Finance costs BERA (12,559)
Loss before tax BB AT B (137,155)
Amounts included in the FADBEESEZR
measure of segment results: H:
Depreciation and amortisation TERHH (17,906) (7,445) (636) - (25,987)
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation & 7 B2 47 & K # &5 (909)
Total depreciation and amortisation WEREEARE (26,896)
Share of results of associates DEBE AR EE (6,745) - - 5,977 (768)
Fair value loss on financial BRRATEEABR
assets at FVTPL SR EMEEL
ATEEE = = - (579) (579)
Impairment loss on property, mE - BEREE
plant and equipment EEE - (23,616) - = (23,616)
Written off of property, MW W5 R
plant and equipment - - - - (136)
Provision for litigations A EE - - - 32,796 32,796
Reversal of impairment on BHEERERD
contract assets 8 - - - 8
Impairment loss on accounts receivable,  FEMEE N - FEUEF
loan and interest receivables FIEZRERE (383) - - - (383)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

& I m R KT

For the year ended 31 December 2019
SEAFF A=t AR

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONT'D)

EZE

(i) Segment results (cont’d) (i) 2EB%4E (&)
Year ended 31 December 2018 BHE-_FT-N\F+ZA=+—HIEHF
E
Mobile internet
cultural
business and Provision of
provision of hospitality and Money Assets
IT contract related services lending investments
services in Australia business business Total
. BREBE
XeRBRE®E \
EARHRANR  RRMNRRERE 3 o ‘
i RIBRRRT BEXE  AEREXER M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx THx TR FET
Segment revenue and ElEREMBA
other income and gains k& 360,813 107,195 1,598 1,873 471,479
Segment results D ERE R
Segment profit/(loss) ’\* whl/ (F8) (104,470) (3,549) (5,233) 3,258 (109,994)
Unallocated head office and corporate R B8 F e &
income and expenses ARBARAR (33,810)
Bank interest income RITMBHA 2,233
Finance costs BERKAK (9,256)
Loss before tax BREAIER (150,827)
Amounts included in the FADBEESEZR
measure of segment results: H:
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (3,454) (7,778) (111) = (11,343)
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation & 7 B2 47 & K # 85 (633)
Total depreciation and amortisation wER#HEE (11,976)
Share of results of associates NEBMERRER (3,161) - - 287 (2,874)
Fair value loss on financial BRRATEEBER
assets at FVTPL SR EMEEL
ATEEE = = S (7,404) (7,404)
Impairment loss on investments REE QAR ZIRE
in associates REBE (5,475) - - = (5,475)
Impairment loss on other HiBWEEZ
intangible assets RIERE (1,792) = = = (1,792)
Unallocated impairment loss on other Hit @R AEZADE
intangible assets BEEE (3,450)
Total impairment loss on other Hit M EE 2 RE
intangible assets BiELE (5,242)
Impairment of goodwill BERE - (19,877) - - (19,877)
Provision for litigations uﬁ*/‘ iz} = S (7,176) (7,176)
Provision for compensation claim BERRBE (52,777) - - - (52,777)
Impairment loss on contract assets BHEERERSE (33) - - S (33)
Impairment loss on accounts receivable, FEMER 3T - ULE T K
loan and interest receivables FEZREEE (2,000) = = = (2,000)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019

B2 T NF+—A=1+—HIFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. IEESEER ()
(CONT'D)

(i) »HEERER

(ii) Segment assets and liabilities

31 December 2019

—E-hAEFE+=ZA=+—H

Mobile
internet Provision of
cultural hospitality
business and and related Money Assets
provision of services in lending investments
IT contract services Australia business business Total
BEEBRAL
ERREHR  RRMNRGER
BB AN RE RIEERS REER BEREER @t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TERT TET
SEGMENT ASSETS PEEE 290,572 191,424 15,930 288,628 786,554
Corporate and other rEREM
unallocated assets APEAE 170,768
Total assets BEHE 957,322
SEGMENT LIABILITIES pak: =R 299,345 100,682 834 186,249 587,110
Corporate and other rERALM
unallocated liabilities KORBE 2,115
Total liabilities BERAE 589,225
Amounts included in the FASBEE
measure of segment assets: TEZMAE:
Investments in associates REE AR ZIRE 18 - - 80,286 80,404
Amounts regularly provided to EHETEEE
the chief operating REARBZ
decision maker: ME:
Additions to property, RENE BER
plant and equipment By 10,998 6,697 31 - 17,726
Unallocated additions to property, KA EREME
plant and equipment B E L 6,874
Total additions to property, RENE BEK
plant and equipment REEE 24,600
Additions to right-of-use assets RERREEE 39,536 310 - 165 40,011
ERMEEZRERLA | —T—NLFFR 209




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

L Y a7 8N =
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 BEDHER (E)
(CONT'D)
(i) Segment assets and liabilities (cont’d) (i) »HEEREE (F)
31 December 2018 —EF-N\EFE+=ZA=1+—8H
Mobile
internet Provision of
cultural hospitality
business and and related Money Assets
provision of services in lending investments
T contract services Australia business business Total
BEEBAXL
EBREE RNRMEEEER
BB DR 1BERE BEEHK BEREER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THT AT FTAEL
SEGMENT ASSETS NEEE 200,012 233,111 29,492 211,991 674,606
Corporate and other rERALM
unallocated assets APEREE 169,744
Total assets BERE 844,350
SEGMENT LIABILITIES AHAE 170,413 99,782 82 146,794 417,071
Corporate and other rEREM
unallocated liabilities APEAE 9,097
Total liabilities BfERE 426,168
Amounts included in the AP HEE
measure of segment assets: HEZRE
Investments in associates RBERRZERE 7,000 - - 74,309 81,309

Amounts regularly provided to EHETELE

the chief operating REARMZ
decision maker: WIE:
Additions to property, REME BEK
plant and equipment B3] 10,056 3,780 706 = 14,542
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONT'D)

(iii) Geographical information

The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Australia. The following table sets
out information about (i) the Group's revenue from
external customers; and (ii) the geographical locations
of the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial
assets at FVTOCI and deferred tax assets) (“Specified
Non-current Assets”), based on the place of domicile of
the relevant group entity.

4

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

LESEER (F)

L

(iii) 3z & & 8

AEEEXEBETEURES FEER
Me TR AR AKEEIIFEETF
YA &(ii)ﬂi’%léE})luiﬁléf%(T\@
RRAVFEEBEME2EKEIIRZ
TRMEEMECHBAEEE) ([BEH
RBEE]) 2MEMLENER LI
WEBER ZFAEMLE D

Revenue from Specified
external customers Non-current Assets

AEEFRA REEFRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E2-1E -N\F | ZB-hE —N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT TER TET
Hong Kong BE 2,446 12,555 88,911 75,063
The PRC F 543,772 351,729 58,446 21,648
Australia B 95,043 107,195 170,929 197,544
641,261 471,479 318,286 294,255

(iv) Inofmation about a major customer

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was one
(2018: one) customer of mobile internet cultural business
and provision of IT contract services whose transactions
amounted to approximately HK$513,813,000 (2018:
HK$325,256,000), exceeding 10% of the Group's
revenue, and arose in the PRC.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The principal activities of the Group consisted of (i) mobile
internet cultural business and provision of IT contract services
and maintenance services; (ii) provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia; (i) money lending business; and
(iv) assets investments business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MRS HRR I &

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - B ig A R as (&)
(CONT'D)
Revenue represents the aggregate of the net invoiced value WABARFERERHEEERNERFE
of goods sold and net amounts received and receivable from BB AR B FTiRH HEWEH&&fHﬁZ”k_E
third parties for the services rendered by the Group during WRIE SRR B KE Bz WA~ HAth
the year. An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income WARWRSHTIAT
and gains is as follows:—
2019 2018
—E-hF — N\
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers: BEPEHWA -
E-commence and sales of goods EFREREEEM® - 8,097
Provision of IT contract services and REEAREE KRS K&
maintenance services HERE 544,544 352,716
Provision of hospitality and related services }ET R JE R AR RS 41,596 48,817
Sales of food and beverage in RBIEEBHEZE R
hotel business 53,447 58,378
639,587 468,008
Revenue from other sources: 2R B E AR A A -
Loan interest income BEEF B WA 1,642 1,598
Rental income e A - 1,211
Dividend income arising from REZRATFEERBEZS R
financial assets at FVTPL 2 @& E R E WA 32 662
1,674 3,471
641,261 471,479
Other income and gains: A A R g
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 38)  HEMEAF 2 Uk (HzE38) - 17,795
Bank interest income RITALE WA 3,281 2,233
Government grants I T 448 By 1,920 632
Other income Hag A 2,717 1,687
7,918 22,347
Total revenue, other income and gains WA~ H A YA K I 75 48 58 649,179 493,826
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019

B2 T NF+—A=1+—HIFE

5. WA~ B A A R e (48)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONT'D)

Revenue from contracts with customers

EFEEHBA
(a) Ui B+ A

Mobile internet cultural business and  Provision of hospitality and related

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

provision of IT contract services services in Australia Total
BHOBBALERR
RUERDNFESORE RN R 4B 5 R AR BIIR % @t
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F —EZ-AE —Z-N\F —E-RE —2-N\F
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
TET FHT TET FET Tz THT
Segments 2%
Type of goods or services ERTBRHEEE
E-commerce and sales of goods ETEERHEEER - 8,097 - = = 8,097
Provision of IT contract services and REZABRRAHRE R
maintenance services RS 544,544 352,716 - - 544,544 352,716
Provision of hospitality and related REVBE REBRS
services - - 41,596 48,817 41,596 43,817
Sales of food and beverage REBEEERHEER
in hotel business - - 53,447 58,378 53,447 58,378
Total revenue from contracts EPEHMALS
with customers 544,544 360,813 95,043 107,195 639,587 468,008
Geographical markets HBETH
Hong Kang B m 9,084 - - m 9,084
The PRC H 543,772 351,729 - - 543,772 351,729
Australia BN = - 95,043 107,195 95,043 107,195
Total revenue from contracts EPEHWALSE
with customers 544,544 360,813 95,043 107,195 639,587 468,008
Timing of revenue recognition W TR 2 KRR
Goods transferred at a point in time RE-BESEBER - 8,097 53,447 58,378 53,447 66,475
Services transferred over time R HEL RS 544,544 352,716 41,596 48,817 586,140 401,533
Total revenue from contracts BRANRALEE
with customers 544,544 360,813 95,043 107,195 639,587 468,008
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n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

EE

—E-ANFT A= HIFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONT'D)

Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

(b) Performance obligations

214

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

E-commerce and sales of goods

Revenue arising from E-commerce and sales of goods is
satisfied at a point in time upon delivery of the goods
to the customers and payment in advance is normally
required.

Provision of IT contract services and maintenance services

Revenue arising from provision of IT contract services
is satisfied over time when the IT contract services are
rendered. The IT contract services are less than one year,
which billed based on the progress towards completed
performance of the services. Maintenance services are
satisfied over time as maintenance services are rendered
on a time proportion basis over the maintenance
period and payment in advance is normally required.
Maintenance services contracts are normally for a period
of one year.

Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

Revenue arising from provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia is satisfied over time when the
hospitality and related services are rendered. Normally,
payment in advance from customers is required.

Sales of food and beverage in hotel business

Revenue arising from sales of food and beverage is
satisfied at a point in time upon delivery of the foods and
beverage to the customers and immediate payment is
required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX BRT AT B 18
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):— % Té& RIEERNE (BT A) TS EE
2019 2018
—B-NF | —F)IF
HK$'000 HK$000
THERT FHET
Cost of sales 3 B AN
— Cost of inventories sold* —HEFERA! 8,776 15,965
— Cost of services provided* — IR AR A A * 506,494 329,171
515,270 345,136
Auditor’s remuneration % S BN B &
— audit services — 1z Bk 1,630 1,670
— other services — H th AR 75 399 1,990
2,029 3,660
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- BERRETE
equipment (note 12) (Htit12) 12,948 10,757
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 13) FREEENE (Mit13) 13,452 =
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 15) E b F & E S (H1:£15) 496 1,219
26,896 11,976
Directors’ remuneration EE5M= 1,934 2,613
Staff costs, excluding directors’ emoluments BINA(TBEEEEEHH)
Other staff salaries and benefits* H 8 TE B R AEF 528,757 333,048
Retirement scheme contributions* RIRGTEIfE 5k~ 68,682 40,870
597,439 373,918
Net exchange loss PE 5 BB )F 58 1,763 6,721
Provision for litigations (notes 24 and 36(c)&(d)) A B &
(W1 at24%36(c) & (d)) 32,796 7,176
Lease payments not included in the ]I?Kﬁr)\fﬂfﬁ BFTER
measurement of lease liabilities (note 73(c) HE [ (Hat13(c)) 952 -
Minimum lease payments for the land and RIBBEBGETERIE 175
buildings under HKAS 17 L REBFZHKIE
fﬂ‘ith% - 13,752
Provision for compensation claim (note 24(a)) 118 B R¥E W (H/iE24(a)) - 52,777
Impairment loss on property, plant and M BRE R RE Y
equipment (note 12) BAEEE (Hit12) 23,616 =
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment loss BHEEZ (5)32@?%@) /
on contract assets (note 19(a)) BAEEE (Kt 79(8)) (8) 33
Impairment loss on accounts receivable, FEUS AR R - M & R A8
loan and interest receivables (note 20) 2 B EEE (ﬁ/quZO) 383 2,000
Impairment loss on investments in associates REE RN BIIRE 2 REBE
(note 16) (Htit16) - 5,475
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 74) EE R EEE (Hit14) = 19,877
Impairment loss on other intangible assets HiE & ERERSE
(note 15) (HtiE15) - 5,242
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME BMELRZREZ
and equipment B8 52 1,187
Written off of property, plant and equipment 5% % « BB K&K E 136 —
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL BATEBERIBHIIER L
TREEZ AN TEEBR 579 7,404
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNB AR K (17,795)
*  Cost of inventories sold for the year ended 31 December fBRE_ZE- N\FT_A=1T—HIFE
2018 included a write-down of inventories of approximately EE T B AN ATEE M iH4246,000%
HK$246,000. 7G °©
*  The amounts included salaries and benefits of technical staff * Iy g hoE oA M8 T 3 = Fl
of approximately HK$426,918,000 (2018: HK$232,978,000) %;2? ;% g‘ gﬁ,fi " 7—?(1;2& B 48 #

and their corresponding retirement scheme contributions of
approximately HK$59,058,000 (2018: HK$35,892,000).

o = — )\ &F:
232,978, ooo%ﬂ&&%%éﬁ%ﬁ%
{/ft¥xi’759 058,000 L (=& — )\ F:
35,892,000/ 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BhE KA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKARZ AT :
2019 2018
ZEB-REFE | ZZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Interest on interest-bearing bank and STERITREMBEEZHE
other borrowings 7,733 4,027
Interest on the Essence Loan ZEEFRZFE (K3E36(0))
(notes 36(c)) 4,826 5,229
Interest on lease liabilities (note 13(b)) MEaGEZME (HiE13(0)) 1,219 -
13,778 9,256
==Y/
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 8. FTiEMiR (%)
The income tax expense/(credit) represents the sum of the FisRiRAx,” (ER)IE Eﬂﬁﬂmﬁgﬁiﬁ
current tax and deferred tax and is made up as follows: FEFRIBAEINZ A0 E A T 5 & B :
2019 2018
ZE-NAFE | —EN\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
Current tax: BIEARIE -
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BAENEM - -
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —HR RGN - =
— Australia Company Tax - VAWVNCIE 302 1,615
302 1,615
(Over)/Under-provision in BEFEZ (BEEE)
previous years: BHEIRE:
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BAENEM (27) -
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FERRMEN - 1,148
— Australia Company Tax —BEMAAFIE - 3)
(27) 1,145
Deferred tax: EAETIA 26
Charged/(credited) for the year REFEMR (FKE) 1,617 (7,097)
Write-off of deferred tax assets WHIEE IR B 3,200 -
4,817 (7,097)
Income tax expense/(credit) FisfimAs (E&) 5,092 (4,337)
216 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (CONT'D)

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as the Group
did not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. The
Company'’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC and Australia
are subject to the tax rates at 15% or 25% (2018: 15%
or 25%) in the PRC and 30% (2018: 30%) in Australia,
respectively.

(@) The reconciliation of income tax expense/(credit) for the
year to the loss before tax as per consolidated statement
of profit or loss is as follows:

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

8. FT13% ﬁi/(ﬁ%)h)

AR AEEHE—TE—NFR_F—N\F
+=—A=+— Ei%ﬁ&%%mﬁ?i&
IR ER T EAIREBFEH -
ARABRAEFRMNEE 2B ARIED
AL B15% 825% ( —ZF— )\ F :15%
25% ) MR BEM30% (ZZF— \F:
30% ) Bt R BFR ©

(@) AFEEZHEHEAX (K&)HELR
BIEHERZBHRAIBENYERNT

2019 2018
—E-hE —FE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Loss before tax BrEi R E 1R (137,155) (150,827)
Notional tax on loss before tax, calculated MFiATEE ZERE
at rates applicable to profits in the 128 BB 5 0% ) E B
countries concerned MEFTE (34,458) (32,441)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERGBRAZ R E (655) (2,422)
Tax effect of expenses that are AR B F 2 R 2
not deductible 7,791 6,963
Tax effect of tax benefit not recognised EEEE R AN 2 M 28 29,114 19,850
Tax effect of share of results of associates D1 HEEZ A T%ZIZE%?T%E“ 127 2,630
(Over)/Under-provision in previous years B FE 2 (HBEEE)
BETR (27) 1,145
Others HA - (62)
Write-off of deferred tax assets WEHELEHIBEE = 3,200 -
Income tax expense/(credit) Fistims ~ (EH) 5,092 (4,337)

EXMEEZRARLIA[ | —FT—1LFFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE—F

E-NFF+-_HA=+—HIFE

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (CONT'D)

(b)

218

The components of unrecognised deductible/(taxable)
temporary differences are as follows:

8. FTi5%

(b)

R, (%) (&)

RERZ AR, (BRT)EHRML
ERZBRMT:

2019 2018

ZE-NF — N\

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Unrecognised tax losses RERZHIEBE 677,059 620,170
Decelerated/(Accelerated) depreciation B (IR ITE

allowances R 23,161 (13)

Other taxable temporary difference, net HMERTER M EZEER (21,993) =

Net deductible temporary differences AR B R 2 )F 5 678,227 620,157

(i) No deferred tax assets have been recognised on net
deductible temporary differences owing to the absence of
objective evidence in respect of the availability of sufficient
taxable profits that are expected to arise to offset against
the deductible temporary differences.

(i) The unutilised tax losses accumulated in Hong Kong
and Australia of approximately HK$400,751,000 (2018:
HK$388,608,000) and approximately HK$27,249,000
(2018: Nil), respectively, can be carried forward indefinitely,
while the tax losses in the PRC of approximately
HK$249,059,000 (2018: HK$231,562,000) can be carried
forward for five to ten years following the year when the
losses were incurred, respectively.

There were no distributable profits of the Company's
subsidiaries in the PRC as at 31 December 2019 and
accordingly, there were no temporary differences relating
to the undistributable profits in respect of withholding
tax.

As at 31 December 2018, no temporary differences
relating to undistributable profits of the Company’'s
subsidiaries in the PRC have been recognised in respect to
withholding tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Group controls the
dividend policy of the subsidiaries and the Directors have
determined that these retained profits are not likely to be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2019, temporary differences relating
to undistributed profits of the subsidiaries in the PRC of
the Company’s associate were HK$91,624,000 (2018:
HK$101,476,000). The related deferred tax liabilities
attributable to the Group of HK$2,639,000 (2018:
HK$2,923,000) as at 31 December 2019 in respect of
withholding tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits have not been recognised as
the Group agrees to the associate’s stated plan of not
distributing these retained profits in the foreseeable
future.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019

() ANYETRZERB RN (FBHE
ELEETNREREZR) 2EH
EE AUBMBERECHBAEECHER
AREREER TR

(i) REBRBEBMBA 2 ASEHEE
185 Bl #9400,751,0005 7T ( ZZF — )\
£F : 388,608,000/ 7T ) & #927,249,000
B (ZF—\F &) AT ER s
i B B B IE &5 18 49249,059,000% 7T
(== — )\ : 231,562,000/ 7T ) A] A
ELXBEFELFRAE +FRNEE-

RZE—-NF+_A=+—HB &R
Gl S PNGIN Y- e X e C ]
SikEA - A BN E - W
NSk A AN TR EER -

R—ZZE—-N\F+=_A=+—8" mw
AEBEHZEMNBARMNRKREBE
BESERAEZERE RN AA8E
KA B8 K5 K - B itk I 8 5t 5 R 7%
ZRBEMNFERNNEMNHERE S
/NI [ SRETRL = BN B N1 B e
ZER R

—NE+-_A=+—H8B 5%
Hﬁéf Gl N == R/NEIR: 0 S
i A B BT R 1 = ® 491,624,000
:AT\—J\E

—~ B¥ 5 fH

101,476,000/
o g A ztxﬁlﬂiﬂswﬂ quilJ
EATE;HXT /ﬁgg—r1%aﬂ/mﬂ:”
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

10.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the Shareholders is based on the following
data:

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

L IRE

EEeTERRBE_T-NAFE+=-A
ST -HLEFERERAKRE (ZF-ANA
FE) -

10. R E5 18

BRREEBRERARBEER ZFTENR
B NIIBURIER

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
Loss: EiE:
Loss for the year attributable to the REREEARFEEE

Shareholders (127,582) (144,945)
2019 2018
—E-NE —E-)N\F

Number of shares: REEE :

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue

BERITE BB MEFIHH

5,336,235,108 | 5,336,235,108

Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares

as a result of the share options granted ThakyE
(note)

R R E

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue for the purpose of calculation of
diluted loss per share

RAEEREIBRMS
EEITE BB METFHH

5,336,235,108 | 5,336,235,108

Note:

With the cancellation of all the outstanding share options during
the year ended 31 December 2018, no adjustment has been made
to the amount of the basic loss per shares for the year ended
31 December 2019 in respect of any dilution because there was no
potentially dilutive ordinary share in issue during the year ended
31 December 2019.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2018 does not assume the conversion of the
Company'’s outstanding share options because the adjusted exercise
price of those share options is higher than the average market price
of the shares of the Company.

B & -

HRAERARITEZBRECRBEE_T N
F+_A=+t—BULFEANZH RELEHE
E_T-NFTZA=ZT-HULEFENGRE
AERSRFLERNFREENRAE BAE
ECT-NAFT A=+ -BUEFEIEET
BEEE LB -

AEBE T \F+_A=t—HALFEZ
BEREEERR YEBRERADE ZHARITE
EhEERR AARSTHBEE 2 KRHEBITRE
BERARARED 2 FHOmE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

& I m R KT

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE—F

—NFF+—A=1—HIFFZF
11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND T REEME
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments () EEM<
Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors AEERAFEREETRBAES
in respect of services as directors during the year are as e FEET:
follows:
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other scheme  Share-based
Notes Fees benefits Bonus  contributions payments Total
Exge. ‘
) BE R B SRR A .
fif 3 Be EthEA i HEfS  BHEIAR @3
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
THL TEL THL FEL TEL TEL
2019 ZB-0F
Executive Directors: #111%%
Hui Chun Sum AR - 360 30 18 - 408
Lam Ching Yee ErE - 549 80 1 = 640
Pauline Lam WEE - 480 40 18 - 538
- 1,389 150 47 - 1,586
Independent non-executive BUKHITES:
Directors:
Wong Siu Keung, Joe k% 156 - - - - 156
Leung Ting Yuk 2EE i 2 - - - - 2
Lee King Fui £3) 96 - - - - 96
Ho Kin Wai e i 9% - - - - 94
348 - - - - 348
348 1,389 150 47 - 1,934
2018 T-)\F
Executive Directors iﬂﬂ§$
Zhang Xiongfeng RIfE v 143 1,557 = 16 = 1716
Hung Kenneth EER v % 126 - 6 - 28
Hui Chun Sum SRR Vi - 138 - 7 - 145
Pauline Lam WEZ Vi - 185 - 7 = 192
239 2,006 - 36 - 2,281
Independent non-executive BUKHITES:
Directors:
Wong Siu Keung, Joe R 150 - - - - 150
Leung Ting Yuk RiEE i 90 - - - = 90
Wang Zhiwei Tk v 55 = = = = 55
Lee King Fui Fgm Vi 37 - - - - 37
332 - - - - 332
571 2,006 - 36 - 2,613
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (cont’d)

(i) Appointed with effect from 5 June 2019.

(i) Resigned with effect from 10 January 2019.
Appointed with effect from 10 January 2019.
Resigned with effect from 1 December 2018.
(v) Resigned with effect from 13 August 2018.

(vi) Appointed with effect from 13 August 2018.

Bonuses are determined on a discretionary basis by the
Board with reference to the Group’s operating results for
the current financial year and individual performance.

No Director waived or agreed to waive any emolument
during the year (2018: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 December 2019, among the
five highest paid individuals, one (2018: one) of them was
a Director, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, who has been appointed
as a Director since 5 June 2019. Apart from the director’s
emoluments of HK$640,000, the Group paid salary in the
amount of approximately HK$315,000 to her before her
appointment as a Director. The aggregate amount of her
emoluments of approximately HK$955,000 enabled her
becoming one of the five highest paid individuals and fell
within the band of nil to HK$1,000,000.

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

NEEMENEEMNE ()
(a) EEHS (#)

(b)

) RZE-NFRALBEZE-
iy ERZZE—-—NF—-HA+RHEHE-
(i) RZTE—hF—-—A+HEZE-
vy ERZZE—-N\F+-_A—HEE-
v) BERZE-NFNAT=HEF-
Vi) RZE-NFENAT=AEZE-

RATHEZTE2EAKERAY K
FRzZEEXZBAREAREMRISE

E o

FABEE = WE R B REEA
E(ZT—NFE)-

TEEEHFAL

HE_Z—NF+-_A=+—8BULHF
B - AEBREZEREHFALTHR HAF
—Z(ZE—NF:—R)EEZE (M
BExt #Ea-_ET—-NFAREA
EZETAESE) - B E =% M640,000
BN REEZTAEEZR A
&£ B 2 # B 49315,000/8 7T ° 1% 2
B 48 %8 #49955,0008 TTE K AT A
EegMALTZz —RkFHEEAZTE
1,000,000/ JT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

%:éi_ =

— EE g = el T

11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONT'D)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (cont’d)

Except for the emolument paid to Ms. Lam Ching Yee,
the emoluments (excluding amounts paid or payable by
way of commissions on sales generated by the individual)
and designated band of the remaining four (2018: four)
highest paid, non-director individuals during the year are
as follows:

(b) BEZREF AL (F)

BRENMREELLTHMIN RAFEE
MpB(ZE-—N\F HB)REFH
FEFATZME (TEEREAH
EMUAEESEABMNKEN ZFKIEA)
MAEEFNLE T -

EEMT (&)

2019 2018
—E-NEF —N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&TT
Salaries and allowances re &R 3,365 5,255
Performance based bonus BMAEAT 700 436
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRGTEIMH R 347 327
4,412 6,018
The emoluments of the four (2018: four) non-Director @% (ZE2E—N\F UR)IEEHRS
individuals with the highest emoluments are within the £ )\iZ@ﬂ\ ENFUTEHER:
following bands:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —N\F
Numbers of Numbers of
individuals individuals
AE AE
HK$ BT
Nil-1,000,000 = %£1,000,000 1 1
1,000,001-1,500,000 1,000,0012 1,500,000 3 3
No emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors or FAXEETEREEIAARSHFAL

the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the year (2018: Nil).

222
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

E= NI =L
12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12.9% BB K& E
Plant,
machinery Office Furniture Motor
Freehold Leasehold and and other and vehicles
land Buildings improvements equipment equipment fixtures and yachts Total
KAERLH BF HENREE BE BERRE  HORAMRE BRRKE RERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR ThT ThT TEL ThAR TR TR
Cost: WA:
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE-A-H 19,516 165,146 16,920 19,418 8,532 2,328 1,369 233,229
Additions arising from acquisition of hE-EHBARELZFE
a subsidiary (note (c)) (W3) - - - - - - 6,874 6,874
Additions HE = = 6,338 4,802 3,901 2,494 191 17,726
Disposals HE - - - (121) (191) (20) (192) (524)
Witten off i - - (@7 (14) (2.011) (76) - (2,148)
Exchange realignment HERE (224) (1,894) (296) (215) (192) 1) (17) (2.879)
At 31 December 2019 R=B-1F+=A=1+-B 19,292 163,252 22915 23,810 10,039 4,685 8,225 252,218
Accumulated depreciation: ZitE:
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-H - 11,313 2,462 481 2,004 382 567 21,539
Charge for the year TERMR - 4,075 2401 2,206 3393 196 637 12,948
Disposals e - - - (80) (151) (U] (109) (341)
Written off W = = (18) (2) (1,916) (76) = 2,012)
Exchange realignment SNERE - (84) (114) (37) (116) (1) (9) 371)
At 31 December 2019 R=B-A%+=A=t+-A - 15304 4731 6,938 3214 490 1,086 31,763
Accumulated impairment: Z2itRE:
Impairment loss during REFRESR (@)
the year (note (a) - 23,616 - = = = - 23,616
At 31 December 2019 R-Z2-AE+=A=1-R - 23,616 = = = - - 23,616
Net carrying amount: BEFE:
At 31 December 2019 RZB-AE+ZA=1-R 19,292 124,332 18,184 16,932 6,825 4,195 7139 196,899
Cost: A
At 1 January 2018 R=F-\5-F-H 21,553 182,385 13,388 19,268 5,039 988 1,515 244136
Additions i = - 6,157 2,150 4,481 1,494 260 14,542
Disposals it = S (1,564) - (706) (102) - 2,372)
Witten off s = = - (61) = S (162) @3
Exchange realignment NERE (2,037) (17,39 (1,061) (1,939 (282) (52) (244) (22,854)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\§+-R=1-H 19,516 165,146 16,920 19,418 8532 2328 1,369 233229
Accumulated depreciation: ZitTE:
At 1 January 2018 R=Z2-\§-A-R S 7938 1,939 3,038 235 213 452 13815
Charge for the year RERNR - 431 1,631 2,274 2,009 178 293 10,757
Disposals HE - - (%02) - (112) - - (1,014)
Written off ke s o = (90) @ > (131) 23
Exchange realignment SMERE - (997) (206) (411) (126) 9) 47 (1,79)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+-A=1-H - 11313 2462 4811 2,004 38 567 21539
Net carrying amount BEFE:
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-NE+=A=1-H 19,516 153,833 14,458 14,607 6,528 1,946 802 211,690
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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& I m R KT

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE—F

— EE g = el T

12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONT'D)

Notes:

(@)

224

The freehold land and the buildings represented the estate
resorts (the “Estate Resorts”) for its provision of hospitality
and related services in Australia. The recoverable amount of
the Estate Resorts as at 31 December 2019 has been assessed
by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent
valuer. Pursuant to the valuation report dated 27 March
2020 (the “Properties Valuation”), the recoverable amount
of the Estate Resorts was approximately HK$124,332,000.
Accordingly, an impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$23,616,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the year.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Estate Resorts with
aggregate amount of approximately HK$143,624,000 were
freehold lease which were pledged for interest-bearing bank
borrowings (note 25(a)).

On 19 September 2019, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party (the
“Vendor”), pursuant to which, the Group acquired (i) 100%
equity interest in Ascent Key Limited (“Ascent Key"”); and (ii)
the outstanding balances of the amount due to the Vendor by
Ascent Key of approximately HK$16,630,000, at an aggregate
consideration of HK$6,940,000. The acquisition was completed
on 19 September 2019 (the “Acquisition Date"”). The Directors
were of the opinion that Ascent Key did not have any operation
and its principal assets as at the Acquisition Date were yachts
and therefore, the acquisition of Ascent Key was not accounted
for as a business combination but an acquisition of assets.
Accordingly, the difference between the consideration over the
carrying value of the individual identifiable assets and liabilities
of Ascent Key as at the Acquisition Date has been recognised as
the deemed cost of the yachts acquired.

.95 BER&E (E)

GEE

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

13.LEASES 1B.HE
The Group as a lessee rEBEREEA
The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in AEERAREEE W ATYEIT LM
its operations. The terms of the leases generally require the B -HEBRRKR—RERLKAEBR MR
Group to pay security deposits and have average lease terms BekRNTFHHEBA=FAEGAZNEEME
of three years with fixed monthly rentals. Generally, the To—MRME  AEEREIRNAEE AN
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased SEEDHEEEEE-
assets outside the Group.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets AEBRFARBEERAMENER
and the movements for the leasing of office premises REENRABLRESHNOT
during the year are as follows:
Note HK$'000
i FHET
As at 1 January 2019 N_ZE—-hF—HA—H 14,136
Additions NE 40,011
Depreciation charge mERX 6 (13,452)
Exchange realignment SNEE 8 B (457)
As at 31 December 2019 R-EB-—NAF+-A=+—H 40,238
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MRS HRR I &

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

13.LEASES (CONT'D)

1RB.HE (&

The Group as a lessee (cont’d) rEBEREBEA (F)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEGE
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the FRNHERGBEZREERESHNT
movements during the year are as follows:
HK$'000
FTHET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 (note 2.2) R-ZE-NF—-—HA—-BZKHEE 14,136
(Pfr2.2)
Inception of new leases RIS AY 40,011
Accretion of interest recognised during the year FNFERAEIE N 1,219
Payment ES (13,277)
Exchange realignment 4N HE ) B (457)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 N _E-NF+ZA=+—RHzZ
FREE 41,632
Analysed into: PaR =k
Current portion EVEAER 7 14,392
Non-current portion FERNEAER 27,240
41,632

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 43(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

(c) Rig

HERBZEHOMNES
Bt TE43(c) K FE -

RAEREBEEZRIBWT

BB ¥R &

2019

—E-NEF

Note HK$°000

L THET

Interest on lease liabilities HEREBZHME 7 1,219
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAREEZITERX 6 13,452
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHMEEERE AX 6 952
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRNER 2 58 15,623
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ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

14.GOODWILL 14.79 %
Note HK$'000
B 5 FET
At 1 January 2018 EA_7 )\i HA—H 19,886
Impairment loss recognised during the year #HE—ZT— N\F+_A=+—HILFE 6
ended 31 December 2018 Eﬁﬁw REEBE (19,877)

SME B

Exchange realignment

)

At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 and E’\:;: NF+ZA=+—8"
—h&E—A—8k

31 December 2019

—h¢+:ﬂi+—5 -

Goodwill acquired in a business combination was allocated
at acquisition to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that
were expected to benefit from that business combination.
Before recognition of impairment losses, the gross amount of
goodwill allocated to the following CGU is as follows:

BA%%A@%EPHQ%ZP%EEW&E%F“
EHEPEEZERAHERCREELSE
uﬂiﬁ,ﬁéi EfL|) - AEERBEEE
PHREANTRESEABU I BHEZE
ﬁlzuT:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Provision of hospitality and related RO M B2 48 5 B A8 78 AR 75

services in Australia (MEMBEERSEEEN])
(the "Australian Hospitality CGU") 29,453 29,453
29,453 29,453

The Group tested its goodwill annually for impairment, or
more frequently if there were indications that goodwill might
be impaired.

For Australian Hospitality CGU, the recoverable amount
of the CGUs was determined based on value-in-use
calculations as at 31 December 2018. These calculations
used cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, impairment
loss of HK$19,877,000 (note 6) was recognised and as at
31 December 2018 the goodwill was fully impaired. As at
31 December 2018, a discount factor at a rate ranging from
12.5% — 14% was applied in the value in use model. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using
the average growth rate of 2.3%.

As the goodwill for the Australian Hospitality CGU had
been fully impaired in previous year, the Group did not test
goodwill for impairment for the year ended 31 December
2019.

REEFFETHERERNZ B
KRETEE A T RERER - RIFE AR =R
A

MEMBERESELABMNME RN_F
—NE+-_A=+—"H8B BeELEUZ
AREeBEIENFEREENEEET -
ZAERBREEEEN & AT
BHEEZHARERE-BE_T—\F
+_A=+-—BUHEE ERIREE
$819,877,000/8 7t (Mizke) REER =T
—N\FE+-_A=+—HEHBHERE-R =
T—\F+_A=+—H8 FHZEXF"
FEBEFRER TN F12.5% £14% 1
MRS E - AFHEZHESRERNER
23% M FHEREREITHSE -

HAENEERSELBN 2 HEENA
?EEJ*%%Z)WE $’%IEA§)%%E:% jl

B
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A BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

15.0THER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

15. Bt EREE

Wine Domain
Copyright  membership name Total
i 1 k4¢3 A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET TET
Cost: A :
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—-A—H 4,500 2,511 2,028 9,039
Exchange realignment HNE T B - (29) - (29)
At 31 December 2019 R=-EB-NE+=-A=+—-H 4,500 2,482 2,028 9,010
Accumulated amortisation: ZEHE-
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE-NF—HA—H 1,050 1,255 236 2,541
Charge for the year KEF MR - 496 - 496
Exchange realignment HNE 3 B - (14) - (14)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-hE+ZA=1—H 1,050 1,737 236 3,023
Accumulated impairment: ZEHRME -
Charge for the year AEEMRK - - - -
At 31 December 2019 R-E-AE+=-A=+-H 3,450 - 1,792 5,242
Net carrying amount: BREFE:
At 31 December 2019 R=B-RAfF+=A=+-H - 745 - 745
Cost: P -
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\F—-A—H 4,500 2,773 2,028 9,301
Exchange realignment HNE TR - (262) - (262)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\$+-A=t—H 4,500 2,511 2,028 9,039
Accumulated amortisation: ZErE-
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\F-A—H 600 832 - 1,432
Charge for the year REFR 450 533 236 1,219
Exchange realignment NI 38 2 = (110) = (110)
At 31 December 2018 RZ_Z-\E+_-_A=+—H 1,050 1,255 236 2,541
Accumulated impairment: 2EHRE:
Charge for the year KEFR 3,450 - 1,792 5,242
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+-A=+—H 3,450 - 1,792 5,242
Net carrying amount: BREHE -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\$+-A=1—H - 1,256 - 1,256

No detailed impairment assessment on wine membership
was performed during the year as the Directors were of the
opinion that the carrying amount of the wine membership
was not material to the consolidated financial statements.

RERNY EETHBBESSENRENE

HB5 RAREZERAR

= =2
w / =]

FEHREE

HiREMBREAMEBTIEKX-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

16 RNBERAl 2 KE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZT—N\F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Cost of unlisted investments in associates BERRIFELMRE 2R 325,730 325,730

Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves, — JF&1f Y B8 1% 4 K & 45

net of dividends received 2 0 Bx Fr U A% 8. 1,675 2,580

327,405 328,310

Less: Impairment loss B OREE B (247,001) (247,001)

80,404 81,309

Included in the cost of unlisted investments in associates RBERRRBERRFELTRE ZK

at the end of the reporting period was goodwill arising on RBEWEES 2 E242,952,000%

acquisition of HK$242,952,000 (2018: HK$242,952,000). 7T (ZF — )\ :242,952,000% 7T ) ° B&

Except for the goodwill of HK$2,944,000 arising from the U B Luck Key (EBER TXOEEZ2BEE

acquisition of Luck Key (as defined below), the remaining 2,944,000 TN FEHAERE (EH

goodwill of HK$240,008,000, mainly arising from Something RN X)) E & 2 # T 78240,008,0007% 7T

Big (as defined below), had been fully impaired in previous EE@%@E@TE%?&W@"E@@?:?—)\
year. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group FT+_A=+T—BLLFE TEBEHRNE

made an impairment loss on investments in associates of ENRRZIRE IR BE B 185,475, OOO/’é

HK$5,475,000 (note 6) (2019: Nil).

The particulars of the associates are as follows:

7t (Kise) (ZFE—N&F: &) -
BrE NR 2B :

Proportion
of ownership
Form of interest Group's
business Place of held by a effective
Name structure incorporation subsidiary interest  Principal activities
— BN R
FEREE N3]
£ EREBKA SMBLBE RERERLAH EREE IBEK
Luck Key Investment limited (“Luck Key“)*  Incorporated  British Virgin Islands 48.33% 48.33%  Provision of medical diagnostic
and health check services
Luck Key Investment limited ([Luck Key |) * FEfA(z EBRUME RIEBEDH R ERRE
Something Big Technology Holdings Limited  Incorporated  Cayman Islands 28.8% 28.8%  Design, development, marketing
("Something Big") and distribution and operation
of mobile-online games
RERMBERERDA ([KAERE]) B 17 AV HEHE Rt RE HERETREE
BB &R
Nuada Holdings Limited (“Nuada”) Incorporated  Cayman Islands 30% 30%  Provision of corporate financial
advisory services
RRERRERLA (ERE]) Eal1pAva FEeks R I A BRI
*  The Directors were of the opinion that except for Luck Key, the * EERE BlLuck Keysh- /H\@ AN
other associates were not material associates of the Group. FAEE C EREE QT
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e I E R R M
For the year ended 31 December 2019
B2 T NF+-A=1+—HIFE

16.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D) 16.

All of the associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
material associate, Luck Key, as at 31 December 2019 is set

REERNRI2RE (8)

PrBEH 2 AR IRBEDIAR A MR
RAH-

BABENT Luck KeyR—ZT— A E+=
AR=1T—RZWBEBREHIGOT :

out below:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET
Gross amounts of Luck Key: Luck Key #2%8 :
Current assets MENEE 76,626 65,089
Non-current assets FEMEBNEE 133,393 105,542
Current liabilities mENEE (32,216) (24,242)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (21,455) (4,022)
Total equity Mg 156,348 142,367
Equity attributable to the shareholders Luck Key % 5 FE (5 1 =
of Luck Key 156,217 142,205
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue YA 210,155 219,072
Profit for the year attributable to Luck Key I% 3R FE15 F N 2 5 A
the shareholders of Luck Key 14,012 15,798
Total comprehensive income for the Luck Key IR R FE1E F A
year attributable to the shareholders FH BT
of Luck Key 14,012 15,396
Group's effective interest REBZEERENZ 48.33% 48.33%
Share of Luck Key's profit for the year JE 1 Luck Key & A 2 % 7 6,772 7,635
Share of Luck Key's total comprehensive  FE{f Luck Key & T W == 48 58
income 6,772 7,441

230 Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2019
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16.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONT'D)

Reconciliation of the Group’s interests in the material
associate, Luck Key

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

16 RBERNA 2 RE (&)

REBERNE K E QT Luck Key Z fE &

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Gross amounts of net assets attributable Luck Key IR FE(H & E FERRE
to shareholders of Luck Key 156,217 142,205
Group's effective interest REBZERER 48.33% 48.33%
Group's share of net assets of the associate ZN&[E BB & QAR & EFE 75,500 68,728
Goodwill kS 2,944 2,944
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in ~ ZN 5 B 1 Luck Key Z # = BRE B
Luck Key 78,444 71,672
In the opinion of the Directors, none of the remaining EERR RZE-—NFERZT-NF

associates of the Group was individually material to the
Group as at 31 December 2018 and 2019.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually

t-A= + B EAREGRTHENR
BRI AEBMSBEAN

MR A S B E AR E RN E AR
BB ER

material:

2019 2018
ZE-NF A=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT T
Share of associates’ loss for the year EIEEE NRIFAZER
— Something Big —RERE (6,745) (3,161)
— Nuada —BRE (795) (7,348)
(7,540) (10,509)
Share of associates’ total comprehensive BB E AR 2 EN SRR
income
— Something Big —RERE (6,882) (4,525)
—Nuada —REE (795) (7,348)
(7,677) (11,873)
Aggregate carrying amount of AEBERBERRREZ
the Group's investment in the associates REAE
— Something Big —RERHX 118 7,000
— Nuada —RRE 1,842 2,637
1,960 9,637
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n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

17.

232

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 1732 2 HEFBEM T W &S
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE IR 2 © R E E
INCOME
2019 2018
“B-hE | —T-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REEZ ETRARZS 12,068 13,105
Listed equity securities in the PRC N IZJ:ﬁHx$§§ 22 151,926 76,615
Unlisted equity securities FE E AR ANEE 2 5,315 7,992
169,309 97,712

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated
at FVTOCI as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's listed equity securities
in the PRC with a carrying value of HK$151,926,000
(2018: HK$76,615,000) represented 45,779,220 shares in
LEO Group Co., Ltd ("LEQ") held by Jixiang Information
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Limited (i.e. the Jixiang's Shares
as defined in note 36(d)) which were pledged for a loan
granted to a subsidiary of the Company, details of which are
stated in notes 25 and 36(c) to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group was involved in a litigation
with LEO as at 31 December 2019 and as at the date of
these consolidated financial statements, as further detailed in
note 36(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s unlisted equity
securities represented (i) certain investment in a closed-ended
investment fund incorporated in the Cayman Islands (the
“Investment Fund”); and (ii) 7% equity interest in a private
company in Australia (the “Australian Company”).

PR AR E A R E R T AR A FE
BBREMEmKAINE REDAEER
RREFRENE BB -

RZE-—NF+_A=+—H XK
.E':P.E”JJ:FHHX$ A0 BREmE
£151,926,0008 0 (=T — \F:
76,615,000/ 7T ) * #H & 1045,779,2200% F
AREBSFMN(EE)BRREEE FIE
SEERAA ([FM&K])OEKH (TR
) (E& B HE36(d) D EFIES
BRYARR—MHNBRARNERMER
HBENGE SRR E25%36(c) it
IR ZEBE—NE+-_A=+—BERZ
ERAVBREBE  KEEB A BT
MRt E— P HFBERN GRSV BERERN
5136(d) °

A\ _E-NF+_RA=+—B KxEEHH*
ERBRAESEN)ERSESEMKZ
HEHAAKREES (REE®)PHET
RE R (i) —ERMNALE R R ([BNA
A1)7% g -
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17.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (CONT'D)

Investment Fund

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in January
2020, the Group received a letter from an independent
third party, pursuant to which, an offer (the “Offer”) to
acquire the Investment Fund from the Group with a cash
consideration (the “Consideration”) of approximately
HK$2,595,000 was made to the Group. The Group accepted
the Offer and completed the disposal in March 2020. Given
that the Offer was made close to the end of the reporting
period, the Directors considered that the Consideration
reflected the fair value of the Investment Fund as at
31 December 2019. Therefore, the Group recognised a fair
value loss of approximately HK$2,647,000 in respect of the
Investment Fund in the fair value reserve of financial assets at
FVTOCI during the year.

Australian Company

Based on the Directors’ assessment with reference to the net
assets value of the Australian Company as at 31 December
2019, the fair value of the Australian Company was
approximately HK$2,720,000. There was no significant
change in the fair value of the Australian Company during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

1732 2 FES BEM 2 WS

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

IRz e MEE (&)

REESE

WEHKRE R_TE-_TF—H A58
BREREBYE=ZFNRE Bt AE
EEE—HEHN(EN])UBELXEHE
BEREES HeREB(IREHLA
2,595,000 L AKBEEEMNELDNT N
E_TFHATHHE - ERELTIRNEG
MHEBRIEL EERARERMIKE
EeR-_ZE—NFTA=T—HHRF
BE-Al AEBRAFEREZAFESE
BEMEEMBNEINEzEREENRNFE
HEEREHAREESNATEEBED
2,647,0007% I °

M2 =

REEELEANRAR-_T—AF+=
A=+—HBHEEFEMELOTGE R
MR BH)RF{EL A2,720,0009 7T - IR B
E-T-NF+-A=+—HLFE B
MRBHAFERESAES-
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A BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2019
B2 T NF+-A=1+—HIFE

18.INVENTORIES 1878
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Finished goods BIPK o 8,581 10,301

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all the inventories were

stated at cost.

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an

RZBE—hNhErR_FTE—N\FE+_A=+—

B FBEFEEARINBMKA -

ERASAX A ABENTFESELTN

expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: D
2019 2018
—E2-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHEFENREE 8,776 15,719
Write down of inventories 78 MRk - 246
8,776 15,965
19.CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19.68HNEEREGRNERT
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) EHEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —FT-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contract assets EHNEE
Arising from provision of IT contract services RiEH BRI A LIRS
By B A 131,217 133,121
Less: Impairment B R E (656) (666)
130,561 132,455

Contract assets are initially recognised for provision of
IT contract services which are satisfied over time when
the IT contract services have been rendered. Upon
completion of the IT contract services and acceptance by
the customers, the amount initially recognised as contract
assets are reclassified to accounts receivable in relation to

provision of IT contract services.

234

EEMBMBRAAORBE TRER &
MEEVSHRBSEMRZE QRS
Bim HEEREEEX -RNEXEAR
REARBLBEPEMNRE VL
REAMNBEENTKEAEN I EEEH
RE AR A KR A U AR
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ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

19.CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19.60BENEHBEE (B)

LIABILITIES (CONT'D)
(a) Contract assets (cont’d)

() BHEE (&)

RTZA=+—H KEHEFEELD
BE (MERRE) WTEMEEIDT

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for
contract assets, net of impairment, as at 31 December is

as follows:
2019 2018
ZB-hE | —T-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within one year —FR 130,561 132,455

FRABEBREEZSHBEROT

The movements in loss allowance during the year are as

follows:

HK$'000
FHEIT
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-—N\F—H—H 658
Impairment loss recognised e R B S 18 33
Exchange realignment 4N HE 8 B (25)

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZZFE-—NE+ZA=1+—HBK
—E-hF—H—H 666
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B EERREESR (8)
Exchange realignment 4N HE 8 B (2)
At 31 December 2019 R-EBE-AF+=ZA=+—H 656

There was no material changes in the loss allowance as
there was no material changes in the balances of contract
assets as at the end of the reporting dates.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The
provision rates for the measurement of the ECLs of
the contract assets are based on those of the accounts
receivable as the contract assets and the accounts
receivable are from the same customer bases. The
provision rates of contract assets are based on days
past due of accounts receivable. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available as at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

BEABIREARY TERA Y
AEEHNBE QPR EEABE) -

BEDMDFEER SRS A BE R
mEEGFERPEEBERMET A
NAEANEERMEEBR BB
RIRBERERZBERTEE F
BREEERWERARTIREERER
EM-aNEECRERDREER
R B R BB TE - %t B R 1]
EMEAR 2BEREBEARRRE
AR ESEREESMH ERAR
KRR EAAIE R 2 BRI FEE R -
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NOTES TO, THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RARM T

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

19.CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT VENEERGHEE (E)
LIABILITIES (CONT'D)
(a) Contract assets (cont’d) (a) BHEE (#)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TREBIWNAEBEHNEEFHBREE
exposure on the Group's contract assets using a provision fe ) (= & [ ﬁﬂ
matrix:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
ECLs rate BEHEEFEX 0.5% 0.5%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EEaE(TEr) 131,217 133,121
ECLs (HK$'000) EHEEBE(TET) 656 666
(b) Contract liabilities (b)E#HEE
2019 2018
—E-AEF —E-)N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
i TET FAET
Contract liabilities BHEE
Deposits received and Bl e REEKA (i)
deferred income 7,358 7,427
7,358 7,427
Note: 3T
() Revenue of approximately HK$7,379,000 (2018: () B2-_T—NhF+-_A=+—8ItF
HK$7,151,000) recognised for the year ended 31 December E HMRAESTFEENNEELSY
2019 was related to carried-forward contract liabilities that BEEENKZEYL A7,379,000% T
were satisfied in the prior year. (ZZ—\%:7,151,000%7T) °
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20.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND

INTEREST RECEIVABLES

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

20. M R 7K IR IR E AR K2 LB

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Accounts receivable JrE Uk BR 3k 60,011 27,636
Less: Impairment B RE (547) (165)
59,464 27,471
Loan receivables JE W & 3K 11,240 29,300
Loan interest receivables U E KA B 61 81
Less: Impairment B RUE - (1,900)
11,301 27,481
70,765 54,952

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable represent (i) receivables from customers
arising from provision of IT contract services and (ii)
receivables from travel agents arising from provision of
hospitality and related services in Australia. The Group's
terms with its customers and travel agents are mainly on
credit, except for new customers and travel agents, where
payment in advance is normally required. The credit period
is generally one month, extending up to three to six months
for major customers and travel agents. Each customer and
travel agent has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group’s accounts receivable balance
from provision of IT contract services relates to a major
customer and there is significant concentration of credit
risk, while there is no significant concentration of credit risk
regarding the accounts receivable balance from the provision
of hospitality and related services in Australia. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its accounts receivable balances. Accounts receivable is
non-interest-bearing.

Loan and interest receivables

Loan and interest receivables are mainly arising from the
money lending business, which are entered with contractual
maturity within 6 months. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its loan and interest receivables in order
to minimise credit risk by reviewing the borrowers’ financial
positions. The loan receivables are interest-bearing at rates
mutually agreed between the contracting parties, at a
fixed rate of 10% (2018: 10%-11%) per annum. As at
31 December 2019 and 2018, all loan receivables of the
Group were unsecured.

FE&E WAL B R

EUERFIE () IR EARIR A L REE
W% P T8 K (i) BE R RN 12 48 15 K& A8
ARG ERRITRERE AEBHER
FRRTREBTIZEUNEEFANBKER B
HEPRIRITRIEIIN BHIER—MBATE
SRR -EEHBETABR—EA ®E
BEERIKITREBEERE=2EA - &
EEFRKTREERSEERBE A&
ES Sk E R EERBGRIBG ISR EL -
BHARTHHSAETEEETEMN -~
EEIREEAEHE A 4R TS B R TR A #4
H- T ERFABAEGEEAEEES
[2L B8 - SR T - PR N B AR E TR K 4B R AR 7S
ZEWBRRTESEA EEETRR A&
[ H e UL BR TR A eR I S A T ) K1 R
HEMEEEK - EBRERAES -

FEW & KK R B

EUWERRFNBETEENEXRELE &
WERZAWDHABIAEAARN - K&
EEBEMERAZTBHRAEEERE
REFBREEREEUNBREREKEE
BB ERZENEFHERTNE
EFEFMEI0%FE(ZE—NF:10% =
M%) R—_FE—NAFR-_ZFE—N\F+=
fEJr— H ANEBFMERKERSEIR
qﬂo
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A BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2019
B2 T NF+-A=1+—HIFE

20.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(a) Ageing analysis

(%)
(a) BRER 247

20. B MR R 7K BRI E AR K2 LB

Ageing of accounts receivable

The credit terms given to the customers vary and are
generally based on the financial strengths of individual
customers. In order to effectively manage the credit risks
associated with accounts receivable, credit evaluations of
customers are performed periodically. The credit period

FEW AR 2 AR i

KTEEZEEBRZETR  —KIUNU
FRAER B ENREE - BEX
EEHERWEREREECEERR K
R EHFHEREE - BRERZ
EEHNT308BE180H -

given to accounts receivable ranged from 30 days to 180

days.
The aging analysis of accounts receivable as at the end of REEBRR RIBFZEAH 2 EBIKER
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net KRBT (IRBE) AT
of provisions, is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within 1 month DR1E A 58,315 25,851
1 to 2 months 12218 A 676 552
2 to 3 months 2E3fE A 111 118
Over 3 months 31E A LA E 362 950
59,464 27,471

Ageing of loan and interest receivables

The ageing analysis of loan and interest receivables as

R EFRFL .2 Kb

RIS HRRIES QO H B KRR

at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual HE B E KRR T E B BRE 5 AT a0
due date and net of provisions, is as follows: JI

2019 2018

—g-nF | —ET-N\%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Not yet past due i) 7 260 HA 11,301 27,481
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(b) Impairment

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Impairment of accounts receivable

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e. by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's accounts receivable using a
provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2019

BE_F-NF+A=+—HAUFE
20.FE YRR 3K~ FE W E R K R 8
(%)
(b) W&
VRS 2

NEHRSE B RRABBREBETRE
I UG ERHREEER -BEXRT
ERN@MBEs gt AERUBEREN
(BMizZs i - Em BRI - B P B KT
BT RIZFF 7 &8 2 5 M EE 5%
AETERMRRBRE AP FNEE
BEFEIE - E RN MR R R
RN EMESLER ERKEHEHEE
MeB LA AR -

T 2R 51 7 o D B 158 D R 4 4
R S B R RS

R-Z2-NAF+-A=+—H

Past due
BRAES
Current 1to 3 months Over 3 months Total
B =f@AR =@EALE st
ECLs rate BHEEFEX 0-0.5% 0-10% 0-50%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRE#&E (T T) 58,607 807 597 60,011
ECLs (HK$'000) BHEERE(TET) 291 21 235 547
As at 31 December 2018 —N\F+—A=+—H
Past due
BAAES
Current 1to 3 months Over 3 months Total
B =f@A =@EALE st
ECLs rate EHEEERX 0-0.5% 0-0.5% 0-20%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) ERE#&{E (F&T) 25,975 553 1,108 27,636
ECLs (HK$'000) BHCERE(TET) 124 1 40 165

EXMEEZRERLQT | —F

—NFFH 239




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

EE

—E-ANFT A= HIFE

20.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

(b) Impairment (cont'd)

240

Impairment of loan and interest receivables

For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months
(12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs).
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on loan and interest receivables has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the loan and interest receivables as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the loan and interest receivables as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. All
loan and interest receivables are classified as stage 1 and
were neither past due nor impaired. In the opinion of the
Directors, no ECLs for the loan and interest receivables
have been provided as the amount of ECL is immaterial
to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

20.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, LOAN AND 20. JE YN HR 30 - FEU B X K I B

INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)
(c) Movement of loss allowance

The movements of loss allowance for accounts
receivable

The movements in loss allowance of accounts receivable
during the year are as follows:

(%)
(0 BRBELH

FEE 14 B 5% Y 5 7R % 1 9 B2 B

REN BKERSBRBENS
m

HK$'000

FHEIT

At 1 January 2018 N_E—\F—H—H 70

Impairment loss recognised ERRRESE 100

Exchange realignment 4N HE 8 B (5)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZZE-—NFT+A=+T—HBK

—E-hF—H—H 165

Impairment loss recognised ERRRESE 383

Exchange realignment 4N EE 58 B (1)

At 31 December 2019 R=B-NAE+=A=+-—H 547

The increase in the loss allowance of accounts receivable
was due to the increase in the gross amount of accounts
receivable arising from provision of IT contract services.

The movements of loss allowance for loan and
interest receivables

The movements in loss allowance for loan and interest
receivables during the year are as follow:

FEWBR R EEEEEN RARR
AR A DR E £ 8 EUER K
AREEIE pO o

BREFRFBZEREEZEE

RERN BIRER KRB Z EBERE
HZmT -

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2018 R_ZE—-\F—H—H -

Impairment loss recognised EHERBEER 1,900
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—HBK

—E-NF—H—H 1,900

Amount written off as uncollectible WEEET AR E M S8 (1,900)

At 31 December 2019 R=-B-h&E+=A=+—-H -
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A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
ﬁj‘: — 7

—NF+ZA=1+—HIFE
21.PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 21T FRIB - EAth 8 YR IB

OTHER ASSETS fth & B
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Prepayments TE IR 14,290 6,640
Deposits and other receivables e & H MR W IR 7,761 7,199
22,051 13,839

The financial assets included in above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the impairment was assessed to be minimal.

22.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

NEAFEFERERD

A LGS SR S AL e
DR RABORUGKE RN =T — N
E=F—N\E+=A=+—8 T
B

/H]]IJ
é
s
NS
K

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS A E
2019 2018
—E-NEF —\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Listed shares in Hong Kong, at fair value REB LMK,
(AT EFZ) 41,289 41,932

The above equity investments were classified as financial
assets at FVTPL as they were held for trading.

Included in the financial assets at FVTPL is investment in Town
Health International Medical Group Limited (Stock Code:
3886) ("Town Health”) amounting to HK$38,534,000
(2018: HK$ 39,288,000) as at 31 December 2019.

242

FHBRARETNFEEE WHoBEAEA
FEHEBERIEZEMEE-

RZE-NF+_A=+—H &AFE
uﬂ%@ SRz EREES BIERRER
REEEEAR A (DR 3886)
(TE®R]) 2% &38,534,000/8 L (=&
— J\4F : 39,288,000/ 7T, ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONT'D)

Given the trading of the shares of Town Health on the Stock
Exchange was suspended as at 31 December 2019, the
fair value of the Group’s investment in Town Health as at
31 December 2019 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group, using the index return method, which is a
generally accepted approach in the industry, where the last
trading price of the shares of Town Health was adjusted by
the return of a synthetic index. Assumptions used in the
valuation include: (a) no material change in the existing
conditions which might adversely affect the business of Town
Health; (b) prospective earnings would provide a reasonable
estimate on the fair market value of the assets held by
Town Health; (c) reliance by the valuer on the assistance and
information provided by the Company; and (d) information
related to the valuation would be made available to and
reviewed by the valuer. Inputs including (a) the return of
other comparable publicly listed companies ranging from
-23.91% to -61.90% from the last trading date to their
year-end dates; (b) business nature and financial reports
of Town Health; (c) publication and research reports of the
related industry; (d) reliable sources of market data; and (e)
the liquidity discount for the uncertainty of the length of
suspension were applied in the valuation. There was neither
significant change in the value of the inputs and assumptions
from those used in the valuation in the prior year nor
subsequent change to the valuation method adopted.
Pursuant to their valuation report dated 27 March 2020, the
fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL was approximately
HK$38,534,000 (2018: HK$39,288,000).

As at 31 December 2019, certain of the investment in
Town Health in the amount of HK$33,284,000 (2018:
HK$33,935,000) were pledged for a loan to a subsidiary
(notes 25 and 36(c)).

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

NIEAFEFRAERIEZ®

BMEE (&)

ERREEAROR_ZE—NL&E+=A
T+ HRBMIAEEFEEE RN
F+_A=Z+—B AEEREREZKE
MAFENRERENEETERECE
VEBRBEEGEMYATELZREGRA

AEETTHEER - ZAEFEAEREFRE

MeZ A EBERNRRA L HERRG &
BRRERLFERBENRRAE - HES
FANRRERE: @B R ELIRN Y
REEBKEKTFFENERED: (b)TE
HEMNERREAFEEN A FMEED
BIEMMEET: (O BEME AR IRENR
B REHNGERE: k) EEXEESBY
BRI (R EAM B B R (H BN -
FEARMENRE ASUESETE@ HEMA L
BEANRETRARERZ& &x%ai
FEFAEBNF-23.91% £ -61.90% &)@
W) RBEOEBEERPERE: OB
BITENAMEMERE: A ETHH
BRR: K(e) A= ERTHANRBE
SRR -BEFEHBEMA 2B AZRIE X
BRENBELEERES REETRER
MEERZTEESH BEFRSEH A
T-TE-A -+ LHMGBERS BA
FEBEBEDRVNEZESHREEZAFTEDN
38,534,000/ 7T ( =& — /\4F : 39,288,000
HBIT) e

RZEBE-hAhE+_A=1+—8 RER
B T 4% &33,284,0008 T (—ZF — N\
% :33,935,000/8 0) EEFIER M —E
BMERAREHMNERANER (M F25%
36(c)) °

\_/
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE—F

E-NFF+-_HA=+—HIFE

23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

BASNFRR[EAR B K

PLEDGED TIME DEPOSIT HEHFR
2019 2018
—E-NE — N\
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B x FEx FHET
Cash and bank balances R MIEITH 33,088 47,993
Time deposits EHIFR 160,428 142,000
193,516 189,993

Less: Pledged time deposit: B EEATHEER:
Pledged for interest-bearing bank EEM ERITEER 25(b)

borrowings (13,000) (13,000)
Cash and cash equivalents RehFREEER 180,516 176,993
(a) At 31 December 2019, cash and bank balances of @ R=ZE—-—NF+A=+—HB K&

244

the Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to
approximately HK$22,837,000 (2018: HK$9,967,000),
United States dollars amounted to approximately
HK$16,660,000 (2018: Nil) and Australian dollar
amounted to approximately HK$2,920,000 (2018:
HK$9,817,000). Renminbi is not freely convertible into
foreign currencies. Subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange Renminbi for foreign
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Pledged time deposit

Pledged time deposit as at 31 December 2019
represented a deposit pledged to a bank to secure
banking facilities granted to an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The pledged time deposit
carried interest at the prevailing market rate at 2.14%
(2018: 2.05%) per annum as at 31 December 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS

2B NEMENIA BT E

AND PROVISION AR
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-)N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables JERE BRI 12,572 13,211
Accruals and other payables (note (a)) FEETE A K& E b BT RIR
(BiaE()) 201,406 166,364
Provision for litigations (note 36) FrEnfEE (FiFE36)
~ LEO Case — B E M 32,118 7,200
— Essence Case —ZEREY 15,054 7,176
261,150 193,951
Less: Classified as non-current portion WD BREREH D (19,584) (36,985)
241,566 156,966

Ageing analysis of trade creditors

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based
on the invoice date of the Group as at the end of the
reporting period:

FE+ B 5 R ERER 2 4T

ATRARERHERRRIEZRA LR
REE L34 Rk

2019 2018

—E—-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 3 months 3MEA 2 A 8,173 11,102
Over 3 months 3ME A E 4,399 2,109
12,572 13,211

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS 2% B NEMENIIE  EFTE

246

AND PROVISION (CONT'D)
Note (a):

Included in other payables was an amount of HK$37,729,000
(2018: HK$50,821,000) which represents the present value of
the outstanding amount of a compensation in the amount of
approximately RMB48,088,000 (inclusive of tax) (equivalent to
approximately HK$52,777,000) (note 6) (the “Compensation”)
payable to Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd. (E AT AR A 7))
("HW"), a major customer of the Group, by EPRO, a then indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as a result of the
offering of bribe to the staff of HW by a former employee of EPRO
in contravention of the Honesty and Integrity Undertaking dated
22 December 2014 executed by EPRO in favour of HW.

On 12 March 2019, EPRO and HW entered into an agreement (the
“Agreement”) pursuant to which the Compensation shall be set
off against the accounts receivable due from HW to EPRO (the
“Accounts Receivable”) by 36 equal monthly instalments (the
“Monthly Instalments”) commencing on 1 April 2019.

It is also provided in the Agreement that (i) to ensure the settlement
of the Compensation by EPRO, EPRO shall agree that the amount
of the outstanding Accounts Receivable shall exceed the amount
of the remaining Compensation from time to time and HW shall
have the right to set off the Compensation against the Accounts
Receivable; and (ii) EPRO shall provide its preceding year’'s annual
audited financial report to HW every year. Subject to the mutual
agreement between HW and EPRO and the profitability of EPRO as
disclosed in its annual audited financial report, the amount of the
Monthly Instalments to be set off against the Accounts Receivable
for the year may be increased.

R REE (E)
SEC)E

H B 3RIE B R £ §837,729,00078 7T (=
T — N\ :50,821,0008 L) BARAEFZ
ME2EWNBARSBER —ZAEEHKRES
RMERAR([ELR] AXEENEERF)
E\I ERGPER-_Z—NFE+_A-+=H
FENNEAAIZANRERREREZ M
JEH%Z%M@AEW&OS&OOOE ( a%ﬁﬁlﬁ)
(# & MW #952,777,0008 7t) (KisE6) MES(E
([EEDMAEESHERAE

RZBE-NF=A+=ZB SBERERIIL—
e (&) Bt - A -—FT—hFEOA—
B BERR S B REWE SN RIRR (T

IR ) 3eE A SRR AN (RAGN])
B S0

BT MAE() RERSBEMEE i3
FEARE ﬁ)"ﬁ‘%ﬁ% X & BRI T BGE%TE
B % 3 HEE KR U R
BE: R (u)%;ﬂgliﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁzf/v\t iE’J
FERELVBRE XRNE/EZFENE
73 &Eéﬁi\iri‘“%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi&iﬁﬁﬁzgja
BN BE N NEEHR KRR T EN 2R
AN SRR GEM-
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ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

25.INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BETERITREMEER
BORROWINGS
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings is as follows: AEEEBEEMNRRIT
2019 2018
ZB-AE | CEN\FE
Notes Effective interest rate  Maturity HK$'000 HK$'000
st ERAMZE  HR TR THT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
FTERTEE
NAB Loans, secured (@) 3.74-3.76% 31 August 2020 -
(2018:3.76-3.94%) 31 August 2024 72,503 69,858
BNERBTER HEM 374376% Z—Z-TF
(ZF-N\%&:376-  NA=+—RAE
394%) —TZQF
NA=+—8
NJ Loan 1, secured (b) 5.66% 30 May 2020
(2018: 5.91%) 10,370 10,588
BRRITER  HER 5.66% _—T_THF
(ZZ2-N\%F:591%) HA=TA
NJ Loan 2 and 3, unsecured (b) 544% 2 July 2020 -
(2018: 5.70%) 16 August 2020 4,508 3,453
MRRITEFRS  BEM 544% —E-TF
(ZZ—-N\F:570%) tﬂ Egﬁ
}\H +7<H
Interest-bearing other borrowings
Hitst EEE
Essence Loan, secured (© 6.00% 16 September 2019 79,216 80,913
ZiEEF FHA “Z-NE
NA+RE
Bailihong Loans, unsecured (d) 6.00%  On demand 55,233 -
BRRER mER BEX
221,830 164,812
Less: Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings classified as current portion (219,669) (164,812)
WP BRRBHDNFRRITRAMEE
Non-current portion 2,161 -
FRBBH
Analysis into:
PR
The carrying amounts of the above
borrowings are repayable:
TREERAEBAETER:
Within one year or on demand 219,669 164,812
—FAFREX
In the second year 843 -
F-F
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 1,318 -
F-EFLE (BREEMEF)
221,830 164,812
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A

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

25.INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONT'D)

Notes:

(@) There are 3 interest-bearing bank borrowings (the “NAB

248

Loans”) granted by National Australia Bank Limited (“NAB"),
details of which are as follows:

NAB Loan 1 and 2

NAB Loans with principal amount of AU$2,341,472 (equivalent
to approximately HK$12,788,000) (2018: AU$2,667,500
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,738,000)) (the “NAB
Loan 1") and AU$3,620,832 (equivalent to approximately
HK$19,775,000) (2018: AU$4,125,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$22,790,000)) (the "NAB Loan 2") are
secured by (i) two of the Estate Resorts (note 12) and (ii)
guarantees given by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries
and bear interest at business lending rate plus customer margin
(i.e. business lending rate +0.92%) per annum. Pursuant to the
loan agreements, the outstanding amount of the NAB Loan 1
of AU$2,340,653 and NAB Loan 2 of AU$3,612,068 (equivalent
to approximately HK$32,510,000 in aggregate) (2018:
approximately HK$32,733,000 in aggregate) as at 31 December
2019, are repayable by monthly instalment of AU$14,819
(equivalent approximately HK$82,000) and AU$22,917
(equivalent approximately HK$127,000) respectively, with the
outstanding balance on or before 31 August 2020.

NAB Loan 3

NAB Loans with principal amount of AUS$7,189,500 (equivalent
to approximately HK$39,265,000) and AUS$700,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$3,823,000) (2018: AUS$9,570,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$52,873,000)) (collectively,
the “NAB Loan 3") are secured by (i) all of the Estate Resorts
(note 12); and (ii) guarantees given by the Company and
certain of its subsidiaries and bear interest at business lending
rate plus customer margin (i.e. business lending rate +0.92%)
per annum. The outstanding amount of the NAB Loan 3 was
AU$7,322,559 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,993,000)
(2018: approximately HK$37,125,000) as at 31 December
2019. Pursuant to the loan agreement, (i) AU$6,772,615
(equivalent to approximately HK$36,989,000) is repayable by
monthly instalment of AU$79,750 (equivalent to approximately
HK$436,000) with outstanding balance on or before 31 August
2020; and (ii) AU$549,944 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,004,000) repayable by monthly instalment of AU$12,856
(equivalent to approximately HK$70,000) with outstanding
balance, if any, on or before 31 August 2024.
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25.

SHRRTREAMIEE (B)
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(@ EHERRT (CRNERBT))BH=

FHERTERE ((ANBRBTER]) -
ERCEUNNE

SENBRIBITER K2

BNBRIBITERASTE H2,341,472)8
7T (FBE 7 4912,788,000i 1) (ZZE— N
% :2,667,500/2 7T (& 7 414,738,000
B)) ([BHNERBTERI) R
3,620,8328 7T (#HE 1 4919,775,0007 7T )
(ZZE— N\ :4,1250002 7T (HERL
22,790,000% L) ) (IMENBEIRBITER
25 ()VMEFEZ BN (HiE12) &
(iIVARBRREETHBRQRIREERE
B UTEEEERFINERNEFRES
(BN EERME+0.92% )t 2 - BB E
xmE R=ZE-NAF+=ZA=+—8"
BN RERTTE A AREE S%82,340,653
BT EBRMNBRBITEFHREESHE
3,612,0688 7T (& 48 & 7 4932,510,000
L) (ZE—N\F: & $#£432,733,000%
JL) AR A EBEED R A14,819/2 5T (48
B R #182,000% 70) &%22,9178 7T (FHE R
49127,0008 L)  REEHBEAEAR_T =
TENAZT B ZHEE-

BNERRITEK3

BEMBERIBITER AR SEEA7,189,500/2 7T
(¥8% 7 4939,265,0005 7T ) &2 700,000
7T (& R 493,823,000 7T) (ZE—N
£ :9,570,0002 7T (48 & M #952,873,000
BL)) (BB BRNERBITERI])
OB EEREBN (MiE12) &
(iIVARRREETHBARIREERE
EH UTEBEERFANENEFRE
L (AEEERME+0.92% )5t B - R =
ZE-—hE+_A=+—H BMNERIRE
TEFHAREESERT7,322,5598 T
(&M #39,993,000E T) (ZZE— N\
1 4937,125,00008 70) - B IEE R B
(16,772,6158 7T (18 & M 4936,989,000/%8
TR A D EEIRT9,7508 T (HEE RNH
436,000 7T)  REEHRBEAN_T=F
FNA=ZT—HHZAIEE : [ (i)549,944
SR IT (B E 493,004,000 7T) 2 A 9 A
BEEHMAESEE12,856R T (HERY
70,0008 7T) - REEHRB (WHE)ARZ
T_NENA=Z+—HRKZAEE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019

B2 T NF+—A=1+—HIFE

25.INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER (55T BIRITREMEE (8)

BORROWINGS (CONT'D)
Notes: (Cont'd) st : (88&)

) BRBRT(ARBTHRE=ZFFER

(b) There are three interest-bearing bank borrowings (the “NJ

Loan(s)"”) granted by Bank of Nanjing (“NJ Bank"), details of
which are as follows:

NJ Loan 1

NJ Loan with principal amount of RMB9,200,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$10,370,000) (2018:RMB9,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,588,000)) (the “NJ Loan
1") is secured by a letter of credit issued by the Company which
is further pledged by a time deposit of the Group (note 23),
bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.66% (2018: floating interest
rate at benchmark interest rate +1.562%) per annum and is
repayable on or before 30 May 2020.

NJ Loan 2 and NJ Loan 3

NJ Loans with principal amount of RMB3,600,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$4,058,000) (2018: RMB 2,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,993,000)) (the “NJ Loan 2")
and RMB400,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$450,000)
(2018: RMB400,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$460,000))
(the "NJ Loan 3") are guaranteed by a subsidiary of the
Company, bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.44% (2018: floating
interest rate at benchmark interest rate +1.345%) per annum
and are repayable on or before 2 July 2020 and 16 August
2020, respectively.

TEE (TERBTER])  FHBOT:

MRERITER

MRIRITERAN ST A ARMI200,000
T (BENA10,370,0008 ) (==&
— N\F: AR%9,200,0007T (HERL
10,588,000/ 7L) ) ([MRIBITER1])TY
MARBBITHEAZE (E—FPHAER
ZEHTF BRI (MsE23) ) IEE T I
REFEFNES66% (—F— )\ F: ZEF
E4+1562% 2 FEBHER)GFERAERE
—EFRAZt+HKZAIEE

MRRITER2RERRITERS

ARIRITERA SR A ARM3,600,0007T
(FEE K #94,058,0008 L) (ZZT— NF:
AR #2,600,0007T (8% 7 492,993,000
BL)) ([EMERBITER2IRARE
400,0007T (#8E M #9450,0008 7T) (=
T — \F: AR¥400,0007T (HERL
460,000 70) ) ([AMREIBITER3])BER
NE— B AR EER ZEEF A
R544% (ZF— )\F : ELEFIE 4+1.345%
ZREBHE)GFE - UDRNER-_TE-_ZTF
tAZHEZZE_FEFNA+BZAH

fEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

25.INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (CONT'D)

Notes: (Cont'd)

()

The Essence Loan (as defined in note 36(c)) is secured by certain
of the financial assets at FVTOCI and FVTPL (notes 17 and 22)
and bears interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum. As detailed
in note 36(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
outstanding principal amount of approximately RMB70,893,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$79,216,000) of the Essence
Loan has been past due and was in breach of the share pledge
agreement during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered
into several loan agreements (the “Loan Agreements”) with
BINTE A EZER AR QA (for identification purpose only,
Huizhou Bailihong Holding Co., Ltd) (“Bailihong”), a related
party of the Group, of which, the substantial shareholder of
Bailihong is a close family member of Mr. Wong Jing Shong, a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Pursuant to the
Loan Agreements, loans with aggregate principal amount of
RMB81,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$91,979,000)
(the “Bailihong Loans”) were granted to the Group. As
at 31 December 2019, the aggregate outstanding amount
of the Bailihong Loans was RMB49,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$55,233,000), which are unsecured, bear
interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum and have no fixed
terms of repayment. Subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, in April 2020, Bailihong entered into a supplemental
agreement with the Group and agreed not to demand for
repayment of the Bailihong Loans within the next 12 months
from the date of the supplemental agreement.

26.DEFERRED TAX

5.5 BIRITREMEE (B)

GEE

(0)

(#&)

ZEER(EZERME36(0)) 1A E T
ANFESBEM2EKEEINERIZATE
FERBEINEZEREE (WiE17X22)
BRI RE T F R E6% 51 B - 4R A B
MR 36 Fretil ZIEERAEE
KEFE 4 ARB70,893,0007T (HHE R4
79,216,000/ L) R A FEE @A E X
B 15 & 1

BE—_ZE-hAFE+-_A=+—RHILEE"
AEBMEZSMNTENERZERERAR ([E
ME| AEBZEBALD)FTLETE
whm((ERBE]) BNEZZ2ETER
BRAARAETHBARZEZEREE
EEZABREXNE - REER B K
TAREBE XS B5 R/ ARS81,600,0007T
(% MW #91,979,0008 T) 2 EX([H
MEEH]) R_ZT—hAhE+-_A=1+—
B BANEZERNAEEZREBAAR
#49,000,0007T (48 & 1 4955,233,000%
7)) EAEEIE IZE T F K% 5T A
kitEETEEHRR - REPRE K=
EoTFNA BN REANEET MR
W RETERE e B Bl KRR
REAREREEAFNEERK -

26. R ERNIB

An analysis of the deferred tax balances in the consolidated iRa AR RPTE IR IR SR DT
statement of financial position is as follows: mr:

2019 2018

ZE-NAE | —EN\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Deferred tax assets REMIEEE 2,651 8,598

Deferred tax liabilities BREHIERE - (517)

2,651 8,081
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.DEFERRED TAX (CONT'D)

26.

The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised and
movements thereon during the year:

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

EIER R (48 )

TREFRNERZCELEHIBEG R EE
&)

Taxable
temporary
Decelerated difference
tax arising the
Tax losses allowances  contract assets Total
ENEE
AR EECERH
HEEE B ERER #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TAT FTET
At 1 January 2018 R-Z-\F—A—H 3,153 1,684 (2,984) 1,853
Credited to profit or loss (note 8) FABE (Hi5Es) 1,246 2,674 3,177 7,097
Exchange realignment HNE B (367) (309) (193) (869)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=+—H 4,032 4,049 - 8,081
Written off/Charged to profit or loss BIB&ME Nk (H:E8)
(note 8) (3,200) (1,617) - (4,817)
Exchange realignment INEFHE (569) (44) = (613)
At 31 December 2019 R=Z-hnE+=A=+-H 263 2,388 - 2,651

As detailed in note 8(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has unprovided deferred tax in
respect of unutilised tax losses and other taxable/deductible
temporary differences arising in Hong Kong, Australia and
PRC that is available for offsetting against future taxable

profits.

ARG W R M E8(b) et il - NEE
mERERE BRMNNPEELEZ RBBHR
EEEREMERT, ATHRERERY
ARBEIELT IR 7] B EH 3R KRR

SR
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A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

27.SHARE CAPITAL 27. 7K
Number
of shares HK$'000
BRIHE R TET
Authorised: ETE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R-Z-N\¥-A-8"
at 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, “E-\ftZR=t-8"
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 ZE-RE-A-BUK
—B2-hAFE+ZA=t-H
SREEOIETZEBR 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRBERK:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at R=Z2-N\¥-A-8"
1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, “Z-N\Et+ZA=t+-8"
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 “Z-NE-A-HR
ZB-NFtZA=+-H
ERAEBENNELZERR 5,336,235,108 53,362
28.SHARE OPTION SCHEME 28. BE IR HE AT &

ARAR-T—BF+— A+ ARME

252

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted on 12 November 2010. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives and help
the Group in retaining existing employees and recruiting
additional employees and to provide them with a direct
interest in attaining the long term business objectives of the
Group.

There were no share options outstanding, granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 December
2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 82,025,748
share options were cancelled as a result of the acceptances
of the mandatory conditional cash offer made by Ferran
Securities Limited for and on behalf of Ms. Cheng Hei Yu,
details of which have been disclosed in the announcements
of the Company dated 6 April 2018, 12 April 2018, 17 April
2018, 27 April 2018, 28 May 2018, 15 June 2018, 22 June
2018, 28 June 2018 and 13 July 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 22 June 2018.

Petgst Sl ([T &) - BAER 38
B NREABEENAEERERAE

BNIEBEEWRAKEREFEEZEFNZAE
RAEERPEKBEEZ-
REE-_Z—NF+-_A=+—HIFE-

BEBRERARTE SERL 17# &

HE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HILEFE"

82 ,025, 748 BB EE W RE AKX
RABEXEEBHFEARARAARRERES

BMEZTERZRFIEEHFREEL 5

HERERNAARIARA-Z— Ai@ﬂ
ANER fE*J\EEH‘i— H-ZZ—N
FHA+EH - =F AEEH_+tE‘

—N\NERAZFTNB ZE—-N\FEX

A+aRR —E—N\NFA-+=ZH =
E-NERNAZ+NBE=ZZE—NF+HA
+=HZ2AEARRBHA-ZT—N\F
NAZTZBRZBEK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019

B2 T NF+—A=1+—HIFE

28.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONT'D) 28. BB AT S (48)
Details of the share options granted are as follows, whereby REZEREZFBERINWOT MEBR
all options are to be settled by delivery of shares: KU A RAEE
Cancelled during
Adjusted Outstanding as at the year ended Outstanding as at
Grantees Date of grant Vesting date exercise price  Exercisable period 1 January 2018 31 December 2018 31 December 2018

R=Z2-N% HE-Z-N\F
-A-B TZA=t-B R-E-NE+ZA

ERA B4 BH BEEH BEETRE TEH i RATE LFEFHE =t-BHERTR
Employee 19 January 2016 31 May 2016 HK$0.161 1 June 2016 - 4,660,522 (4,660,522) -
11 November 2020
EE ZE-NF —E-RF 01618 ZZE-R"ERA-HE
—A+hB AR=t-A ZZ-ZE+-F1-H
Director of the Company
ARAES
Other-Zhang Xiongfeng (note (a)) 19 January 2016 31 May 2016 HK$0.161 1 June 2016 - 68,044,184 (68,044,184) -
11 November 2020
Hin—REE (MatE) —E-RE —E-RE 01618 —E-R"EXA-HE
—A+hR AA=1-H —EZEET-A+-H
Director of a subsidiary
—HNBARIZES
Other-Zhang Peiao 19 January 2016 31 May 2016 HK$0.161 1 June 2016 - 9,321,042 (9,321,042) -
11 November 2020
Hip—RE% ZERE ZERE 0161 Z—E-ARFRA-HE
—AthB AA=1+-H “E-2F+-AT-H
82,025,748 (82,025,748) -
Notes: FEE -
(@) Mr. Zhang Xiongfeng was an executive Director and the (@ REBEEEFRARAPTESTRERF
chairman of the Company until his resignation with effect from BEZERZZT-N\F+A—HBFFERL-

1 December 2018.
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ARE MRS HRR I &

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

29.RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserve and the movements
therein for the current year are presented in the consolidated
statement of change in equity on page 295 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(@) Share premium

The share premium account of the Company includes
premium arising from the new issue of shares in the
current and prior years netted of share issue expenses.

(b) Contributed surplus

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of the Company is subject
to compliance with the bye-laws of the Company and
the laws of Bermuda, is distributable to the Shareholders
under certain circumstances.

(c) Share options reserve

The share options reserve arises on the grant of share
options to eligible participants under the Share Option
Scheme. Further information about Share Option Scheme
is set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(d) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for foreign currencies.

29.F

AEERAFEZFESEREINGS
IR F 25BN A RGBS RET -

(@) Rxinii(®

RRABZEDEEREENEE NGB
EEEBHTHRELE 2 GE (BMKR
Bty BITR) -

(b) BB A

REBRE-NAN—FRADE AR
AZEBBRERETERTADIK
FTRR EAETARBZAAEE
REE

() BRERHEG

BhEFEEIAREBRETERA
ERSEBALTREBREMEL B
BB S ZE— P ERENES
BI 7 R M 7E28 -

(d) BERERE

BMERBERREBINEBOTHR
RELENMABELZE -HHERE
SNSRI B AT IR R ETTRRIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29.RESERVES (CONT'D)

(e) Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI (non-

recycling)

The fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI (non-
recycling) comprises the cumulative net changes in the
fair value of equity instruments designated as measured
at FVTOCI in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity/debt instruments designated at
FVTOCI.

Distributable reserves

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had distributable
reserve of approximately HK$239,092,000 (2018:
HK$364,817,000) including accumulated losses of
approximately HK$964,449,000 (2018: approximately
HK$838,724,000). Under the Company’s memorandum
of association and the Bye-laws and the Company Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus
and share premium of the Company of approximately
HK$693,308,000 and approximately HK$510,233,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2018 and 2019, are
distributable to the Shareholders. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make distribution
out of the distribution reserve if:

(a) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities, its issued
share capital and share premium accounts.

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

2.1 ()
() BAFEEBHM2ERHIEL S

MEEZAVERE (HABE)

NS S b e el Gl a
BEEZAFERBE(TAIED) 25
REMEEARAFEEBEMEE
WaEHRm S B TARMES
BERMIEERBRAFEEBEMEE
W R ENES TARTFENR

st aEE-
TR

R_E—NAF+_A=+—"8 &R
a) % A Al # 9 & 7 % £9239,092,000
BT (—Z— )\ :364,817,000/8 7T )
(B R E1E#49964,449,0005 7T ( —
T — )\ : #7838,724,000/8 L) ) °
R QG B4 E T2 R4 & A B A &
BRE-NN—FRREUBFTA) -
RZE-—NFERZZE—NLF+=HA
Zt+—B ARANEHBRGB MK
D E B 7 Bl 47693,308,0007 T M 49
510,233,000/ JT A] fit 95 & F A% 3 - &
M EATERT  RRBTEFEIRK
KRS D IREEFIER DR :

(a) A RHEE IR MRS EEAE
BIHEE: X

(b) A&z #REESRE UMD
RERE DBEITRARKRDRE
fRz#BA e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MRS HRR I &

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

30.DEEMED PARTIAL DISPOSAL OF INTEREST
IN SUBSIDIARIES

On 21 May 2019, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (the “Subscriber”), a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group, pursuant to which the
Subscriber subscribed (the “Subscription”) for 49 new
shares of Concord-Linked Limited (“Concord-Linked”,
and together with its subsidiaries, the “Concord-
Linked Group”), a subsidiary of the Company, at a
subscription price of HK$22,000,000 in aggregate. Upon
the completion of the Subscription on 27 May 2019, the
Group's equity interest in Concord-Linked was diluted
from 100% to 51%; and therefore, it was considered as a
deemed partial disposal of Concord-Linked by the Group.
Since the deemed partial disposal of Concord-Linked did
not result in any loss of control, such transaction was
accounted for as an equity transaction and the difference
of approximately HK$9,917,000 between (i) the proceeds
from the Subscription and (ii) the 49% carrying value of the
Concord-Linked Group, is recognised in other reserve of the
Group.

On 27 May 2019, being the completion date of the
deemed partial disposal of the Concord-Linked Group, the
consolidated net assets value of the Concord-Linked Group
and related gain on the deemed partial disposal of the
Concord-Linked Group were calculated as follows:

30. A EL EM B AR B D &

/|

RZEBE—-AFEFRA-_+—B - K&EHHRA
AEBETHBRACESTHEZLAE
(IRBADIIY—1mREWZ ([REH
Z) B RBEAREB([RBEHE])AR
A &) — B M B A 8] Concord-Linked Limited
([ Concord-Linked | - & [7] E [ff & A 7 4%
7% [ Concord-Linked 5 & | ) 49% ¥ i% {7
REBEA £5A22,000,0008 L - RN _F
—NWFREAZ-Z+tLtBEEKRBEEFEE K
£ E 7 Concord-Linked & A% # F5100% #
%551% it W R RERIERAESE
84> 1 € Concord-Linked ° B A 18 £ &B
ﬁEConcord Linked 3 & & B4 ¥ 20 4% |
BRI ARERERR S K()RE
EIER AT1S F I E (i) Concord-Linked £ &
AR T B #949% 2 & 8 Z= 8 499,917,000/
TTRAS B H M FEETRER -

R-E—NERA=-1++8 (ARELS
& & Concord-Linked £ E &) 525k B &) -
Concord-Linked S B MRS EEFELR
YEEB 5 H £ Concord-Linked £ B & 8 8 Uk
mHFTENT

HK$'000
FHET
Consolidated net assets value of the E 8% =18 A Concord-Linked &£ & #y
Concord-Linked Group before the Subscription REEEFE 2,659
Add: Capital injection through the Subscription 7]1] ERREFEITIE 22,000
Consolidated net assets value of 73R8 = 18 1% Concord-Linked % B &)
the Concord-Linked Group after the Subscription — #F& B E FE 24,659
Portion attributable to the non-controlling interest  f&1h Concord-Linked £ & 3 15 A% # 2 B9
of the Concord-Linked Group *IZ 12,083
Less: Proceeds from for the Subscription B R BB (22,000)
Gain on deemed partial disposal of B AEEE 2 & Concord-Linked 5 B 8 Ut 2§
the Concord-Linked Group (9,917)
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ARE IR M Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—F—NEFF_HA=+—HIFZ
31.PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH NE S HEENB AR ZEKNIE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS A%
As detailed in note 30 to the consolidated financial AR A B TS R R MO AE30F i - AN B R 5T
statements, the Group has material non-controlling interests REES D HERWB AR 2 R ER
in the Concord-Linked Group upon the completion of Concord-Linked & B A # B &= K FE 15 B 4
deemed partial disposal of interest in subsidiaries, details of o FEIBR
which are as follows:
Percentage of equity interest held
by non-controlling interests: BREERERFAEREA DL :
The Concord-Linked Group Concord-Linked £ = 49%
2019
—T-h%F
HK$'000
FHET
Period from 27 May 2019 (date of H-ZE—NFRA=-++A
deemed partial disposal) to 31 December 2019 (RIEE D EHEZBE)
allocated to non-controlling interests EE-NAFFTHA=+—RAZ
MM SR E TR ER
The Concord-Linked Group Concord-Linked £ & (14,665)
The following tables illustrate summarised financial T~ & #% it Concord-Linked £ B 81 % & %1
information of the Concord-Linked Group. The amounts FMERIA R A SR IE AT < SRR T -
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:
2019
—T-h%F
HK$'000
FHET
Period from 27 May 2019 (date of H-ZET-NAFRA=-+tA
deemed partial disposal) to 31 December 2019 (RIELH»HEEZAEE
—E-NF+-A=+—HZHH
Revenue W e 336,234
Total expenses B (366,162)
Loss for the period BN EE (29,928)
Total comprehensive income for the period HAE2EK=REE (3,383)
(33,311)
At 31 December 2019 R_ZE-—hE+A=1+—H
Current assets & E 270,482
Non-current assets EMBEE 19,906
Current liabilities mENBE (252,743)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (46,297)
Total net liabilities FRERE (8,652)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B mRM

For the year ended 31 December 2019

B2 T NF+_A=1—HIFE
32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details the changes in the Group's
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

RERHETRERNE
(a) BRFE B A £ O B MR

TREAAFIN A EEHBE D E
TRENEY ERASRIFREE
HMEADMELABRERSR
ECRIARKRSREFRAKELE
EHERERANELABERDME

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from ERERENEE-
financing activities.
Interest-bearing
bank and other
borrowings
FFEERITR
Hihfg &
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2018 R-_ZE—-N\F—HA—H 196,934
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREZEE:

New borrowings obtained EEHER 17,553

Repayment of borrowings EREE (37,767)

Interest paid BARHE (16,432)

(36,646)
Other changes: H &)

Interest expenses FEXH 16,432
Exchange realignment HINEE 5 B (11,908)
At 31 December 2018 R_E-N\%§

+=ZA=+—~H 164,812
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE IR M Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2019

32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (CONT'D)

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Cont'd)

B —F—
32 /\/ \

—NF+ZA=1+—HIFE
ﬁ/ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ EE ( /u\)

(a) MEEBFMELENEEHIR ()

Interest-
bearing bank
Lease and other
liabilities  borrowings
FEBRTR
HEAE Hitf& &
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT SR
At 1 January 2019 RZT-NE—H—H - 164,812
Initial recognition upon the adoption REMB BN B REERIE 16518
of HKFRS 16 (note 2.2) N HER (HEE2.2) 14,136 -
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZZE-NF-—A—B(KE5) 14,136 164,812
Changes from financing cash flows: Fﬂéffﬁémzzm '
New borrowings obtained EGHEER - 105,156
Repayment of borrowings EBREE - (45,846)
Interest paid BERFE - (2,263)
Foreign exchange movement fE & (457) (2,242)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEECEREBSD (12,058) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEE2HEHD (1,219) -
(13,277) 54,755
Other changes: Hofth &
Interest expenses FEX ﬁ 1,219 2,263
New lease g 40,011 -
41,230 (2,263)
At 31 December 2019 R-B-NFE+ZA=1t—H 41,362 221,830

(b) Total cash outflow for leases included in the

(b) FAZRERERERNAENRER

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: HAREMT :
2019
—N&E
HK$'000
FAT
Within operating activities RIS EEA 952
Within financing activities NGESEEIR! 13,277
14,229

33.PLEDGED OF ASSETS BEHEE

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are included in
notes 12, 17, 22 and 23, respectively, to the consolidated

financial statements.

B AR B BRITREME KA

SEEENFEN B ALZAMBHRERHM
1217 ~22)%23 °
EXMEEZRARLIA[ | —FT—1LFFH 259




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MRS HRR I &

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE T NFF+-A=1+—HIFE
34.COMMITMENTS 34 75
(@) At 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant @ RZFE—-—NFT+ZA=+—80 K&

capital commitments (2018: Nil).

Operating lease commitment as at 31 December 2018

The Group as lessee

At 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases for
which the aggregate minimum lease payments would fall
due as follows:

BYBERNEARALE(ZF—\F:
&) -

RZZE—-NF+—_A=+—H2K%
THEFAYE

AEEEREEA

R-E-N\F+-_A=t—H K&
XA HESEHEE TN 2 RETT
EIE 2 RIEEEN ARG R IA TR
LEIEIE

HK$'000
FHET
Within one year —¢ W 8,706
In the second to fifth year inclusive FHFE(BREEEMTE) 6,520
15,226
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by REMENRKEAEERENLE
the Group for its office premises. Leases were negotiated ¥XEMNMzHe LER2HEOTER
for an average term of three years with fixed monthly H=F WAREEHME-
rentals.
35.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY .FE N A LR S
TRANSACTIONS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (@) BRZREREVBMRFTAM2ZFHIN
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had AEBRFRNEBBATAEATZR
the following transactions with related parties during the 2 ¢
years:
2019 2018
ZE-NAF | ZT-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(s THERT FAET
Consultancy fees paid to controlling MIERRR L EHE
shareholder (i) 1,440 -
Subsciption in the share capital 5288 Concord-Linked
of Concord-Linked Z B (ii) 22,000 -
Interest paid to a related company m—EE A A
ATHE (iii) 1,839 -
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35.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)

Note:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

The consultancy fees were paid for the consultancy services
provided by Ms. Cheng Hei Yu, a controlling shareholder
of the Company. The consultancy fees were charged
pursuant to the terms in the consultancy agreement
entered into between the Company and Ms. Cheng Hei Yu
on 28 December 2018. The related party transaction also
constituted continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As detailed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Subscriber is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. The related party transaction
constituted a connected transaction as defined in Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As detailed in note 25(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, the loan interest was paid to Bailihong, the
substantial shareholder of which is a close family member
of Mr. Wong Jing Shong, a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Apart from the loan interest paid to
Bailihong, a prepayment of loan interest of approximately
RMB2,274,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,563,000)
was included in the prepayments (note 21). The related
party transaction constituted a connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(b) The remuneration paid to key management personnel of
the Group including the Company'’s Directors is disclosed
in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
B2 T NF+—A=1+—HIFE

B EEBEBNABALRS (B)

GEE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

ARRIEEARAERBRREER K
THRENZEAREMI S EHAE-
FHBREBEARNRESERMZLTR
E-NF+ A -+ NBEEZHLS

BEEFTETWE BB A TR SR
BRBERERS (TERGEM W
RAIE20E) -

iR A B 75 R R B aE30FT RF UL - SRR
ANBEREEETHERARNES-
BHMATRZERKBERS (EER
GEM MR AIZE20E) °

BN 4R A B 75 3R 2R B 5E25(d) BT Rt
EXRMBEXNTFAEME EXER
RAXRBETHBEBRARNESEE
EEAMNTEBRREKBE -BREXHNT
BRMZEOERFEN ENFKEAENTE
BENERFEHARE2,274,000
7T (8 RN 42,563,000 T) (Mt
21) AL R BB EERS (F
£ RGEM LT BIZ20%E) -

b) ENAKEXTZERAB (BREAR
AEFR)ZMENERE M RAM T
TR ER -
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36.LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group was involved in four
legal proceedings or potential legal proceedings as follows:

Convoy Case

(@ On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited

262

("Ever Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, received a writ of summons with a
statement of claim (the "Writ") issued in the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong (the “Court”)
by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“Convoy”), Convoy
Collateral Limited (the “Second Plaintiff”) and CSL
Securities Limited (the “Third Plaintiff”, together with
Convoy and the Second Plaintiff, collectively as the
"Plaintiffs”) against, among other defendants, Ever
Robust (together with the other defendants, collectively
as the "Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs
against Ever Robust were as follows: (i) Convoy sought
an order as against, among others, Ever Robust, that the
allotment of the shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among
others, Ever Robust on 29 October 2015, be set aside;
(ii) the Second Plaintiff and the Third Plaintiff sought
an order that the financing facilities granted by them,
including the loan (the “Convoy Loan”) in the amount
of HK$129,000,000 granted to Ever Robust by the
Second Plaintiff on 9 November 2015, and the margin
loan (the “Margin Loan”) granted to Ever Robust by
the Third Plaintiff which amounted to HK$67,574,473
as at 29 March 2016, be rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs
sought against, among others, Ever Robust for (a) general
or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further
and/or other reliefs (the “Convoy Proceedings”). As
at 19 December 2017, Ever Robust had fully repaid the
Convoy Loan and the Margin Loan and did not hold any
shares in Convoy.

36.

I
RZF-NF+-A=1+—8 XKEY¥
K AT MIRE R AR A S B AR AR
BERRMF

@ R-_T—tF+-_A+AB AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

36.LITIGATIONS (CONT'D) 36. 5778 (8)
Convoy Case (Cont'd) BERH (&)
(a) (Cont'd) (@) (&)

On 6 March 2018, a Case Management Conference
Hearing was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris on the Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018, Ever
Robust has received an amended writ of summons and an
amended statement of claim (the “Amended Statement
of Claim”). Pursuant to the Amended Statement of
Claim, the reliefs sought by the Plaintiffs against Ever
Robust were amended as follows: (i) a declaration and
order as against among others, Ever Robust, that the
allotment of the shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among
others, Ever Robust, on 29 October 2015, was null and
void, or has been rescinded and set aside (as sought
by Convoy); (ii) an account of profits and an order
for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed, and/or damages to be
assessed for breach of fiduciary, common law and/or
statutory duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy, as against,
among others, Ever Robust (as sought by Convoy); (iii)
an order against, among others, Ever Robust, for an
account of profits and an order for payment of any
sums found to be due, equitable compensation to be
assessed, and/or damages to be assessed for breach of
fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties, dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful
means conspiracy (as sought by the Second Plaintiff and
the Third Plaintiff); and (iv) against, among others, Ever
Robust, for (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs (as sought by all
the Plaintiffs).

E/\:;—/\E_H/_\EI AL E R &
EEREEFLRETTRHEE S
BRale- R =T — )\itﬂleI EREE
BESCETEASHKEEBITRRE
(f"éTéﬂ*“TEF'?EJ) BIBLIEFTRR
CREASKEHERNEREF N
T () —BsH (KR eE) EENE
REER-_ZE—RAF+A=-+hLBRA
(EhB18) @A %R =R fh 2 AP
NS AEMKE B REE (0E
REIEXR) (W XEHAEMNBS k—
ERERREEMT TBERHE
EET THEH IEERKEE
FERFHRERMEH (AR ERE)EEED
MEBINERNENZKIE B TFE
2 EFEE &/iﬂ#?‘ﬂ&;ﬁZ?ﬁgﬁ*
EMmmS (MEESK) (i) ¥ (H
EP@?E)@%%A“ﬁFﬁ ?'J/F?&ﬁﬁ
SHEAERBREET ERER
EEEETHE R EHE%&/QZ/E'\
FEFREFEMAEINEMENK
1T el E 2 & e &/iﬂ#%%m
CHEEFRE(WME_REAEREZR
LANFTE I) K(v) et ¥ (P B 1E)
%%E’J() B TIEERE: (b)F
SQOBCA: R (d) E— RS E A
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36.LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Convoy Case (Cont'd)

(a) (Cont'd)

264

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(the "Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among
other Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties are
ordered to join the proceedings as additional defendants.
Pursuant to the Order, it was further ordered, among
other matters, as to between the Plaintiffs and Ever
Robust (among certain other Defendants), that the
Plaintiffs did have leave to file and serve the Amended
Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy
sealed order dated 1 November 2018 against, among
other defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party was
ordered to join the proceedings as an additional
defendant.

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its Defence
("Defence”) to the Plaintiff's claim in the Convoy
Proceedings with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence,
Ever Robust averred that the Plaintiffs were not
entitled to any relief against Ever Robust in the Convoy
Proceedings.

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its Amended
Defence pursuant to the Order of Hon Harris J dated
12 July 2019.

Further details of the Convoy Proceedings were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 19 December
2017, 1 June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered
that there was no assessed monetary claim by the
Plaintiffs and it is premature to give opinion on the
probable outcome and estimate the ultimate liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

36.LITIGATIONS (CONT'D) 36,575 (&)
Zhu Xiao Yan Case KREHRZEH

(b) On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition by RZFE-—NF-—AZRH EREEEX

(the "Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan
(the "Petitioner”) against, among other respondents,
Ever Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has
held and continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy
since around mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the
following orders against, among others, Ever Robust: (i) a
declaration that the placement of 3,989,987,999 shares
in Convoy by Convoy to, among other placees, Ever
Robust, and/or such placed shares were void ab initio
and of no legal effect or, alternatively, be set aside; (ii)
damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s shareholding; (iii)
interest; (iv) such further or other relief and all necessary
and consequential directions as the Court may think fit;
and (v) costs (the “Zhu Proceedings”). As at 2 January
2018, Ever Robust did not hold any shares in Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a Case Management Conference was
held on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable
Mr. Justice Harris made an order that the Zhu Proceedings
be stayed with liberty to restore, pending the outcome of
the Convoy Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 2 January 2018.

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the above
legal proceedings from its solicitors (or legal adviser) in
Hong Kong, who, based on the information available as
of the date of these consolidated financial statements,
was of the opinion that:

— there is no assessed monetary claim except the
Plaintiffs’ claim and the Petitioner’s claims against
Ever Robust for damages to be assessed,;

— it is premature to give opinion on the probable
outcome; and

— itis premature to estimate the ultimate liability.
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(RFEE])  BEEHE 2FAY
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36.LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

Essence Case

(c) During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019,

266

a subsidiary of the Company (the “Borrower”) had
breached the covenant of a loan (the “Essence Loan")
in the original principal amount of RMB79,868,600,
which is secured by certain of the listed securities (notes
17 and 22) extended by Essence Securities Co., Limited
(the “Lender”) (the "Essence Case”). Subsequent to
the end of the reporting period on 17 January 2020,
the Borrower received the summons (the “Summons”)
issued by the Lender, as plaintiff, in Shenzhen
Intermediate People’s Court (the “SZ Court”) against the
Borrower as defendant. Pursuant to the Summons, the
Lender demanded the SZ Court to order the Borrower
to: (i) repay to the Lender the outstanding principal
amount of the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$79,216,000); (ii) pay to the Lender interest at the rate
of 6% per annum accrued on the outstanding principal
amount of the Essence Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$79,216,000) from 20 June 2019 to the date of
repayment; (iii) pay to the Lender liquidated damages at
the daily rate of 0.03%, including liquidated damages
on the outstanding interest in the sum of approximately
RMB1,042,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,164,000) from 16 September 2019 to the date of
repayment and liquidated damages on the principal from
19 June 2018 to the date of repayment; (iv) pay to the
Lender its legal costs in making the claims in the sum of
RMB76,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$85,000);
(v) use the proceeds from the realisation of 45,779,220
shares in LEO (ie. the Jixiang's Shares) (note 17) pledged
by the Borrower through discounting, sale or auction
firstly to repay to the Lender the outstanding amount of
the Essence Loan, the interest, the liquidated damages
and the legal costs; and (vi) bear all the litigation costs
such as case acceptance fees and security fee of this
case. As per the Summons, the aggregate amount of
the claims under (i) to (iv) up to 18 November 2019
amounted to approximately RMB85,186,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$95,187,000). As at 31 December
2019, the aggregate amount of the claims under (i) to
(iv) was estimated to be approximately RMB86,660,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$96,833,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

36.LITIGATIONS (CONT'D) 36. 5778 (8)
Essence Case (Cont'd) ZERHF (1)
(c) (Cont'd) © (#£&)

As a result, a provision for litigation of approximately
RMB13,473,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$15,054,000) (2018: RMB6,326,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,176,000)), together with interest
accrual of RMB2,294,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,563,000) (2018: Nil) was made by the Borrower as
at 31 December 2019.

Further details of the Summons were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 18 January 2020.

LEO Case

(d) On 7 December 2015, Jixiang, a subsidiary of the

Company, Mr. Xu Jialiang, Mr. Xu Xiaofeng (collectively,
the “Vendors"), F/8E\BESHFRAF] (in English, for
identification purpose, Shanghai Zhiqu Advertisement
Co., Ltd.) (“Zhiqu”) and LEO Group Co., Ltd. (“"LEO")
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (as amended
and supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated
11 January 2016) (the “Zhiqu SP Agreement”),
pursuant to which LEO agreed to acquire, and the
Vendors agreed to sell, the entire equity interest of Zhiqu
(the "Zhiqu Disposal”). The Vendors and LEO also
entered into the performance compensation agreement
(the "Performance Compensation Agreement”) in
relation to the adjustments to the total consideration
for the Zhiqu Disposal. The total consideration shall be
subject to adjustments (the “Adjustments”, each an
“Adjustment”) in accordance with the Performance
Compensation Agreement in the manner as stipulated
below:
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36.LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)
LEO Case (Cont'd)

(d) (Cont'd)

268

For the purpose of the Adjustments, the “Audited NOP"
is Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after tax, after
adjustments for, where applicable, any non-recurring
and exceptional gains or losses, whichever is lower,
that are not related to the ordinary business of Zhiqu,
attributable to shareholders of the parent company of
Zhiqu as deduced from the audited consolidated financial
statements of Zhiqu for the relevant financial year ended
31 December 2016 (“FY2016"), financial year ended
31 December 2017 (“FY2017") and financial year ended
31 December 2018 (“FY2018") (each a “Guaranteed
FY"). The Vendors severally (but among Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, jointly and severally) undertook to
LEO that:

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 shall be not
less than RMB58,000,000 (the “2016 Target NOP");

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 shall be not
less than RMB75,400,000 (the “2017 Target NOP"),
and

(iii) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 shall be not
less than RMB98,020,000 (the “2018 Target NOP").

The Vendors and LEO agreed that the amount of
Adjustment (the “Adjustment Amount”) for each
Guaranteed FY shall be settled by the Vendors in the
following order:

(i) firstly, by the consideration shares allotted and issued
to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, in proportion
to the consideration shares allotted and issued to
them (“Xu’s Shares”);

(i) if the Xu's Shares shall be insufficient to settle the
relevant Adjustment Amount, secondly, in cash by
Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng in proportion
to the cash consideration received by them (“Xu's
Cash”);
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(i) if Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng have not fully
compensated LEO, thirdly, by the consideration shares
allotted and issued to Jixiang (“Jixiang's Shares”);

~

(iv) if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash and the Jixiang's
Shares shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, fourthly, in cash by Jixiang,
which is subject to a cap of approximately

RMB25,510,000 (“Jixiang's Cash”); and

(v) if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash, the Jixiang's Shares
and the Jixiang’s Cash shall be insufficient to settle
the relevant Adjustment Amount, finally, in cash by
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the
balance.

Upon the end of each Guaranteed FY and the issue of
the special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2018, LEO shall
engage qualified auditors to conduct asset impairment
test and issue a report in respect of any asset impairment.
Where the asset impairment of Zhiqu as reflected in such
report shall be more than the total Adjustment Amount
compensated by the Vendors to LEO, the Vendors shall
compensate LEO a sum equal to the difference between
such asset impairment and the Adjustment Amount
then compensated by the Vendors to LEO, which shall
be settled first by the consideration shares (the value of
which shall be calculated by multiplying such number of
consideration shares with the issue price), with payment
of cash to settle the balance (if any). All liabilities of
Jixiang under the Performance Compensation Agreement
shall at all times be capped at the total consideration
received by it.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2016
published by LEO on 30 August 2017, the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 amounted to approximately
RMB32,240,000, which was less than the 2016 Target
NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2016
shall be approximately RMB83,931,000 and shall
be settled by 18,166,915 Xu's Shares (the “FY2016
Compensation”). Jixiang was not required to pay any
compensation to LEO in respect of the Audited NOP of
Zhiqu for FY2016.
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As disclosed in LEO’s announcement dated 31 August
2017, Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng shall
pay additional compensation which comprises (i) an
aggregate of 21,993,909 LEQO's shares to LEO; and (ii)
cash in the aggregate amount of RMB80,000,000 to
Zhiqu, on or before 31 December 2017 (the “Additional
Compensation”). According to LEO’s announcement
dated 19 December 2017, such shares were returned
to LEO for distribution to its shareholders in December
2017.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2017
published by LEO on 14 December 2018, the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 amounted to approximately
RMB36,689,000, which was less than the 2017 Target
NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2017
shall be approximately RMB126,125,000 and shall be
settled by 3,821,856 Xu's Shares and Xu's Cash in
the amount of approximately RMB108,468,000 (the
“FY2017 Compensation”) taking into consideration
the Additional Compensation. However, as disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 15 March 2019,
according to LEO’s announcement dated 15 March 2019,
given that the 3,821,856 Xu's Shares were not sufficient
to settle the FY2017 Compensation and Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng were unable to provide the Xu’s
Cash in the amount of approximately RMB108,468,000,
in accordance with the settlement mechanism above, the
FY2017 Compensation shall be settled by 23,477,822
Jixiang's Shares and Jixiang shall also return the cash
dividend in the amount of approximately RMB506,000
received from LEO to an account designated by LEO.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 29 April 2019, on 29 April 2019, Jixiang received
a letter from the Shanghai International Economic and
Trade Arbitration Commission (Shanghai International
Arbitration Center) ("SHIAC") that LEO had commenced
arbitration proceedings against Jixiang to pursue the
settlement of the portion of the FY2017 Compensation
that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng were unable to
satisfy (the “Unsettled FY2017 Compensation”). As at
31 December 2018, the Company has been preliminarily
advised by its legal advisers as to the laws of the PRC
that Jixiang should have a good chance to argue in
such arbitration proceeding that the demand from LEO
for settlement of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation
should not be upheld. The hearing of the arbitration
proceeding was held on 24 September 2019 before a
panel of three arbitrators.

According to the announcement of LEO dated
8 November 2019, based on the special audit report
in respect of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018,
the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounted to
RMB7,701,500, which was less than the 2018 Target
NOP.
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According to the announcement of LEO dated
3 December 2019, in view of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu
for FY2018 being RMB7,701,500, the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 shall be RMB402,738,466.59
accordingly. The Adjustment Amount for FY2018 shall
be settled by the Xu's Shares, and where such shares are
insufficient, by the Xu's Cash received by Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng. Given that Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng no longer hold any consideration shares,
they will be required to compensate LEO in cash. LEO
will issue a demand notice for compensation to Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng after the compensation
proposal in respect of the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 has been approved by the shareholders of LEO.
If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in full within 30 days
after the issue of the demand notice, Jixiang will be
required to settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018
by 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if such
shares are insufficient, by Jixiang’s Cash. In addition,
Jixiang will also be required to return the cash bonus in
relation to the Jixiang's Shares that it has received from
LEO, the amount of which as determined in accordance
with the amount of compensation that Jixiang is required
to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in cash.
LEO will seek approval from its shareholders in respect of
the above compensation proposal.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
6 December 2019, on 6 December 2019, Jixiang received
a letter from SHIAC indicating that it has approved LEO's
application (“Application”) to make the following
amendments (“Amendments”) to certain demands
made by LEO against Jixiang in relation to the settlement
of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation:

(i) the transfer of 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead
of 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) held by the Jixiang to
LEO;
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(i) if Jixiang is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares (instead of 23,477,822 Jixiang's
Shares) to LEO, the shortfall shall be compensated to
LEO by way of cash; and

(iii) the return of the cash bonus in the amount of
approximately RMB989,000 (instead of approximately
RMB506,000) in relation to the 45,779,220 Jixiang's
Shares (instead of 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) by
Jixiang to LEO.

In the Application, further to the above amendments,
LEO also demanded Jixiang to pay LEO (i) cash
compensation in the amount of approximately
RMB25,510,000; and (ii) an amount which is calculated
from the date of the Application, based on the amount
of unsettled compensation due from Jixiang to LEO times
the one-year loan prime rate published on 21 October
2019 as authorised by the People’s Bank of China (i.e.
4.20% per annum), as compensation for the loss suffered
by LEO.

It was stated in the Application that the Amendments
were proposed taking into consideration that (i) the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 as reported in the
special audit report in respect of the Audited NOP
of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounting to approximately
RMB7,702,000, was less than the 2018 Target NOP (i.e.
RMB98,020,000); and (ii) any party in breach of the
Performance Compensation Agreement shall be liable
for damages caused to the parties not in default. It was
stated in the letter that Jixiang shall provide rebuttal
opinion on evidence in respect of the supplemental
information attached to the Application (“Rebuttal”)
within five working days after the receipt of the letter.
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On 10 December 2019, Jixiang has instructed its PRC
legal adviser to provide the Rebuttal and an objection to
the Application (“Objection”) to SHIAC. In the Objection,
Jixiang requested SHIAC to reject the Application, taking
into account that (i) the Application was made too late,
which would severely affect the normal process of the
arbitration; and (ii) the inclusion of the compensation for
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 into the amended
demands under the Application would complicate the
case and cause delay to the arbitration proceedings, and
more importantly, LEO’s claims against Jixiang in relation
to the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 are subject to (a)
LEO's claims against Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
after the shareholders of LEO have given their approval
of the related compensation proposal; and (b) the failure
of Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the 2018
Adjustment Amount in full within 30 days after the issue
of the demand notice by LEO.

According to the announcement of LEO dated
27 December 2019, LEO issued a letter to Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng on 19 December 2019
demanding the settlement of the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018. In response to the demand letter issued by
LEO on 19 December 2019 as mentioned above, Mr. Xu
Jialing and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng informed LEO in writing on
20 December 2019 that they were unable to pay the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018 due to their financial
difficulties. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not
settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in full within
30 days after the issue of the demand letter, Jixiang will
be required to settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018
by way of the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares that it holds
and, if such shares are insufficient, by way of cash, which
is subject to a cap of approximately RMB25,510,000
(being the amount of cash consideration received by
Jixiang in relation to the Zhiqu Disposal). In addition,
Jixiang will also be required to return the cash dividend in
relation to the Jixiang's Shares that it has received from
LEO, the amount of which as determined in accordance
with the amount of compensation Jixiang is required
to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in cash.
LEO will seek approval from its shareholders in respect of
the proposal to repurchase and cancel the 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares held by Jixiang as partial settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018.
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36.LITIGATIONS (CONT'D)

LEO Case (Cont'd)
(d) (Cont'd)

Jixiang has received a letter from SHIAC indicating that,
among others: (a) SHIAC had received the Objection; and
(b) SHIAC would handle the Amendments in addition to
LEO's existing demands in relation to the settlement of
the FY2017 Compensation.

As at the date of this Annual Report, no arbitral award
has been issued.

Details of the Zhiqu Disposal and the calculation of the
Adjustment Amount for each Guaranteed FY were set
out in (i) the announcements of the Company dated
8 December 2015, 11 January 2016, 29 February
2016, 20 May 2016, 5 July 2016, 5 September 2016,
7 September 2016, 31 August 2017, 14 December
2018, 15 March 2019, 9 April 2019, 29 April 2019,
8 November 2019, 3 December 2019, 6 December 2019,
10 December 2019 and 27 December 2019; and (ii) the
circular of the Company dated 11 February 2016.

As the Group was not able to reliably assess the amount
of potential liabilities in connection with the above legal
proceedings in cases (a) and (b) above, the Group has not
made any provision against such legal proceedings stated in
cases (a) and (b) above. For cases (c) and (d) above, the Group
has made provisions after seeking preliminary opinion from
its PRC legal adviser and, the Company will, in accordance
with the applicable laws, make every effort to protect the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders, proactively
respond to the cases and defend its position vigorously. The
Company will closely monitor the development of these
matters and make further announcements if and when there
are any significant developments in relation to each of these
legal proceedings.
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37.

38.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Except for the litigations as disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have
any other signifiant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil).

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 February 2018, the Group entered into certain
preliminary sale and purchase agreements with independent
third parties in respect of the sale of certain subsidiaries
holding investment properties in Hong Kong (the “Disposal
Group”) at an aggregate consideration of HK$107,000,000.
Having considered the prevailing market conditions, the
Directors considered that the disposals provided a good
opportunity for the Group to realise its investments in
the properties and enhance the liquidity of the Group.
Completion of the disposals took place on 14 June 2018.
Details of the disposals were set out in (i) the Company’s
announcements dated 28 February 2018, 27 March 2018,
21 May 2018 and 14 June 2018; and (ii) the circular of the
Company dated 29 March 2018.

The disposal was completed on 14 June 2018.

The net assets of the Disposal Group at the date of the
disposal were as follows:—

37 i/\\/\1f

BRAR & B 7% ¥R R I 5236 PT B8 BV R FA 4D -

$%IEA:? NFE+-A=+—8%
BEEMEMEAXREGE (ZFT—N\F:
&) -

3. LEKBE AR A

RZE-NE-_A=-+/\B " K&EEHEF
S =5 s A4 {8107,000,000% 7T H
ERNBEBRHBEREVMENETHE AR
(HEERDIVETHRREE R -
KEERMITMAE EERE HEEE
BAEEERERNZEYWE 2H/ERM
BAEBRBDECRBRE -THILE
EEOR _E—\FAAATHUHEE-F
N E BB BN K TE,HHZ%_
T—-NE-_A-+N\B —ZZE—NE=A
—+ttB - ZE—-NFRA-+—HEZ=
Z—NFRNA+TWNE 22 K(i) &N a]
HA-—T—/\F=ZA=-t+hBZ2BX

HEER - NFRATOBTK-
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HK$'000

FHET

Investment property KEME 87,430
87,430

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B A ks HK$°000
FHEx

Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 107,000
Less: Net assets disposed of B BEHEEEFE 87,430
Transaction costs TG KA 1,775
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKE A AUk 17,795
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBARNELEZBEESRAZE HK$’000
FEx

Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 107,000
107,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Since the outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") in January 2020, the prevention and control
of the COVID-19 has been implemented across the PRC and
Australia. The COVID-19 has certain impacts on the business
operation for various industries and overall global economy.
It is expected that the COVID-19 has negative impact of
the financial performance of the Group in the first quarter
of 2020. The Group will keep continuous attention on the
situation of the COVID-19, assess and react actively to its
impacts on the financial position and operating results of the
Group.

As detailed in note 25(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has entered into a supplemental
agreement with Bailihong subsequent to the end of the
reporting period in April 2020, pursuant to which, Bailihong
agreed not to demand for repayment of the Bailihong Loans
within the next 12 months from the date of the supplemental
agreement.

As detailed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the substantial shareholder of the Company
has entered into a loan facility agreement with the
Company in April 2020, pursuant to which, the substantial
shareholder has agreed to provide the Loan Facility of up
to HK$70,000,000 to the Group for the purpose of its
general working capital. As at the date of these consolidated
financial statements, HK$40,000,000 of the Loan Facility has
been drawn down by the Group.

40.COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative figures and items and balances have
been adjusted and reclassified to conform with the current
year's presentation.

As further explained in note 2.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group adopted HKFRS 16 on 1 January
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative amounts in these consolidated
financial statements were not restated and continued to be
reported under the requirements of the previous standard,
HKAS 17, and related interpretations.

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

39. ¥R 5 HA1E =18

B-Z-NAFHEERBESRE ([FHE
BREE )R _TF—ABEUKR:

hE RN EE BT EERESH
EEE-FUERESESETENER
LENERBEBRBEENETRE -2
Z_EEFEFE FAAHAEREES
UAEBNYBRAELEEFE A&
BB FERIFUERARSHRFER

ARSI RSB EMRAMEEREES
MR B (FHTER Y -

AR A MG IRR I 5E25(d) P af il - M=
HRER-_Z-_ZTFMA - AEEEAFZR
RIS B ANERETERN
A HEREARNERKEEENE

PR A TR RER M T2 1Pt R A F]
FTERER - _ZTFWAEARNRAGL
EXmEHz Bt TEREEREM
AEBRE &S % A70,000,000% 7T HY
EXBMENME—REBESHR NZE
RAMBBRERAY AEECRENERR
&40,000,000/% 7T, ©

40.7] L BX & B8

ATAILLREFIARIAR REHRE THE
WEHADBATEARFEZ -

WMZERA M B RRH 2.2 — TPt
o AEBEAKETEPER TN
F-RA—BRMBEHFRE LR F16
WoRBUHTE REFEAVBRERZ
AL RSB T EH W EERE T ATER
BB G ERIE 75 MR ENAR T
T2%-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

41.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY NI HE 2%
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial TRIARBEMRZENEZREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as Ik
follows:
Financial assets
tREE
Amortised cost FVTPL FvTOCI Total
RAVEER
RAVEER Htt 2@
BEmA B#5Ik I 2 51 8 HY
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET TERT TET
2019 ZE-NE
Financial assets at FVTOC| RAVERBEMEZE
WRdEz eHEE - - 169,309 169,309
Accounts receivable, loan BYRER ERERRFS
and interest receivables 70,765 - - 70,765
Financial assets included in STABNFUE - EftE KGR
prepayments, other receivables ~ REMEEMNSRHEE
and other assets 7,761 - - 7,761
Financial assets at FVTPL BATERBBRIIRL
TREE - 41,289 - 41,289
Pledged bank deposit BEHEARITER 13,000 - - 13,000
Cash and bank balances ReRBITEH 180,516 - - 180,516
272,042 41,289 169,309 482,640
Financial liabilities
tHERE
Amortised cost Total
B A @t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2019 ZE-NE
Trade and other payables, accruals and provision EOREMENTIE B EARAE 261,150 261,150
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STERITRHMEE 221,830 221,830
482,980 482,980
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

41.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY NeMTEZSE(E)
(CONT'D)
Financial assets
SHEE
Amortised cost FVTPL FVTOCI Total
BATEER
BLTEER H2E
KA BRK Wz act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT TET
2018 ZE-N\F
Financial assets at FVTOC| ROTEERLMEZE
a5k e RERE - - 97,712 97,712
Accounts receivable, FEERS B EH A8
loan and interest receivables 54,952 - - 54,952
Financial assets included in STABAFR AR
prepayments, other receivables ~ REMEERSBEE
and other assets 7,199 - - 7,199
Financial assets at FVTPL BLTEERBERIIE
tREE - 41,932 - 41,932
Pledged bank deposit BEHEARTER 13,000 = = 13,000
Cash and bank balances R RFTHER 176,993 - - 176,993
252,144 41,932 97,712 391,788
Financial liabilities
AR
Amortised cost Total
BENA @5
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL FET
2018 —E-N\F
Trade and other payables, accruals and provision B RAMENTIE B ERREE 193,951 193,951
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AERTREMEE 164,812 164,812
358,763 358,763

ERMEEZERERAAE | —T—NLFFHR 279



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I E R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE T NEF+—A=1+—HIFE

42.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY RETMTEZAFERANYE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS &
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial rEEeRmIAEZEREMERATE (ZE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that REBEREATFESEEEERIN AT
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:
Carrying amount Fair values
REE A¥E
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E2-hEFE | ZT-)\F | ZB-hE | ZT-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET THAT TAET
Financial assets at FVTOC| BATEEAE M2 EKE
Stk @ REBE 169,309 97,712 169,309 97,712
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEERABRIIEZ
TREE 41,289 41,932 41,289 41,932
210,598 139,644 210,598 139,644

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2019
categorised into
PERUTERNR=-Z—N1E
+t-ZBA=t+—-BZA¥EFE
Fair value at
31 December
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
i
—E-NF
+=H
=+—H
ZAYE E—R - et} B=R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TAERT TAERT TAET

Financial assets at FVTOCI BRATEEBEMEZE

WaR 2 EREE 169,309 163,994 5,315 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEERBRIIER
ZEMEE 41,289 2,755 - 38,534
# As detailed in note 17 to the consolidated financial OISR A SRR 7T R =
statements, the fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI as E-NEF+_A=+—H &BAQA¥E
at 31 December 2019, which were unlisted investments, FRHEMEARRIIECEREE (B
was determined with reference to the consideration of FELETREB)ZAFENDERERSE
disposal subsequent to the end of the reporting period HREMNEEREBER HZEF LM
and/or the net assets value of these unlisted financial CREENREHB EEFEERE
assets as at the reporting date. JE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

42.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY RETMTEZAFERANYE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D) B (8)

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2018
categorised into
PEAUATESRNR_Z—N\F
+-A=t-BzATENE

Fair value at
31 December
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
i
“E-N\F
TZ=AH
=+—H
ZNYE F— B FE=R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FAET THET THET
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRAVTEEAEMEE
WaR eREE 97,712 89,720 = 7,992
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEERBRIER
JERMEE 41,932 2,644 = 39,288
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements is as FEE=RAFEFEZERNOT:
follows:
Significant
Valuation unobservable
technique input Percentage
B 5 1l BERATUEHEGRARE Batk
Financial assets at FVTOCI Market comparable Discount for lack of N/A 7~ i A
companies marketability (2018: 47%)
BATEZARLMEEKEZ Mi% ] & L e A A E R = Al SH & M 2 I a8
IR R EE
Financial assets at FVTPL Index return method Discount for lack of 32%
marketability (2018: 35%)
EATEZRBRIIECERMEE EBHE®HE E R = Al SH & M 2 I a8
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B2 T NF+-A=1+—HIFE

42.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY RETMTEZAFERANYE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D) B (&)
As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of unlisted financial RZZE-N\F+A=+—RH &EAFE
assets at FVTOCI was determined using the price to book FREMEERRINEZIFLTE/ME
ratio (P/B ratio) of comparable listed companies adjusted by EZAVTEDNERABAELELREMARZ
lack of marketability discount. The fair value measurement is MERE(EMRZAIHEEE 2 EMA
negatively correlated to the discount for lack of marketability. BI)ET - AVFEFEERZAHEEE
As at 31 December 2018, it was estimated that with all other WEaERBE R - N\F+_A=+—
variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount for B -fEatmBEEMA EREEF T
lack of marketability by 5% would have decreased/increased BRI SHEMH I ITER D EIMN5%
the Group’s other comprehensive loss by approximately BEAREEZ Ht2EEERRLD, /N
HK$400,000. 400,000/ 7T °
The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL was determined using BEATESBERIKZEMEEZRT
the index return method where the last trading price of the BEEAEHONREET MREFEEA
suspended share is adjusted by the return of a synthetic index HEHREFEERN I ZERRELR
that comprises comparable public companies in the period FEREB (BREAEERARAR)AE
since the suspension date and further adjusted by discount of HARR BT EE—THAE - A FE
liquidity. The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to TEHEEAMRZAIEEH 2TEEREA R
the discount for lack of marketability. As at 31 December 2019, —E-NAFET+ZA=1T—HB {45HMAEAE
it was estimated that with all other variables held constant, a Hihr]EFREHEHIE BRZAHEEN
decrease/increase in discount for lack of marketability by 5% ZWERL  EIN5%  BEARERZF
would have decreased/increased the Group's loss for the year by Mg 18R 18 11 491,927,000 T (= F
approximately HK$ 1,927,000 (2018: HK$1,964,000). — J\%F 1,964,000/ 7T ) °
The movements during the year in the consolidated statement FAZEZERZ=R RN FEFEREGEE MBI
of financial position of these Level 3 fair value measurements MERNZEEFHMAT -
are as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Unlisted financial assets at FVTOCl: RAFEEBHEHMEZE
WEIRZFELITERMEE:
At 1 January Rn—H—H 7,992 8,840
Changes in fair value recognised in FEL At 2 THD L 2 TR SR A
other comprehensive income NEEEEF (2,678) (848)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 5314 7,992
Financial assets at FVTPL: RATEEBERIIERZ
cTRMEE:
At 1 January n—A—H 39,288 43,198
Changes in fair value recognised in RIBR RN AT EE
profit or loss (754) (3,910)
At 31 December R+=-—BA=+—H 38,534 39,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the unlisted
financial assets at FVTOCI have been transferred from Level 3
to Level 2.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no
transfer between financial instruments in Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfer into or out of Level 3.

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, cash and bank
balances and pledged time deposit. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as contract assets, accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables and trade and other
payables, accruals and provision, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk and market price risk. The Directors review and
agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

EXMEEZRERLQT | —F

42.

43.%%

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

irfﬂlﬁzﬂﬂ?@& N FE
(“E)

RBE-_T-NF+_A=+—HLEFE"
BATFEEBEMEEWSIIRZIELT
CHEECREREAEZ _H-

RBE—E-\E+-A=t+-RILERE
E-QEE-REBTAZHHEmER
HEBAKEEE =

T REE R B IR B AR MR

AEETESBR T AR BRITREM
BE AeRRTHEGULREERERE
FZECRIATEANDAAEEE
LEEME-AEERZHREBEREE
RAE (MEHEE RUFRNR  BIKEN

)SZA’LUELA&T%&%@?H* A E
AkEE REESEREL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management will monitor
the foreign exchange exposure should the need arise.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as follows:

@%%HAMEE%&ﬁ

(a) SME R B

SMERBASERT AR iﬁiﬂﬂ(fﬁ
TR E A B R ) T R ) e L

ZRES B B AL S E E R BOR o R
BB S B SME R

RBEMR AEENEREEER
MIEEE NI M ERE S ENERE
ENEBABZREENAT

Assets Liabilities
BE =L

2019 2018 2019 2018

—®-AF |- \F ZB-NF |-T-)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TFA&ET FET FA&T
United States Dollar (“USD")  ZEx ([Ex]) 16,660 - - (72)
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARY]) 9 - - -
Australian dollars (“AUD") Bt ([8yt]) 5 4 - (39)
HKD B IT 850 845 - -
Euro (“"EUR") BT ([@otl) 34 - - =
17,558 849 - (111)

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuation AEBFEARGBGET AR RT-

of USD, RMB, AUD, HKD and EUR when such currencies
are not the functional currenies of the relevant group
entities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. 2 @iEaEE BENEE

AND POLICIES (CONT'D) (%)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Cont'd) (a) HMERBS (%)
During the year, the Group's foreign currency risk RE R - BRI H R TT R BE R H4A -
arising from USD is not material as the exchange rate of U & B B 3% T B A Y SR R B 3 T
HKD is pegged against USD. In addition, the monetary BRI LA)\E%&E&EJEE’J
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in RMB and BEERBEKABYTEXR BEFE
AUD are immaterial to perform sensitivity analysis. The THRRE DT TRAARJEHR
following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at the end ERMBEEMEERFIAEZBELT
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change AEENRTABEEHEREEEER
in HKD and EUR against the functional currency of BEURTEEERO A TEEZS:
individual subsidiaries of the Group (i.e. AUD and HKD), HAET KRBT A B @RI B QA
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's loss HIhee B (AR T BT ) Alge iR
before tax due to changes in the fair value of monetary NEBEE s BRE -

assets and liabilities and the Group's equity.

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in

exchange rate loss before tax

ERig F%ﬁ?aﬁ B8
(B2) #m/ ()

% HK$ 000
% FHET
31 December 2019 —E-AFtZA=1—H
If the HKD weakens against AUD BT R E (5) 43
If the HKD strengthens against the AUD 8 7T 538 T FHE 5 (43)
If the EUR weakens against HKD BT BT E (5) 2
If the EUR strengthens against HKD e T B T AE 5 )
31 December 2018 —B-\FtZA=+—H
If the HKD weakens against AUD BT R E (5) 42
If the HKD strengthens against the AUD {8 7T 538 T FHE 5 (42)
If the AUD weakens against HKD WRITHEABTRE (5) (2)
If the AUD strengthens against HKD R BT A E 5 2
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BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43.2 @A EIBEBENEE

AND POLICIES (CONT'D) (&)
(b) Credit risk (b) EERE K

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk
is primarily attributable to contract assets, accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivable, other receivables,
pledged time deposit, cash and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
did not provide any guarantee which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

Credit evaluations are performed on customers requiring
credit terms. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
history of making payments and current abilities to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer
and therefore significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. As at 31 December
2019, approximately 85.4% (2018: 95.4%) of the
total accounts receivable and contract assets were
concentrated in one customer, and approximately 96.8%
(2018: 98.2%) of the total accounts receivable and
contract assets were concentrated in five customers of
the Group.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(b) Credit risk (Cont'd)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d)

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets stated in the following tablet:

31 December 2019

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE
43. & BhE R E IR B AR MUK
(&)
(b) FERE (&)
BABBRERER (E)

CREERAAEM TSI TR

—E-hAFE+=ZA=+—H

12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
1218 A
EHEE
B8 2HEHEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1RE E2R B E3ER L hE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TERT THER
Contract assets ANEE - - - 131,217* 131,217
Accounts receivable, R BLEZRFIE
loan and interest
receivables 11,301 - - 60,011* 71,312
Financial assets included STABATIR Atk
in prepayments, other RERHMEEL
receivables, and other assets & EEE
- Normal* SIEE 7,761 - - - 7,761
Pledged time deposit BEEREHER 13,000 - - - 13,000
Cash and bank balances Be MFITHES 180,516 = = - 180,516
212,578 - - 191,228 403,806
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BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d)

31 December 2018

43.% @i /R bR B 3R B AR MR

(&)
(b) FEER (&)
BAEBRRFLXIEER (K)
—N\F+ZA=+—-H

12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
1218 A
EHEE
&8 FHEHEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1EER FEE F3REE okl @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THT FET FET
Contract assets ANEE - - - 133,121* 133,121
Accounts receivable, AR BN E S KA &
loan and interest
receivables 29,381 - - 27,636* 57,017
Financial assets included FSTABAFIR Et ik
in prepayments, other NEREMEEZ
receivables, and other assets SR & E
— Normal** —EE** 7,199 - - - 7,199
Pledged time deposit EERTHER 13,000 - - - 13,000
Cash and bank balances ReRBITEH 176,993 = = = 176,993
226,573 - - 160,757 387,330

*  For the contract assets, accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in notes 19(a) and 20(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included other
receivables and other current assets are considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

* O BRAENEE BUERF - BREREF
BmME AEEFRBERBELS L
ERBHEEENENR G BRE
MIeE19(a) K2 (20)b H# 5& -

* TREENEEEREEEMELK
HREMRESEE E,\Iﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂ
BMEEHBTEREEBQVIRER
KBEENMEERREHERASE FE
BB 2REENEELRRER
REB IR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NFEf—_H=4+—HIEF
43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. 2 @iEaEE BENEE
AND POLICIES (CONT'D) (&)

(c) Liquidity risk () RBELRER

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its
current obligations as they fall due.

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$73,164,000 as at 31 December 2019. In view of
the liquidity situation faced by the Group, the Directors
have adopted various measures with a view to improving
the Group’s overall financial and cash flow position
and to maintaining the Group's existence on a going
concern basis, details of which have been set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. In
light of all the measures adopted and arrangements
implemented, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financial requirements
and it is reasonable to expect the Group to remain as a
commercially viable concern.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

nBETRARANEEEEZEITARRK
FHEERER-

rEER_ZE—NF+=-_A=+—H
KRB B EFEL A73,164,0008 7T °
ERNAEEEBGZRBESCHK NI &
ECORDETHBUNERER 2 &
RS LIRS RAMDIL FAREEBIREF
BREHERE HFRBHANGEAYE
HMARKTEE2.1 - ERFT A BRI 1
FEEMNTH EEREAEEG
EEAEHREERARMTEBERN
LBEESRHEMUMBERBEAEEN
AEERERPNELAI{TZRE -

TREIINBEMRAKERITES
BABNHKAOHR NERGH
AMBRASRE (BRRESON X
AtEEC WAEBH R AIRIEREH
RE IR M RFFENHNBNAF) RA
SEFENFNZF AR
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NOTES TO, THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  43.% pﬁﬂ B B ¥R H AZ M BER

AND POLICIES (CONT'D) (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) () "RBESREMR (&)
Carrying
Within Total amount at
1 year or undiscounted 31 December
on demand 1-5years Over5years  cash flows 2019
RZB-RE
=
R-FR5 RERRE =+-H

REX —ERF HENE hEAE ZREfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TET TET TET TET TR

2019 ZE-NE
Trade and other payables, ~ EZREtEMFE
accruals and provision st BR NG 242,996 22,585 - 265,581 261,150
Interest-bearing bank and Jrg ROTREMEE
other borrowings 219,669 2,161 - 221,830 221,830
Lease liabilities HEAR 14,122 31,233 - 45,355 41,632
476,787 55,979 - 532,766 524,612
Carrying
Within Total amount at
1 year or undiscounted 31 December
on demand 1-5years  Qver 5 years cash flows 2018
RZE-\&
TZA
R—FA% AERRE =t-H
BREX —20F BENE mELR ZREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TR TAT
2018 —2-N\F
Trade and other payables, ~ B ZREHME[ B
accruals and provision EAERARER 156,966 41,509 - 198,475 193,951
Interest-bearing bank and T EBBRITRHMEE
other borrowings 164,812 - - 164,812 164,812

321,778 41,509 = 363,287 358,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(d) Interest rate risk

(e)

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group's fair
value and cash flow interest rate risks mainly relate to
fixed and variable rates borrowings respectively. In order
to exercise prudent management against interest rate
risk, the Group continues to review the market trend,
as well as its business operations needs and its financial
position, so as to arrange the most effective interest rate
risk management tools.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the business lending
rates in Australia (2018: the benchmark lending interest
rate promulgated by the People’s Bank of China and the
business lending rates in Australia). The Group manages
its fair value interest rate risk, when it is considered
significant, by entering into appropriate swap contracts.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period has been outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used which
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. If interest rates had
been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's loss for the year ended
31 December 2019 would have increased/decreased by
approximately HK$363,000 (2018: HK$419,000).

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument traded in the market
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The
Group manages market prices risk, when it is considered
significant, by entering into appropriate derivatives
contracts.

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
equity investments classified as financial assets at FVTOCI
and financial assets at FVTPL.

EXMEEZRERLQT | —F

ArA RN
For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE _FT—NF+_H=1—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/T\

B BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HE—F

— EE g = el T

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(e) Market price risk (Cont'd)

(f)

292

At 31 December 2019, the Group had financial assets
at FVTOCI of HK$163,994,000 (2018: HK$89,720,000)
(note 17) and financial assets at FVTPL of HK$41,289,000
(2018: HK$41,932,000) (note 22), which were exposed
to market price risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risks as at 31 December
2019.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% higher/lower:

— Excluding the shares of Town Health which have
been suspended trading, loss for the year ended
31 December 2019 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$276,000 (2018: HK$264,000) for
the Group as a result of the changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL; and

— fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI (non-
recycling) would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$16,399,000 (2018: HK$8,972,000) for the Group
as a result of the changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVTOCI.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividends payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders of issue new shares.

@%%HAMEE%&ﬁ

(e) MHEHRERR ()

(f) 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—FT-NF1T_A=+—HIFE

43.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 43. 2 @iEaEE BENEE
AND POLICIES (CONT'D) (&)

(f) Capital management (Cont’d) (f)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade and other payables, accruals and provision,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities less pledged time deposit and cash and cash
equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the
shareholders. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting period were as follows:

EXERE (&)

AEERAERABLREZTES
HRTREERABERINFERTE
FEHEEE S MEAMENFKE &
AAEREEE FTERITREMER
ANEE R ERD ERE TR
RehFTRREER - BEARABEBRR
EEEDZ RBEHRNELREELL
EIT -

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZT—N\F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Trade and other payables, accruals g 5 K& EAth fE T 5B

and provision Bt ER RS 261,150 193,951
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t B8R 1T & EAth &3 221,830 164,812
Lease liabilities MEaE 41,632 =
Less: Pledged time deposit B B EBF R (13,000) (13,000)
Cash and cash equivalents RekFERREHER (180,516) (176,993)
Net debt AT 331,096 168,770
Equity attributable to the shareholders IR ER B HE 2R 372,336 418,182
Capital and net debt BEARRFEB 703,432 586,952
Gearing ratio BERBEX 47% 29%
ERMEEZRERLA | —T—NLFFR 293



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NF+_A=+—HIFZ

44.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44. 78R RIS AR R R
THE COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&TT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMEBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% WE KRR 3 14
Interests in subsidiaries LS NGIE - Fa 73,246 218,636
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 73,249 218,650
CURRENT ASSETS MBNEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E ] 119,216 52,517
Prepayments other receivables and FE T FRIE - R UK IR
other assets NEMEE 957 1,628
Pledged time deposit EEFEHRTFR 13,000 13,000
Cash and bank balances Be MIR1T4 111,520 153,630
Total current assets MEEERE 244,693 220,775
CURRENT LIABILITIES neBaE
Accruals and other payables FE=T & A & B JE < k18 5,156 873
Amounts due to subsidiaries EANIIENEIE S 20,332 20,373
Total current liabilities nBBERE 25,488 21,246
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFE 219,205 199,529
NET ASSETS BEFE 292,454 418,179
SHARE CAPITAL &N 53,362 53,362
RESERVES 1 239,092 364,817
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 292,454 418,179
Hui Chun Sum Pauline Lam
AR MEZ
Director Director
BFE EBZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArA RN

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BE—F—NEF+-A=1+—HIFE

44.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44N NRIM BT ()
THE COMPANY (CONT'D)
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual BEEARARHERNERBO R ENEFERZ
components of equity between the beginning and the end of M BB FIEHIN T

the year are set out below:

Share Contributed  Share options  Accumulated

The Company premium surplus reserve losses Total
KAF B EE ENER BRERE 2R @3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T FHET
At 1 January 2018 ﬁA_A_/\E A—H 510,233 693,308 25,462 (712,806) 516,197
Transfer of share options reserve upon REEBERESERRRERE
the cancellation of share options - - (25,462) 25,462 -
Loss for the year rEEBE - - - (151,380) (151,380)
Other comprehensive income for the year A fE 2 H U - - - - -
At 31 December 2018 and RZ2-N\E+ZA=+-BRk
1 January 2019 “E-n&-A-H 510,233 693,308 - (838,724) 364,817
Loss for the year rEFER - - - (125,725) (125,725)
Other comprehensive income for the year N & £ 2 E Uz - - - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZF-AE+ZA=1-H 510,233 693,308 - (964,449) 239,092
45.APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 45. 3L AR B BT IS T
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and FEVBRER_ZT-_TFMNHA-_+=H
authorised for issue by the Board on 23 April 2020. EREEGHAERKERE-
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MG RE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is
set out below.

ZERMEEZ
5,/ EF R

SN
/i\\/T\III

TYRASESEIAEYRFELXERE
E AERFEEEaSE DREEAKHE
BBk IREEE

RESULTS =48
Years ended 31 December
BZE+-A=1+-HLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“F-1f ZEB-R"F ZT—tF ZF-/\F | ZB-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET FET
Revenue WA 257,853 284,258 404,738 471,479 641,261
(Loss)/profit for the year ~ARNEE (&) /
s Fl 81,963 (317,297) (251,519) (146,490) (142,247)
Attributable to: FEAh
the Shareholders e 63,951 (344,617) (260,665) (144,945) (127,582)
Non-controlling interests ~ FE#% % A 25 18,012 27,320 9,146 (1,545) (14,665)
81,963 (317,297) (251,519) (146,490) (142,247)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEBE
At 31 December
R+=-B=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—T-hF TR E —ET—+F —ET-N\F | ZE-hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAET FAT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 564,311 757,923 534,881 400,565 490,246
Current assets REEE 727,983 754,445 492,891 443,785 467,076
Deduct: Vi
Current liabilities TEaR (434,073) (289,175) (212,372) (388,666) (540,240)
Net current (liabilities)/ e (aE)
assets BEFE 293,910 465,270 280,519 55,119 (73,164)
Total assets less current BEAEBERREBAE
liabilities 858,221 1,223,193 815,400 455,684 417,082
Non-current liabilities FREBEE (4,217) (169,875) (163,390) (37,502) (48,985)
Net assets BEFE 854,004 1,053,318 652,010 418,182 368,097
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